On analytic properties and canonical constructions of absolute zeta functions

August 2024

Takuki Tomita

A Thesis for the Degree of Ph.D. in Science

On analytic properties and canonical constructions of absolute zeta functions

August 2024

Graduate School of Science and Technology Keio University

Takuki Tomita

Contents

1 Introduction						
	1.1	Background of absolute zeta functions	1			
		1.1.1 Absolute zeta functions	2			
		1.1.2 Absolute Euler products	4			
	1.2	Main results	6			
		1.2.1 Absolute Euler products and \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes	6			
		1.2.2 Three analytic properties of absolute zeta functions	7			
		1.2.3 Ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials	9			
	1.3	Outline of this thesis	12			
2	\mathbb{F}_1 -s	chemes	13			
	2.1	Background of \mathbb{F}_1 -geometry	13			
	2.2	Monoid schemes	15			
		2.2.1 Definition of monoid schemes	15			
		2 .2.2 Properties of monoid schemes of finite type	17			
	2.3	\mathbb{F}_1 -schemes by Connes-Consani	18			
		$2.3.1$ \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes	18			
		2.3.2 Torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes	20			
3	Abs	solute Euler products and \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes	23			
	3.1	The absolute zeta function of a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme	23			
	3.2	$\underline{Proof of Theorem 3.1.5}$	26			
		<u>B.2.1 Lemmas</u>	26			
		<u>8.2.2 Proof</u>	32			
	3.3	Applications of Theorem 3.1.5	34			
		<u>B.3.1</u> Fundamental \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes	34			
		B.3.2 Toric varieties	36			
4	A		20			
4	Ana	ary tic properties of absolute zeta functions	39			
	4.1	$\underline{1 \text{ ne class } \mathcal{A} \text{ of analytic functions}}$	41			
	4.2 4.9	Series expansion at the infinity	44			
	4.3	Integral formula in the sense of Connes and Consani	48			
	4.4	Absolute Euler products	52			
		4.4.1 Absolute Euler product in the case of $t \in \mathcal{A}$	- 52			

	4.4.2	Examples of absolute Euler products	56
	4.4.3	Region of absolute convergence of a certain absolute Euler	
		product	59
	4.4.4	Proof of the key lemma	63
Ceil	ing an	d floor Puiseux polynomials	69
5.1	Ceiling	g and floor polynomials	69
	5.1.1	Ceiling/Floor polynomials	69
	5.1.2	Other examples of ceiling/floor polynomials	71
5.2	Ceiling	g and floor Puiseux polynomials	74
	5.2.1	Ceiling/Floor Puiseux polynomials	74
	5.2.2	Ceiling/Floor Puiseux polynomial of a projective curve and	
		its maximal/minimal reduction	77
	5.2.3	Ceiling/Floor Puiseux polynomial of an elliptic curve	78
Ceil	ing/Fl	oor Puiseux polynomial of an elliptic curve in the case	
of ${\mathcal P}$	${}^{\prime} = \mathbb{P} \setminus$	5	81
Ano	other p	roofs of Lemma 4.4.5 and Theorem 4.4.12	83
B.1	Anoth	er proof of Lemma $4.4.5$	83
B.2	Anoth	er version of Theorem 4.4.12	85
bliog	raphy		91
	Ceil 5.2 Ceil of 7 Ano B.1 B.2 bliog	4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.3 Ceiling an 5.1 Ceiling 5.1 Ceiling 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.2 Ceiling 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 Ceiling/Fl of $\mathcal{P} = \mathbb{P} \setminus$ Another p B.1 Anoth B.2 Anoth	4.4.2 Examples of absolute Euler products 4.4.3 Region of absolute convergence of a certain absolute Euler product 4.4.4 Proof of the key lemma 4.4.4 Proof of the key lemma 5.1 Ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials 5.1 Ceiling and floor polynomials 5.1.1 Ceiling/Floor polynomials 5.1.2 Other examples of ceiling/floor polynomials 5.2 Ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials 5.2.1 Ceiling/Floor Puiseux polynomials 5.2.2 Ceiling/Floor Puiseux polynomials 5.2.3 Ceiling/Floor Puiseux polynomial of a projective curve and its maximal/minimal reduction 5.2.3 Ceiling/Floor Puiseux polynomial of an elliptic curve 5.2.4 Ceiling/Floor Puiseux polynomial of an elliptic curve in the case of $\mathcal{P} = \mathbb{P} \setminus S$ Another proofs of Lemma 4.4.5 Another proof of Lemma 4.4.5 B.1 Another version of Theorem 4.4.12 B.1 Another version of Theorem 4.4.12

List of Notations

\mathbb{N}	The set of positive integers				
\mathbb{N}_0	The set of non-negative integers				
\mathbb{Z}	The ring of integers				
\mathbb{Q}	The field of rational numbers				
$\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$	The field of algebraic numbers				
\mathbb{R}	The field of real numbers				
\mathbb{C}	The field of complex numbers				
\mathbb{P}	The set of prime numbers				
$\mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}$	The set of prime powers $p^m \ (p \in \mathbb{P}, m \in \mathbb{N})$				
$\mathbb{P}_S^{\mathbb{N}}$	The set of prime powers p^m $(p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus S, m \in \mathbb{N})$, where S is a subset of \mathbb{P}				
\mathbb{F}_q^{\sim}	The finite field with q elements $(q \in \mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}})$				
\mathbb{D}	The open unit disk $\{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid z < 1\}$				
$M_n(R)$	The set of $n \times n$ matrices over a ring R				
$\operatorname{Ob}(\mathcal{C})$	The collection of objects of a category \mathcal{C}				
Set	The category of sets				
Ab	The category of abelian groups				
CRing	The category of commutative rings				
m.	The category of monoids, where a monoid in this thesis means a commu-				
\mathcal{M}_0	tative multiplicative semigroup with 1 and 0				
\mathfrak{Alg}_R	The category of R -algebras, where R is a commutative ring				
\mathfrak{Mod}_R	The category of R -module, where R is a commutative ring				
\mathbf{Sch}	The category of schemes over \mathbb{Z}				
\mathbf{MSch}	The category of monoid schemes				
$\lceil x \rceil$	The ceiling function $(x \in \mathbb{R})$, i.e. $\lceil x \rceil := \min\{n \in \mathbb{Z} \mid x \leq n\}$				
$\lfloor x \rfloor$	The floor function $(x \in \mathbb{R})$, i.e. $\lfloor x \rfloor := \max\{n \in \mathbb{Z} \mid n \leq x\}$				
$\mu(n)$	The Möbius function, which sends $n \in \mathbb{N}$ to $(-1)^k$ if n is square-free and has k distinct prime factors or 0 if n has a squared prime factor				
r	The primitive <i>n</i> th root $\exp(2\pi\sqrt{-1})$ of unity $(n \in \mathbb{N})$				
$\frac{\varsigma_n}{M^{ imes}}$	The group of invertible elements of a monoid M				
χ (X)	The Fuler characteristic of a complex manifold X				
$\chi_{top}(\Lambda)$	The Luce characteristic of a complex mannold A				
Let R be a commutative ring, A be an R-algebra and \mathcal{X} be a scheme over R.					
\mathcal{X}_A	The base change $\mathcal{X} \times_{\operatorname{Spec} R} \operatorname{Spec} A$				

Let $X = (X, \mathcal{O}_X)$ be a monoid scheme of finite type and $x \in X$.

$$r_x, t_x, t_{x,j}$$
 The integers satisfying $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}^{\times} \cong \mathbb{Z}^{r_x} \times \prod_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{Z}/t_{x,j}\mathbb{Z}$ with $t_{x,j} \mid t_{x,j+1}$

- The product of $t_{x,1}, \ldots, t_{x,l_x}$ The maximum of r_x 's T_x
- R_X
- T_X The product of T_x 's

Chapter 1 Introduction

In this thesis, we study analytic properties of an absolute zeta function and give a simpler construction of the absolute zeta function of a geometric object.

An absolute zeta function is the zeta function associated with an " \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme", which would be a geometric object expected to be a strong tool in an approach to solving the Riemann hypothesis. In this approach, it is pivotal to discover the relationship between geometric operations of \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes such as fibre products and function-theoretic information such as poles and zeros of an absolute zeta function.

In this thesis, we give a further understanding of absolute zeta functions in terms of their analytic properties and relationship with \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes. In this chapter, we review the background of absolute zeta functions and state three main results of this thesis.

In what follows, we denote the set of prime numbers and that of prime powers by \mathbb{P} and $\mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}$, respectively.

1.1 Background of absolute zeta functions

In number theory, it is traditionally important to study the solutions over \mathbb{Z} of algebraic equations. One of the approaches to such a problem is to investigate the set $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_{p^m})$ of \mathbb{F}_{p^m} -rational points of a scheme \mathcal{X} of finite type over \mathbb{Z} for each $p \in \mathbb{P}$ and unify information on $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_{p^m})$'s. In particular, the *congruent zeta function*, or the *local zeta function*,

$$Z(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, p^{-s}) := \exp\left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{\#\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_{p^m})}{m} p^{-ms}\right)$$

of $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p} := \mathcal{X} \times_{\mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{F}_p$, defined as the generating function of the number of \mathbb{F}_{p^m} rational points of $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$, has been studied as exemplified by the Weil Conjecture since
the 20th century.

1.1.1 Absolute zeta functions

Soulé [46] studied the limit

$$\lim_{p \to 1} (p-1)^{f_{\mathcal{X}}(1)} Z(\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, p^{-s}) = \lim_{p \to 1} (p-1)^{f_{\mathcal{X}}(1)} \exp\left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{f_{\mathcal{X}}(p^m)}{m} p^{-ms}\right)$$

when there exists a polynomial $f_{\mathcal{X}}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{R} a_j t^j \in \mathbb{Z}[t]$ satisfying that $\#\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_q) = f_{\mathcal{X}}(q)$ for any $q \in \mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}$. More precisely, he found the fact that

$$\lim_{p \to 1} (p-1)^{f_{\mathcal{X}}(1)} \exp\left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{f_{\mathcal{X}}(p^m)}{m} p^{-ms}\right) = \prod_{j=0}^{R} (s-j)^{-a_j}$$

and called it the *absolute zeta function of* \mathcal{X} , motivated by the ambition to define the zeta function of an \mathbb{F}_1 -geometric object (see Chapter 2 for the details of \mathbb{F}_1 geometry). Later, Deitmar [III, II2] introduced a *monoid scheme* and realised the above rational function as an invariant of a certain monoid scheme. After Deitmar's work, Connes and Consani generalised the above definition of absolute zeta functions as follows.

Definition 1.1.1 (Connes and Consani [8, §2.1]). Let $f: [1, \infty) \to \mathbb{C}$ be a function satisfying that $|f(t)| \leq Ct^d$ for some C > 0 and d > 0. Then, the *absolute zeta* function of f is defined by the limit

$$\zeta_f^{\lim}(s) := \lim_{p \to 1+} (p-1)^{f(1)} \exp\left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{f(p^m)}{m} p^{-ms}\right)$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > d$ when the right-hand side converges.

To define an absolute zeta function even for a function with a pole at t = 1, Kurokawa gave another definition of an absolute zeta function using zeta regularisation. This enables us to regard Barnes' multiple gamma function as an absolute zeta function.

Definition 1.1.2 (Kurokawa and Ochiai [84], Deitmar, Koyama and Kurokawa [14]). Let $f: (1, \infty) \to \mathbb{C}$ be a measurable function. The function f is said to be *admissible* if there exist a constant d > 0 and a (non-empty open) domain D of \mathbb{C} such that

$$Z_f(w,s) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(w)} \int_1^\infty f(t) t^{-s} (\log t)^{w-1} \frac{dt}{t} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(w)} \int_0^\infty f(e^x) e^{-sx} x^{w-1} dx$$

converges for every $(w, s) \in D \times \{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Re}(s) > d\}$ and $Z_f(w, s)$ admits a unique holomorphic extension to w = 0. If f is admissible, then we define the *absolute zeta* function of f by

$$\zeta_f(s) := \exp\left(\left.\frac{\partial}{\partial w}Z_f(w,s)\right|_{w=0}\right).$$

It is known that absolute zeta functions have the following functoriality.

Proposition 1.1.3 (Kurokawa and Ochiai [34, Theorem B]).

(1) Let f_1 , f_2 be admissible functions on $(1, \infty)$. Then, it holds that

$$\zeta_{f_1+f_2}(s) = \zeta_{f_1}(s)\zeta_{f_2}(s)$$

(2) Let Φ_1 , Φ_2 be finite subsets of \mathbb{C} . Put $f_1(t) := \sum_{\rho_1 \in \Phi_1} a_{\rho_1} t^{\rho_1} (a_{\rho_1} \in \mathbb{C})$ and $f_2(t) := \sum_{\rho_2 \in \Phi_2} b_{\rho_2} t^{\rho_2} (b_{\rho_2} \in \mathbb{C})$. Then, it holds that

$$\zeta_{f_1 f_2}(s) = \prod_{\rho_1 \in \Phi_1} \prod_{\rho_2 \in \Phi_2} \left(s - (\rho_1 + \rho_2) \right)^{-a_{\rho_1} b_{\rho_2}}.$$

Remark 1.1.4. Kurokawa may have introduced the above definition with the following ambition to treat the *Riemann zeta function* $\zeta(s)$ as the absolute zeta function of "Spec \mathbb{Z} over \mathbb{F}_1 " (see Section \mathbb{Z}_1 for some details on the Riemann zeta function). Let \mathcal{Z} be the set of nontrivial zeros of $\zeta(s)$. According to Deninger [\mathbb{I}_2 , Theorem 3.3], we could formally have the decomposition of the completed Riemann zeta function

$$\widehat{\zeta}(s) := 2^{-\frac{1}{2}} \pi^{-\frac{s}{2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{s}{2}\right) \zeta(s) = \zeta_{f_{\mathbb{Z}}}\left(\frac{s}{2\pi}\right) = \frac{\zeta_{f_{\xi}}\left(\frac{s}{2\pi}\right)}{\frac{s}{2\pi} \cdot \frac{s-1}{2\pi}}$$

if $f_{\xi}(t) := \widetilde{f}_{\xi}(t^{\frac{1}{2\pi}})$ were admissible, where $f_{\mathbb{Z}}(t) := \widetilde{f}_{\mathbb{Z}}(t^{\frac{1}{2\pi}})$ and

$$\widetilde{f}_{\mathbb{Z}}(t) := t - \widetilde{f}_{\xi}(t) + 1, \quad \widetilde{f}_{\xi}(t) := \sum_{\rho \in \mathcal{Z}} t^{\rho}.$$

On the other hand, Kurokawa suggests that " $\widehat{\zeta}(s) = \zeta_{\widetilde{f_{\mathbb{Z}}}}(s)$ " (see e.g. [30, p. 42]).

Example 1.1.5 (Kurokawa and Ochiai [B2], Theorem A]). Let Φ be a finite subset of \mathbb{C} and put

$$f_{\Phi}(t) = \sum_{\rho \in \Phi} a_{\rho} t^{\rho} \quad (a_{\rho} \in \mathbb{Z})$$

Then, it holds that

$$\zeta_{f_{\Phi}}^{\lim}(s) = \prod_{\rho \in \Phi} (s - \rho)^{-a_{\rho}} = \zeta_{f_{\Phi}}(s).$$

Thus, both definitions coincide with each other if f is a linear combination of t^{ρ} 's.

For example, motivated by Remark **L14**, Kurokawa **B1** introduced the following function called the *counting function of an absolute Riemann surface*

$$f_{\alpha}(t) := t - 2\sqrt{t} \sum_{k=1}^{g} \cos(\alpha_k \log t) + 1 = t - \sum_{k=1}^{g} \left(t^{\rho_k} + t^{\overline{\rho_k}} \right) + 1,$$

where $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g) \in [0, \infty)^g$ and $\rho_k := \frac{1}{2} + \sqrt{-1}\alpha_k$. Note that this is comparable with "the finite version of $\widetilde{f}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ " in Remark **L14**. Then, its absolute zeta function is

$$\zeta_{f_{\alpha}}(s) = \frac{1}{s(s-1)} \prod_{k=1}^{g} \left((s-\rho_k) \left(s-\overline{\rho_k} \right) \right).$$

Thus, we might consider this as "the finite version of $\widehat{\zeta}(s)$ " in Remark **L14**. However, the definition of "absolute Riemann surfaces" has not yet been established.

Example 1.1.6 (Kurokawa and Ochiai [B4]). Let $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_r) \in (0, \infty)^r$ and put

$$f_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}(t) := \frac{1}{(1 - t^{-\omega_1}) \cdots (1 - t^{-\omega_r})}$$

Then, it holds that

$$\zeta_{f_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}}(s) = \Gamma_r(s, \boldsymbol{\omega}),$$

where $\Gamma_r(s, \boldsymbol{\omega})$ is Barnes' multiple gamma function. In particular, when r = 1, it holds that

$$\zeta_{f_{\omega}}(s) = \Gamma_1(s,\omega) = \frac{\omega^{\frac{s}{\omega} - \frac{1}{2}}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \Gamma\left(\frac{s}{\omega}\right).$$

Thus, the gamma function $\Gamma(s)$ is also an absolute zeta function.

For a function f which satisfies the conditions of two definitions, it is not clear whether $\zeta_f^{\lim}(s)$ and $\zeta_f(s)$ always coincide with each other. However, in joint work with Y. Hirakawa, we found that we can create infinitely many simple examples in which they do not coincide by using Connes-Consani's integral formula (see Example 4.3.7).

1.1.2 Absolute Euler products

Many zeta functions including the Riemann zeta function have an infinite product representation running over all prime numbers (see e.g. Kurokawa [29, §11.1]). This infinite product is called an *Euler product*. For example, the Riemann zeta function has the following Euler product representation:

$$\zeta(s) = \prod_{p \in \mathbb{P}} (1 - p^{-s})^{-1}.$$

As a generalisation of this Euler product, the zeta function $\zeta_R(s)$ of a finitely generated Z-algebra R, which is called the Hasse zeta function of Spec R, has the following Euler product representation:

$$\zeta_R(s) := \prod_{\mathfrak{a} \in m-\text{Spec}R} (1 - (\#R/\mathfrak{a})^{-s})^{-1} = \prod_{p \in \mathbb{P}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - p^{-ns})^{-\kappa(p,n;R)},$$

where m-SpecR is the set of maximal ideals of R and

$$\kappa(p,n;R) := \#\{\mathfrak{a} \in \mathrm{m}\operatorname{-}\operatorname{Spec} R \mid \#R/\mathfrak{a} = p^n\}.$$

Similarly, the congruent zeta function $Z(X, p^{-s})$ of a smooth projective variety X over \mathbb{F}_p has the following Euler product representation:

$$Z(X, p^{-s}) = \prod_{l \in \mathbb{P}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - l^{-ns})^{-\kappa(l,n;X)},$$
(1.1)

where k(x) is the residue field of x, the set |X| is the set of closed points of X, and

$$\kappa(l,n;X) = \begin{cases} \#\{x \in |X| \mid \#k(x) = p^n\} & \text{if } l = p, \\ 0 & \text{if } l \neq p. \end{cases}$$

However, since there should be no prime numbers in \mathbb{F}_1 -theory, absolute zeta functions cannot have a similar Euler product representation. In [30, §7.3], Kurokawa calculated certain infinite products of absolute zeta functions for some specific schemes of finite type over \mathbb{Z} according to Soulé's definition. Then, he suggested that the "absolute zeta function $\zeta_{\mathcal{X}}(s)$ " of a general scheme \mathcal{X} of finite type over \mathbb{Z} has the following infinite product structure, which he called the *absolute Euler product*. Note that " $\zeta_{\mathcal{X}}(s)$ " has not generally been defined yet.

Conjecture 1.1.7 (Kurokawa's suggestion [BD, §7.3]). For a scheme \mathcal{X} of finite type over \mathbb{Z} , there should exist the absolute Euler product of " $\zeta_{\mathcal{X}}(s)$ " of the form

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{X}}(s) = \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^{\chi_{abs}(\mathcal{X})} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^n\right)^{-\kappa(n,\mathcal{X})},\tag{1.2}$$

where $\kappa(n, \mathcal{X})$ is an integer for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the integer $\chi_{abs}(\mathcal{X}) := f_{\mathcal{X}}(1)$ is the absolute Euler characteristic, and $f_{\mathcal{X}}(t)$ is the function associated with \mathcal{X} . Moreover, the infinite product ($\square 2$) converges absolutely for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \dim \mathcal{X}$.

Remark 1.1.8. Assume that $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ is a smooth projective variety. Let $f_{\mathcal{X}}$ be a function which satisfies $f_{\mathcal{X}}(q) = \#\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_q)$ for any $q \in \mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}$. Then, by the Lefschetz trace formula (see e.g. Hartshorne [22, p. 454]), it holds that

$$f_{\mathcal{X}}(p^m) = \# \mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_{p^m}) = \sum_{i=0}^{2 \dim \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}} (-1)^i (\alpha_{i,1}^m + \dots + \alpha_{i,b_i}^m),$$

where the integer dim $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ is the dimension of $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$, the complex numbers $\alpha_{i,1}, \ldots, \alpha_{i,b_i}$ are eigenvalues of the induced map of the Frobenius morphism on the *i*-th étale cohomology of $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$, and the integer b_i is the *i*-th Betti number. If we substituted m = 0 in this equality, we could formally obtain

$$f_{\mathcal{X}}(1) = ``\#\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_1)'' = \sum_{i=0}^{2 \dim \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{F}_p}} (-1)^i b_i = \chi_{\mathrm{top}}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})),$$

where $\chi_{top}(\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C}))$ is the Euler characteristic of the complex manifold $\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{C})$. This is the reason why $f_{\mathcal{X}}(1)$ is called the absolute Euler characteristic.

This philosophy that the number of " \mathbb{F}_1 -rational points" of a scheme and the value at 1 of the original function f of the absolute zeta function ζ_f associated with it coincide with its Euler characteristic also appears in [46, Théorème 2], [28, Remark 2], [12, p. 141], and the proof of [14, Theorem 2.1].

Equation $(\square 2)$ in Conjecture $\square 2$ does not seem like the Euler products which we mentioned above. Kurokawa himself did not explain the validity of the name "absolute Euler product". However, in joint work with Y. Hirakawa, we found one of the reasons why it is reasonable to call Equation $(\square 2)$ an Euler product. We explain this in Subsection $(\square 4.2)$.

1.2 Main results

Originally, an absolute zeta function was expected to be the zeta function associated with an \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme. Hence, we are interested in the relationship between absolute zeta functions and \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes. However, most previous works study \mathbb{F}_1 -geometry and absolute zeta functions separately.

In this thesis, we mainly give three results. The first main result is on the absolute Euler product of the absolute zeta function of a certain \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme defined by Connes and Consani. The second is on three analytic properties of absolute zeta functions: the series expansion, an integral formula, and the absolute Euler product. The third is on a "canonical" construction of the absolute zeta function from a scheme over \mathbb{Z} or \mathbb{Q} using *ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials*. Here, the second and the third results are based on joint work with Y. Hirakawa.

1.2.1 Absolute Euler products and \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes

Let f be a polynomial with integer coefficients. Kurokawa [33, Theorem 11.1] formally gave the absolute Euler product of $\zeta_f(s)$ which is similar to Equation (12) and described the exponent corresponding to $\kappa(n, \mathcal{X})$ explicitly. However, he did not give the region where the absolute Euler product converges absolutely.

In this thesis, we formulate Kurokawa's suggestion (Conjecture $\square \square \square$) for a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme, whose \mathbb{Z} -lift is almost a toric variety (see Chapter \square for its definition). Moreover, we prove that the region where the absolute Euler product converges absolutely is $|s| > \text{rel.dim } X_{\mathbb{Z}}/\mathbb{Z}$, where rel.dim $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is the relative dimension of $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ over \mathbb{Z} , and it is the widest possible region.

Theorem 1.2.1 (Theorem **B15**, [**49**, Theorem 3.8]). Let \mathcal{X} be a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme. Then, there exists a polynomial $N_{\mathcal{X}} \in \mathbb{Z}[t]$ associated with \mathcal{X} . Let $X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ (resp. $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$) be the scheme (resp. the monoid scheme) obtained from \mathcal{X} . Then, it holds that

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{F}_1}(s) = s^{-N_{\mathcal{X}}(1)} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - s^{-n}\right)^{-\kappa(n, X_{\mathfrak{M}_0})},$$

where $\kappa(n, X_{\mathfrak{M}_0})$ is a certain integer which is explicitly given by the information of $X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$. Moreover, if $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} , the region of absolute convergence of this absolute Euler product is $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid |s| > \text{rel.dim } X_{\mathbb{Z}}/\mathbb{Z}\}$.

Remark 1.2.2. By combining Theorem 446 and a method in Subsection 23, which we explain later, we can remove the condition "torsion free" in Theorem 21 and generalise Theorem 21.

1.2.2 Three analytic properties of absolute zeta functions

In previous works, absolute zeta functions were mainly investigated when f was a relatively specific function such as a polynomial or a product of f_{ω} 's. In this thesis, we investigate three analytic properties of the absolute zeta functions of elements of the following class of analytic functions:

$$\mathcal{A}_d := \{ f \in C^{\omega}([1,\infty),\mathbb{C}) \mid \exists C > 0, \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N}_0, \ |\alpha_n(f)| \le Cd^n \}$$

for d > 0, where

$$\alpha_n(f) := \left. \left(t \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \right)^n f(t) \right|_{t=1} = \left. \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right)^n f(e^x) \right|_{x=0}$$

for any $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. In these results, we take the branch of $\log s$ with the branch cut along $\mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]$, and define $s^w := e^{w \log s}$ for $s, w \in \mathbb{C}$.

The first analytic property is that the logarithmic derivative of an absolute zeta function can be identified with the generating function of the iterative Euler derivatives of a given function. Note that we can determine the region where the absolute zeta function of $f \in \mathcal{A}_d$ can be defined based on its proof, while it is originally defined for a sufficiently large $\operatorname{Re}(s)$ by its definition.

Moreover, this expression of the absolute zeta function is useful for obtaining its asymptotic behaviour. According to Kurokawa [**B3**, p. 116], it is classically known that the Hasse zeta function and the congruent zeta function tend to 1 as $\operatorname{Re}(s) \rightarrow \infty$. In [**B1**, §1.7], Kurokawa observed that the absolute zeta function of $f_{\Phi}(t) = \sum_{\rho \in \Phi} a_{\rho} t^{\rho}$ for some $a_{\rho} \in \mathbb{Z}$ and a finite set $\Phi \subset \mathbb{C}$ satisfies

$$s^{f_{\Phi}(1)}\zeta_{f_{\Phi}}(s) = \prod_{\rho \in \Phi} \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{s}\right)^{-a_{\rho}} \to 1 \quad (s \to +\infty).$$

The following theorem is a generalisation of this observation.

Theorem 1.2.3 (Theorem **4.2.1**). Let d > 0 and $f \in \mathcal{A}_d$.

(1) For $\operatorname{Re}(s) > d$, the absolute zeta function of f is

$$\zeta_f(s) = s^{-f(1)} \exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_n(f)}{ns^n}\right).$$

In particular, this can be analytically continued to a single-valued holomorphic function on $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid |s| > d\}$. Moreover, we have

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} s^{f(1)} \zeta_f(s) = 1.$$

(2) For $\operatorname{Re}(s) > d$, the logarithmic derivative of the absolute zeta function $\zeta_f(s)$ is

$$\frac{\zeta_f'(s)}{\zeta_f(s)} = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_{n-1}(f) s^{-n}.$$

The second analytic property is a corollary of Theorem $\square 23$, which asserts that the logarithmic derivative of the absolute zeta function of $f \in \mathcal{A}_d$ has a similar integral formula to Connes-Consani's integral formula.

Theorem 1.2.4 (Corollary $\blacksquare 3.3$). Let d > 0 and $f \in \mathcal{A}_d$. Then, it holds that

$$\frac{\zeta_f'(s)}{\zeta_f(s)} = -\int_0^\infty f(e^x)e^{-sx}dx = -\mathcal{L}[f \circ \exp](s)$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > d$, where \mathcal{L} is the Laplace transform.

The third analytic property is also a corollary of Theorem **L2.3**, which is that the absolute zeta function of $f \in \mathcal{A}_d$ has the absolute Euler product expression. Let $\mathcal{M}: \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}_0} \to \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}_0}$ be the linear map defined by $\mathcal{M}(a)_0 := a_0$ and

$$\mathcal{M}(\alpha)_n := \frac{1}{n} \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) a_m \quad (n \in \mathbb{N})$$

for a sequence $a = \{a_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ of complex numbers. Then, we define the linear map $M_n \colon \mathcal{A}_d \to \mathbb{C}$ by

$$M_n(f) := \mathcal{M}(\{\alpha_n(f)\}_{n=0}^\infty)_n.$$

Theorem 1.2.5 (Theorem 44.6). Let d > 0 and $f \in A_d$. Then, the following statements hold.

(1) The series

$$S_f(s) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} M_n(f) \log (1 - s^{-n})$$

converges absolutely for $|s| > \max\{d, 1\}$.

(2) It holds that

$$\log \zeta_f(s) = -f(1)\log s - S_f(s)$$

for $|s| > \max\{d, 1\}$. In particular, it holds that

$$\zeta_f(s) = s^{-M_0(f)} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - s^{-n})^{-M_n(f)}.$$

According to the theorem, the series $S_f(s)$ converges absolutely at least for $|s| > \max\{d(f), 1\}$, where $d(f) := \inf\{d \mid f \in \mathcal{A}_d\}$. We wonder whether this region is the widest possible region where $S_f(s)$ converges absolutely. In this thesis, we prove it affirmatively at least if f is a linear combination of t^{ρ} 's satisfying some technical assumptions by using ergodicity of an irrational rotation (Theorem 4.4.12).

Note that the relationship of a function $f \in \mathcal{A}_d$, the value $\alpha_n(f)$, and the linear map M_n which appeared in the above three theorems is described in the following diagram:



1.2.3 Ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials

As we mentioned before, Soulé obtained the absolute zeta function from a scheme X of finite type over \mathbb{Z} , assuming that the sequence $(\#X(\mathbb{F}_q))_{q\in\mathbb{P}^N}$ is interpolated by a polynomial. In addition, we can obtain the canonical polynomial from a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme as we mentioned in Theorem \mathbb{L}^2 . In these cases, we can define the canonical absolute zeta function of the geometric objects as the absolute zeta function of the polynomials.

However, there are normally infinitely many continuous functions which interpolate the number of \mathbb{F}_q -rational points of a geometric object. Hence, we cannot generally obtain such a canonical continuous function from a geometric object. For example, let $X = (X, \mathcal{O}_X)$ be a monoid scheme of finite type and $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ be the \mathbb{Z} -lift of X (see Section 2.2 for their definitions). Then, Connes and Consani showed that

$$\#X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{F}_q) = \sum_{x \in X} (q-1)^{r_x} \prod_{j=1}^{l_x} \gcd(q-1, t_{x,j})$$

for any prime power q (see Propositions 2.2.7 and 2.2.10), where the non-negative integers r_x , l_x and the positive integers $t_{x,j}$ are taken so that $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}^{\times} \cong \mathbb{Z}^{r_x} \times \prod_{j=1}^{l_x} \mathbb{Z}/t_{x,j}\mathbb{Z}$

with $t_{x,j} | t_{x,j+1}$ for each $x \in X$. In this case, there is no clue to determine what is a "canonical" interpolation of $(\#X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{F}_q))_{q\in\mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}}$.

By using the Fourier expansion of the periodic function $gcd(q-1, t_{x,j})$ in q, Deitmar, Koyama and Kurokawa [II], pp. 61–63] interpolated $\#X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{F}_q)$ to a certain continuous function $N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}$ on $[1, \infty)$ and then regarded $\zeta_{N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}}^{\lim}(s)$ as the absolute zeta function of X.

Theorem 1.2.6 (Deitmar, Koyama and Kurokawa [II4, Theorem 2.1]). For the above function $N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}$, it holds that

$$\zeta_{N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}}^{\lim}(s) = \prod_{k=0}^{R_{X}} (s-k)^{\sum_{x \in X} T_{x}(-1)^{r_{x}-k+1} \binom{r_{x}}{k}},$$

where $T_x := \prod_{j=1}^{l_x} t_{x,j}$ and $R_X := \max_{x \in X} r_x$. Moreover, if $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is a smooth projective variety of relative dimension d, it holds that $N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}(1) = \chi_{top}(X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{C}))$ and $\zeta_{N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}}(d-s) =$ $(-1)^{\chi_{top}(X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{C}))}\zeta_{N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}}(s)$, where $\chi_{top}(X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{C}))$ is the Euler characteristic of the complex manifold $X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{C})$.

Remark 1.2.7. In [II], Deitmar, Koyama and Kurokawa took $t_{x,j}$'s as prime powers instead of the above integers satisfying $t_{x,j} | t_{x,j+1}$.

Despite this simple result, the proof of Theorem **L26** involves relatively complicated calculations. In fact, comparing with Example **L15** and Theorem **L26**, we see that the absolute zeta function $\zeta_{N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}}(s)$ of $N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}$ coincides with the absolute zeta function $\zeta_{\mathfrak{C}_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}}(s)$ of the polynomial

$$\mathfrak{C}_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}(t) = \sum_{x \in X} T_x (t-1)^{r_x}.$$

This polynomial $\mathfrak{C}_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}$ is characterised as the *ceiling polynomial* of $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$, which is defined as the unique polynomial in $\mathbb{R}[t]$ satisfying the following conditions:

- (1) The inequality $\mathfrak{C}_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}(q) \geq \#X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{F}_q)$ holds for every $q \in \mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}$.
- (2) There exist infinitely many prime powers q such that $\mathfrak{C}_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}(q) = \#X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

Thus, we have a simpler way to obtain the above absolute zeta function $\zeta_{N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}}(s)$ without using the periodicity of $gcd(q-1, t_{x,j})$. This simple observation is notable in extending Soulé's idea to a more general scheme of finite type over \mathbb{Z} for which we do not have any formula like Connes-Consani's formula of $\#X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

Similarly, by replacing \geq with \leq in the first condition, we can recover the polynomial

$$\mathfrak{F}_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}(t) = \sum_{x \in X} (t-1)^{r_x},$$

introduced by Deitmar [12, Theorem 1]. We call it the *floor polynomial* of $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$.

The above conditions satisfied by the ceiling polynomial suggest that it is not necessary to interpolate the whole sequence $(\#X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{F}_q))_{q\in\mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}}$ for the definition of an absolute zeta function of $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$, at least in view of the result of Deitmar, Koyama and Kurokawa [II]. Therefore, it is more natural to start from a general (separated) scheme of finite type over \mathbb{Q} instead of the \mathbb{Z} -lift of a monoid scheme of finite type. Moreover, since the polynomial condition is too strict for most schemes of finite type over $\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]$, where S is a finite subset of \mathbb{P} , we generalise the ceiling polynomial by means of Puiseux polynomial. For example, a desired Puiseux polynomial exists uniquely for every elliptic curve E over \mathbb{Q} as follows; this fact leads us to a provisional definition of the absolute zeta function of E.

Theorem 1.2.8 (Corollary **5.2.15**, **[23**, Definition 3.4 and Corollary 3.15]). Let *E* be an elliptic curve defined over \mathbb{Q} . Then, the Puiseux polynomial $\mathfrak{C}_E(t) := t+2t^{1/2}+1$ is characterised as the unique element in $\mathbb{R}[t^{1/\infty}] = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{R}[t^{1/n}]$ satisfying the following condition: for any separated scheme \mathcal{E} of finite type over \mathbb{Z} satisfying that $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong E$, there exists a finite set $S_{\mathcal{E}}$ of prime numbers such that for any finite set *S* of prime numbers containing $S_{\mathcal{E}}$, the Puiseux polynomial \mathfrak{C}_E satisfies the following conditions:

- (1) The inequality $\mathfrak{C}_E(p^m) \geq \# \mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_{p^m})$ holds for every $p^m \in \mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}$, where $p \notin S$.
- (2) There exist infinitely many prime powers p^m such that $p \notin S$ and the equality $\lfloor \mathfrak{C}_E(p^m) \rfloor = \# \mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_{p^m})$ holds.
- (3) $\mathfrak{C}_E(1) \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Moreover, the absolute zeta function of \mathfrak{C}_E is

$$\zeta_{\mathfrak{C}_E}(s) = \frac{1}{s\left(s - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 \left(s - 1\right)}.$$

We call \mathfrak{C}_E the *ceiling Puiseux polynomial* of E. A drawback of \mathfrak{C}_E is that the special value $\mathfrak{C}_E(1)$ does not coincide with the Euler characteristic of the complex torus $E(\mathbb{C})$. This is not consistent with the philosophy which we mentioned in Remark **LLS**. Indeed, if X is a monoid scheme of finite type such that $T_x = 1$ for each $x \in X$ and $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is a smooth projective variety, then it holds that $N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}(1) = \mathfrak{C}_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}(1) = \mathfrak{F}_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}(1) = \chi_{top}(X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{C}))$. However, it holds that $\mathfrak{C}_E(1) = 4 \neq 0 = \chi_{top}(E(\mathbb{C}))$.

On the other hand, by replacing \geq in (1) (resp. $\lfloor \mathfrak{C}_E(p^m) \rfloor = \# \mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_{p^m})$ in (2)) in Theorem **128** with \leq (resp. $\lceil \mathfrak{C}_E(p^m) \rceil = \# \mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_{p^m})$), we can naturally define the floor Puiseux polynomial of E and determine it as follows.

Theorem 1.2.9 (Corollary **5.2.15**, [23, Corollary 3.15]). Let *E* be an elliptic curve defined over \mathbb{Q} . Then, the floor Puiseux polynomial $\mathfrak{F}_E(t)$ of *E* coincides with $t - 2t^{1/2} + 1$ and its absolute zeta function is

$$\zeta_{\mathfrak{F}_E}(s) = \frac{\left(s - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2}{s(s-1)}.$$

Here, note that the special value $\mathfrak{F}_E(1)$ coincides with the Euler characteristic of $E(\mathbb{C})$, which is consistent with the above philosophy. In this view, it is fair to say that $\zeta_{\mathfrak{F}_E}(s)$ is better than $\zeta_{\mathfrak{C}_E}(s)$.

Remark 1.2.10. While Deitmar, Koyama, and Kurokawa constructed the absolute zeta function of a scheme over \mathbb{Z} associated with a monoid scheme of finite type such as a toric variety, our method enables the construction of a pair of the absolute zeta functions of a general scheme over \mathbb{Z} or \mathbb{Q} whose corresponding \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme has not been established yet such as an elliptic curve. According to Remark 5.2.18, the absolute zeta function $\zeta_{\mathfrak{C}_E}(s)$ or $\zeta_{\mathfrak{F}_E}(s)$ might be regarded as the absolute zeta function of "the reduction modulo 1" of an elliptic curve over \mathbb{Q} . This observation might help guess an \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme associated with an elliptic curve.

1.3 Outline of this thesis

The outline of this thesis is as follows.

As a preliminary, we survey the background of \mathbb{F}_1 -theory and the \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes by following Deitmar and Connes-Consani in Chapter 2. In particular, we review the definition of monoid schemes defined by Deitmar and \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes defined by Connes and Consani, and introduce their properties related to their rational points.

In Chapter \mathbf{B} , we formulate Kurokawa's suggestion for a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme \mathcal{X} defined by Connes and Consani and give the absolute Euler product representation of its absolute zeta function. Moreover, we show that its region of absolute convergence is purely determined by the relative dimension of the scheme obtained from \mathcal{X} .

In Chapter \square , we introduce the commutative \mathbb{C} -algebra \mathcal{A} consisting of certain analytic functions. Then, we investigate three analytic properties of the absolute zeta function of $f \in \mathcal{A}$: the series expansion, the integral formula according to Connes and Consani, and the absolute Euler product expression.

In Chapter 5, we study the ceiling and floor (Puiseux) polynomials of schemes and their absolute zeta functions. First, we characterise the polynomial which Deitmar, Koyama and Kurokawa implicitly used as the ceiling polynomial of the \mathbb{Z} -lift of a monoid scheme. Then, we introduce the ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials of a separated scheme X of finite type over \mathbb{Q} and provide a certain pair of the absolute zeta functions of X. In particular, we investigate their existence when X is an elliptic curve.

Chapter 2

\mathbb{F}_1 -schemes

In this chapter, we review the background of \mathbb{F}_1 -geometry and introduce monoid schemes, defined by Deitmar [III], and \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes, defined by Connes and Consani [8]. In this thesis, we mean a *monoid* to be a commutative multiplicative semigroup with the identity 1 and the absorbing element 0 which maps any element to 0 by multiplication. Note that a morphism between monoids is a semigroup homomorphism which preserves both 0 and 1.

2.1 Background of \mathbb{F}_1 -geometry

In number theory, the Riemann zeta function

$$\zeta(s) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^s} \quad (\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1)$$

is one of the classical research objects. This function is meromorphically continued to the entire complex plane \mathbb{C} and has a simple pole at s = 1. It is also well-known that $\zeta(s)$ has a simple zero at any negative even integer and $\zeta(s) \neq 0$ unless $s \in \mathbb{C}$ is a negative even integer or in $0 < \operatorname{Re}(s) < 1$ (see e.g. Serre [42, Chapter VI, §3.2]). These negative even integers are called the *trivial zeros* and all other zeros of $\zeta(s)$ are called the *nontrivial zeros*. The following conjecture on nontrivial zeros of $\zeta(s)$ is well-known as the Riemann hypothesis.

Conjecture 2.1.1 (Riemann hypothesis). All nontrivial zeros of $\zeta(s)$ lie on the line $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Re}(s) = \frac{1}{2}\}.$

This conjecture is of great importance since it implies numerous conjectures in number theory. For example, von Koch [50] proved that it implies a sharp estimate

$$\pi(x) = \operatorname{Li}(x) + O\left(x^{\frac{1}{2}+\varepsilon}\right)$$

of the number $\pi(x)$ of prime numbers up to a sufficiently large x for any $\varepsilon > 0$, where $\operatorname{Li}(x)$ is the logarithmic integral function. Despite various attempts to solve the Riemann hypothesis, it has remained unsolved for more than a century. However, in the early 1990s, a new approach to solving the Riemann hypothesis was proposed by Deninger and Kurokawa using \mathbb{F}_1 geometry. The concept of \mathbb{F}_1 was first introduced by Tits [48] independently from the context of the Riemann hypothesis. Deninger and Kurokawa suggested that the Riemann hypothesis could be proved similarly to Deligne's proof of the Weil conjecture if we introduced appropriate \mathbb{F}_1 -geometry and absolute zeta functions (cf. Manin [36]).

The Weil conjecture is a function field analogue of the Riemann hypothesis, which was proved by Deligne in 1974. Fix a prime number p and let X be a smooth projective variety over \mathbb{F}_p . The Weil conjecture states that the congruent zeta function $Z(X, p^{-s})$ is a rational function of p^{-s} and all zeros and poles of $Z(X, p^{-s})$ lie in $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Re}(s) \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}\}$, where $\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$ is the set of half integers (see e.g. Hartshorne [22, p. 450]). Deligne [15] proved this conjecture by using the étale cohomology of $\overline{X} := X \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} \overline{\mathbb{F}_p}$. The key of this proof is to narrow the bound of the absolute value of an eigenvalue of the étale cohomology of the fibre product $\overline{X} \times_{\overline{\mathbb{F}_p}} \cdots \times_{\overline{\mathbb{F}_p}} \overline{X}$.

Deninger [16, 17] pointed out that the Riemann zeta function would have had a determinant expression (cf. Remark 114) similar to the congruent zeta function of a smooth projective curve over \mathbb{F}_p if there were a "cohomology theory of \mathbb{F}_1 geometry" [36]. On the other hand, Kurokawa introduced a tensor product for zeta functions which is called the *Kurokawa tensor product* (see Definition 613 for the definition) and proposed an idea to solve the Riemann hypothesis similar to the Weil conjecture by using the Kurokawa tensor product (see Kurokawa [32, §11.3] [33, §2.1]). While both ideas are a little different, they at least require constructing an \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme X whose fibre product " $X \times_{\mathbb{F}_1} X$ " is not trivial, i.e. $X \times_{\mathbb{F}_1} X \ncong$ X. In particular, the latter idea requires the compatibility of the fibre product " $X \times_{\mathbb{F}_1} X$ " and the Kurokawa tensor product of the zeta functions of X, which are called *absolute zeta functions*.

This inspired many mathematicians to consider candidates of \mathbb{F}_1 -geometry (see e.g. Peña and Lorscheid [B9]). Any theory constructs \mathbb{F}_1 -algebras so that the tensor product $\mathbb{Z} \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_1} \mathbb{Z}$ is not trivial, i.e. $\mathbb{Z} \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_1} \mathbb{Z} \not\cong \mathbb{Z}$. However, there is still no definitive definition of \mathbb{F}_1 -geometry. In particular, the candidates of \mathbb{F}_1 -geometry are not currently equipped with a good cohomology theory.

Kurokawa, Ochiai and Wakayama [B5] defined the category $\mathfrak{Alg}_{\mathbb{F}_1}$ of \mathbb{F}_1 -algebras and the category $\mathfrak{Mod}_{\mathbb{F}_1}$ of \mathbb{F}_1 -modules by the following identification of the diagrams



where \mathfrak{CRing} , \mathfrak{Ab} , \mathfrak{M}_0 and \mathfrak{Set} are the categories of commutative rings, abelian groups, monoids and sets, respectively.

This idea became the basis of many candidates for \mathbb{F}_1 -geometry. Deitmar [\square] extended this idea to define schemes over \mathbb{F}_1 using \mathbb{F}_1 -algebras, i.e. monoids. Later, Connes and Consani [8] generalised Deitmar's \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme to a functor which encodes a monoid scheme and a usual scheme over \mathbb{Z} . In this thesis, we treat these two candidates of \mathbb{F}_1 -geometry.

2.2 Monoid schemes

Deitmar defined monoid schemes as \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes (see Deitmar [III], where monoid schemes are called schemes over \mathbb{F}_1). In short, a *monoid scheme* is a topological space together with a sheaf of monoids, which is constructed by gluing spectra of monoids just like a scheme. Precisely, it is constructed as follows.

Let $\mathbb{F}_1[\cdot]: \mathfrak{Ab} \to \mathfrak{M}_0$ be the covariant functor which sends a multiplicative abelian group G to a monoid $G \cup \{0\}$. We put $\mathbb{F}_{1^n} := \mathbb{F}_1[C_n]$, where $C_n := \langle \zeta_n \rangle$ is the cyclic group of order $n \in \mathbb{N}$ generated by the primitive *n*-th root ζ_n of unity. In particular, we abbreviate $\mathbb{F}_{1^1} = \{0, 1\}$ to \mathbb{F}_1 .

For a commutative ring R, we define the base extension functor $\cdot \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_1} R \colon \mathfrak{M}_0 \to \mathfrak{Alg}_R$ by $M \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_1} R \coloneqq R[M]$, where R[M] is the monoidal ring which is defined by

$$R[M] := \left\{ \sum_{m \in M} n_m m \; \middle| \; n_m \in R, \; n_m = 0 \text{ for all but finitely many } m \in M \right\}.$$

Note that this functor $\cdot \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_1} \mathbb{Z}$ is left adjoint to the forgetful functor $\mathfrak{CRing} \to \mathfrak{M}_0$ [II], Theorem 1.1].

2.2.1 Definition of monoid schemes

Let M be a monoid. A nonempty subset \mathfrak{a} of M is called an *ideal* of M if it satisfies that $\mathfrak{a}A \subset \mathfrak{a}$. An ideal $\mathfrak{a} \neq M$ is to be *prime* if $M \setminus \mathfrak{a}$ is multiplicatively closed, i.e. $a, b \notin \mathfrak{a} \Rightarrow ab \notin \mathfrak{a}$.

For a subsemigroup S of M with the unit 1, i.e. $1 \in S$ and $st \in S$ for all $s, t \in S$, the *localisation* of M at S is defined by $S^{-1}M := S \times M / \sim$, where $(s, m) \sim (s', m')$ if and only if there exists $t \in S$ such that ts'm = tsm'. We denote $[(s, m)] \in S^{-1}M$ by $\frac{m}{s}$. In particular, for a prime ideal \mathfrak{p} , we define the localisation $M_{\mathfrak{p}}$ at \mathfrak{p} by $S_{\mathfrak{p}}^{-1}M$, where $S_{\mathfrak{p}} := M \setminus \mathfrak{p}$.

We introduce a topology on the set spec M of prime ideals of M^{\square} like the Zariski topology by defining the closed sets as sets of the form $V(\mathfrak{a}) := \{\mathfrak{p} \in \operatorname{spec} M \mid \mathfrak{p} \supset \mathfrak{a}\}$ for any ideal \mathfrak{a} of M.

¹In this thesis, we use "spec" for the spectrum of a monoid to distinguish it from "Spec", the spectrum of a commutative ring.

Definition 2.2.1 (Deitmar $[\square]$, §2.1]). Let M be a monoid. For each open subset U of spec M, we define

$$\mathcal{O}_{\operatorname{spec} M}(U) := \left\{ s \colon U \to \coprod_{\mathfrak{p} \in U} M_{\mathfrak{p}} \middle| \begin{array}{l} \forall \mathfrak{p} \in U, \ \bullet \ s(\mathfrak{p}) \in M_{\mathfrak{p}}, \\ \bullet \ \exists V \subset U \text{ a neighbourhood of } \mathfrak{p}, \ \exists a, b \in M \\ \text{ s.t. } \forall \mathfrak{q} \in V, \ b \notin \mathfrak{q} \text{ and } s(\mathfrak{q}) = \frac{a}{b} \text{ in } M_{\mathfrak{q}}. \end{array} \right\}.$$

Then, we call the functor $\mathcal{O}_{\operatorname{spec} M}$: $\operatorname{Op}(\operatorname{spec} M) \to \mathfrak{M}_0$ the structure sheaf of spec M, where $\operatorname{Op}(\operatorname{spec} M)$ is the category of open sets of spec M.

A monoidal space is a topological space together with a sheaf of monoids. A pair of the morphisms $(f, f^{\#}): (X, \mathcal{O}_X) \to (Y, \mathcal{O}_Y)$ is the morphism of monoidal spaces if $f: X \to Y$ is a continuous function and $f^{\#}: \mathcal{O}_Y \to f_*\mathcal{O}_X$ is a morphism of sheaves of monoids on Y. Note that the pair (spec $M, \mathcal{O}_{\text{spec }M}$) is a monoidal space and spec satisfies the functoriality [III, Proposition 2.2]. Then, we define monoid schemes as follows.

Definition 2.2.2 (Deitmar [III, §2.3]). A monoidal space X is an *affine monoid* scheme if there exists a monoid M such that X is isomorphic to the spectrum spec M of M. Moreover, a monoidal space X is a monoid scheme if for any $x \in X$ there exists an open neighbourhood U of X such that $(U, \mathcal{O}_X|_U)$ is an affine monoid scheme.

A morphism of monoid schemes is a *local* morphism of monoidal spaces, i.e. a morphism $(f, f^{\#}): (X, \mathcal{O}_X) \to (Y, \mathcal{O}_Y)$ of monoidal spaces which induces the morphism $f_x^{\#}: \mathcal{O}_{Y,f(x)} \to f_*\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ satisfying $(f_x^{\#})^{-1}(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}^{\times}) = \mathcal{O}_{Y,f(x)}^{\times}$ for each $x \in X$. For a monoid scheme X, we define X(M) := Hom(spec M, X) for each $M \in \mathfrak{M}_0$.

Let R be a commutative ring and X be a monoid scheme with an affine covering $X = \bigcup_{i \in I} \operatorname{spec} M_i$. Through the base extension functor $\cdot \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_1} R \colon \mathfrak{M}_0 \to \mathfrak{Alg}_R$, we obtain the scheme $X_R := \bigcup_{i \in I} \operatorname{Spec}(M_i \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_1} R)$ over R and call X_R as the R-lift of X. Here, the isomorphism class of X_R does not depend on the choices of affine coverings of X due to compatibility with gluing [III].

Example 2.2.3. Let G be a multiplicative abelian group. Then, the \mathbb{Z} -lift of spec $\mathbb{F}_1[G] = \{(0)\}$ is Spec $\mathbb{Z}[G]$. Note that the monoid $\mathbb{F}_1[G]$ is sometimes called an \mathbb{F}_1 -field because of the similarity to a field K such as the fact that Spec $K = \{(0)\}$ (see Kurokawa [**B3**, p. 141]). In particular, for each $q \in \mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}$, the monoid scheme spec $\mathbb{F}_{1^{q-1}} = \operatorname{spec} \mathbb{F}_1[\mathbb{F}_q^{\times}]$ plays a similar role to $\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{F}_q$ in counting rational points of a monoid scheme.

Definition 2.2.4 (Deitmar [12, §1]). Let X be a monoid scheme. We say X to be of finite type if it has a finite covering by affine monoid schemes spec M_i such that each M_i is finitely generated.

Proposition 2.2.5 (Deitmar [II2, Lemma 2]). A monoid scheme X is of finite type if and only if the \mathbb{Z} -lift $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} .

A monoid scheme is said to be *integral* if it is covered by affine monoid schemes spec M's, where M is integral, i.e. ab = ac implies b = c in M. The following proposition shows that integral monoid schemes of finite type are essentially toric.

Proposition 2.2.6 (Deitmar [II], Theorem 4.1]). Every irreducible component of the \mathbb{C} -lift of a connected integral monoid scheme of finite type is a toric variety.

2.2.2 Properties of monoid schemes of finite type

Now, we review the basic properties of monoid schemes of finite type which we use in this thesis.

Proposition 2.2.7 (Deitmar [II2], Remark 1]). Let X be a monoid scheme of finite type. Then, it holds that

$$X(\mathbb{F}_{1^{q-1}}) \cong X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{F}_q)$$

for any $q \in \mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}$. In particular, the underlying set of X is finite, i.e. $\#X = \#X(\mathbb{F}_1) = \#X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{F}_2) < \infty$.

Proof. As in Example 2.2.3, spec $\mathbb{F}_{1^{q-1}}$ consists of one point, the generic point (0). Since any morphism of monoid schemes sends it to the generic point, it holds that

$$X(\mathbb{F}_{1^{q-1}}) = \bigcup_{i \in I} U_i(\operatorname{spec} \mathbb{F}_{1^{q-1}}),$$

where we take an affine covering of X as $\bigcup_{i \in I} U_i$. Hence, it suffices to show the statement in the affine case, which follows from the fact that

$$X(\mathbb{F}_{1^{q-1}}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(M, \mathbb{F}_{1^{q-1}}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{Z}[M], \mathbb{F}_q) \cong X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{F}_q)$$

by the functoriality of spec and $\cdot \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_1} \mathbb{Z}$ when we put $X = \operatorname{spec} M$.

Connes and Consani explicitly described the right-hand side of Proposition 2.2.7. Before stating their formula, we introduce some notations used hereafter.

Definition 2.2.8. Let $X = (X, \mathcal{O}_X)$ be a monoid scheme of finite type. For each $x \in X$, we define $r_x, l_x \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $t_{x,j} \in \mathbb{N}$ by the integers satisfying

$$\mathcal{O}_{X,x}^{\times} \cong \mathbb{Z}^{r_x} \times \prod_{j=1}^{l_x} \mathbb{Z}/t_{x,j}\mathbb{Z} \quad \text{with} \quad t_{x,j} \mid t_{x,j+1}$$

and put $T_x := \#(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}^{\times})_{\text{tors}} = \prod_{j=1}^{l_x} t_{x,j}$. Here, $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}^{\times}$ denotes the group of invertible elements of the monoid $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ and $(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}^{\times})_{\text{tors}}$ denotes its torsion subgroup. In addition, we put $R_X := \max_{x \in X} r_x$ and $T_X := \prod_{x \in X} T_x$.

Lemma 2.2.9 (Connes and Consani $[\mathbb{B}$, Proposition 3.22]). For an abelian group G, it holds that

$$X(\mathbb{F}_1[G]) = \bigsqcup_{x \in X} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{Ab}} \left(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}^{\times}, G \right)$$

The following property follows form Lemma 2.2.9 by putting $G = \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}$.

Proposition 2.2.10 (Connes and Consani $[\mathbf{9}, \text{Lemma 4.4}]$). Let X be a monoid scheme of finite type. Then, it holds that

$$\#X(\mathbb{F}_{1^n}) = \sum_{x \in X} n^{r_x} \prod_{j=1}^{l_x} \gcd(n, t_{x,j})$$

for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

2.3 \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes by Connes-Consani

Next, we review \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes defined by Connes and Consani [8]. They constructed the category \mathfrak{MR} , which glues together the category \mathfrak{M}_0 of monoids and the category \mathfrak{CRing} of commutative rings using adjoint functors. Then, they defined an \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme as a functor $\mathfrak{MR} \to \mathfrak{Set}$ which satisfies certain conditions.

2.3.1 \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes

As we mentioned above, the functor $\mathbb{Z}[\cdot]: \mathfrak{M}_0 \to \mathfrak{CRing}$ is left adjoint to the forgetful functor $U: \mathfrak{CRing} \to \mathfrak{M}_0$, which forgets the addition of rings [III, Theorem 1.1]. Using these functors, we glue \mathfrak{M}_0 and \mathfrak{CRing} .

Definition 2.3.1 (Connes and Consani [8, §4.1]). We define the category $\mathfrak{MR} := \mathfrak{M}_0 \cup_{\mathbb{Z}[\cdot],U} \mathfrak{CRing}$ by the category which consists of the following data:

- The collection of objects of \mathfrak{MR} is the disjoint union of the collections of objects of \mathfrak{M}_0 and \mathfrak{CRing} .
- For any $M, N \in \mathfrak{M}_0$ and $R, S \in \mathfrak{CRing}$, we set

$$\begin{split} &\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{MR}}(M,N) := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{M}_0}(M,N), \quad \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{MR}}(R,S) := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{CRing}}(R,S), \\ &\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{MR}}(M,R) := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{CRing}}(\mathbb{Z}[M],R) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{M}_0}(M,U(R)), \\ &\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{MR}}(R,M) := \emptyset. \end{split}$$

• For $\phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{MR}}(M, R)$, $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{M}_0}(N, M)$ and $g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{CRing}}(R, S)$, we define $\phi \circ f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{MR}}(N, R)$ and $g \circ \phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{MR}}(M, S)$ as $\phi \circ \mathbb{Z}[f] \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{CRing}}(\mathbb{Z}[N], R)$ and $g \circ \phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{CRing}}(\mathbb{Z}[M], R)$, respectively.

An \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme is a functor $\mathfrak{MR} \to \mathfrak{Set}$ which combines information of an \mathfrak{M}_0 -scheme, a \mathbb{Z} -scheme and a natural transformation which binds them. Here, we introduce \mathfrak{M}_0 -schemes and \mathbb{Z} -schemes.

Definition 2.3.2 (Connes and Consani [8, Definition 3.5]). Let \mathcal{F} be a covariant functor $\mathfrak{M}_0 \to \mathfrak{Set}$.

- A covariant functor \mathcal{G} is a subfunctor of \mathcal{F} if $\mathcal{G}(M) \subset \mathcal{F}(M)$ for all $M \in Ob(\mathfrak{M}_0)$ and $\mathcal{G}(f) = \mathcal{F}(f)|_{\mathcal{G}(M)}$ for all $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{M}_0}(M, M')$.
- A subfunctor $\mathcal{G} \subset \mathcal{F}$ is said to be *open* if for any monoid M and any morphism $\phi \colon \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{M}_0}(M, \cdot) \to \mathcal{F}$, there exists an ideal $\mathfrak{a} \subset M$ such that

 $\phi(\rho) \in \mathcal{G}(N) (\subset \mathcal{F}(N)) \iff \rho(\mathfrak{a})N = N$

for any $N \in Ob(\mathfrak{M}_0)$ and any $\rho \in Hom_{\mathfrak{M}_0}(M, N)$.

• Let \mathcal{F} be a covariant functor $\mathfrak{M}_0 \to \mathfrak{Set}$ and $\{\mathcal{F}_i\}_{i \in I}$ be a family of open subfunctors of \mathcal{F} . Then, $\{\mathcal{F}_i\}_{i \in I}$ is an *open covering* of \mathcal{F} if it holds that

$$\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{F}_1[G]) = \bigcup_{i \in I} \mathcal{F}_i(\mathbb{F}_1[G])$$

for any multiplicative abelian group G.

Definition 2.3.3 (Connes and Consani $[\mathbb{B}$, Definition 3.10]). An \mathfrak{M}_0 -scheme is a covariant functor $\mathfrak{M}_0 \to \mathfrak{Set}$ which admits an open covering by representable subfunctors. A \mathbb{Z} -scheme is defined similarly by exchanging \mathfrak{M}_0 for \mathfrak{CRing} .

Next, we introduce the natural transformation which is one of the data of an \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme. For each $R \in Ob(\mathfrak{CRing})$, put

$$\alpha'_R := \Phi^{-1}(\mathrm{id}_{U(R)}) \in \Phi^{-1}(\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathfrak{M}_0}(U(R), U(R))) = \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathfrak{MR}}(U(R), R),$$

where $\Phi: \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{CRing}}(\mathbb{Z}[M], S) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{M}_0}(M, U(S))$ is a natural bijection in $M \in \operatorname{Ob}(\mathfrak{M}_0)$ and $S \in \operatorname{Ob}(\mathfrak{CRing})$ which is determined by the adjoint functors $\mathbb{Z}[\cdot]: \mathfrak{M}_0 \to \mathfrak{CRing}$ and $U: \mathfrak{CRing} \to \mathfrak{M}_0$. Then, we have the map $e_R := \mathcal{X}(\alpha'_R): \mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{M}_0} \circ U(R) \to \mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{CRing}}(R)$ for any covariant functor $\mathcal{X}: \mathfrak{MR} \to \mathfrak{Set}$. Thus, we obtain the natural transformation $e: \mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{M}_0} \circ U \to \mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{CRing}}$.

Definition 2.3.4 (Connes and Consani [8, Definition 4.7]). A functor $\mathcal{X} : \mathfrak{MR} \to \mathfrak{Set}$ is an \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme if it satisfies the following conditions:

- The restriction $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ is an \mathfrak{M}_0 -scheme.
- The restriction $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{CRing}}$ is a \mathbb{Z} -scheme.
- The map $e_K \colon \mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{M}_0} \circ U(K) \to \mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{CRing}}(K)$ is bijective for any field K.

Remark 2.3.5 (Connes and Consani [8, Proposition 3.17]). For a monoid scheme \mathfrak{X} and a scheme X over \mathbb{Z} , we put

$$\underline{\mathfrak{X}} := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{MSch}}(\operatorname{spec}(\cdot), \mathfrak{X}) \quad \text{and} \quad \underline{X} := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{Sch}}(\operatorname{Spec}(\cdot), X),$$

where **MSch** and **Sch** are the categories of monoid schemes and schemes over \mathbb{Z} , respectively. Since the category of \mathfrak{M}_0 -schemes is equivalent as a category to **MSch**,

for any \mathfrak{M}_0 -scheme $\mathcal{F} \colon \mathfrak{M}_0 \to \mathfrak{Set}$, there exists the unique monoid scheme $X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ (up to natural isomorphism) such that $\mathcal{F} = \underline{X}_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$. We call the monoid scheme $X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ the *geometric realisation of* \mathcal{F} . Similarly, for any \mathbb{Z} -scheme $\mathcal{G} \colon \mathfrak{CRing} \to \mathfrak{Set}$, there exists the unique scheme $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ over \mathbb{Z} (up to natural isomorphism) such that $\mathcal{G} = \underline{X}_{\mathbb{Z}}$. We also call the scheme $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ the *geometric realisation of* \mathcal{G} .

Remark 2.3.6 (cf. Connes and Consani [\mathbb{N} , Remark 4.10]). It is important that e_K is bijective not for an arbitrary *rings* but for an arbitrary *fields*, since $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{M}_0} \circ U$ is not always a \mathbb{Z} -scheme. For example, when \mathcal{X} is an \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme satisfying that the geometric realisation of $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ (resp. $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{CRing}}$) is a monoid scheme X (resp. its \mathbb{Z} -lift $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$), the map e_R is bijective for any rings R. On the other hand, when \mathcal{X} is the \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme associated with the projective line or a Chevalley group, the map e_R is *not* bijective for any rings R.

2.3.2 Torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes

Next, we show some properties of \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes under certain conditions. First of all, we review the definition of a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme.

Definition 2.3.7 (Connes and Consani [8, Definition 4.12]). An \mathfrak{M}_0 -scheme \mathcal{F} is *Noetherian* if there exists a finite open covering by representable subfunctors, each of which is naturally isomorphic to $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{M}_0}(M, \cdot)$ for some Noetherian monoid M. A *Noetherian* \mathbb{Z} -scheme is also defined similarly.

An \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme \mathcal{X} is Noetherian if $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ is a Noetherian \mathfrak{M}_0 -scheme and $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{CRing}}$ is a Noetherian \mathbb{Z} -scheme.

Remark 2.3.8. The following conditions on a monoid M are equivalent.

- M is Noetherian.
- *M* is finitely generated.
- $\mathbb{Z}[M]$ is a Noetherian ring.

This implies that an \mathfrak{M}_0 -scheme is Noetherian if and only if its geometric realisation is of finite type.

Definition 2.3.9 (Connes and Consani [8, §4.4]). A monoid scheme X is torsion free if the group $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}^{\times}$ is torsion free for any $x \in X$. We call an \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme \mathcal{X} to be torsion free if the geometric realisation of $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ is torsion free.

The following theorem is the important property of a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme to define its absolute zeta function defined by Soulé.

Theorem 2.3.10 (Connes and Consani [8, Theorem 4.13]). Let \mathcal{X} be a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme. Then, there exists a unique polynomial $N_{\mathcal{X}} \in \mathbb{Z}[t]$ satisfying the following conditions:

- It holds that $\#\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_{1^n}) = N_{\mathcal{X}}(n+1)$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$.
- It holds that $\#\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_q) = N_{\mathcal{X}}(q)$ for any $q \in \mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}$.

We call this polynomial $N_{\mathcal{X}}$ the counting function of \mathcal{X} .

Remark 2.3.11 (Connes and Consani [8, Theorem 4.13]). It is easy to check that the counting function $N_{\mathcal{X}}(t)$ in Theorem 2.3.10 is given by

$$N_{\mathcal{X}}(t) := \sum_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}} (t-1)^{r_x} = \sum_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}} \sum_{j=0}^{r_x} (-1)^{r_x-j} \binom{r_x}{j} t^j.$$

Note that the underlying set of $X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ is finite by Proposition 2.2.7.

The degree of the counting function of a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme coincides with the relative dimension of the scheme associated with the \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme. We use this property later when we determine the region of absolute convergence of the absolute Euler product using the relative dimension in Theorem BLD.

Theorem 2.3.12 ([49, Theorem 2.10]). Let \mathcal{X} be a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme and $N_{\mathcal{X}}$ be its counting function. Assume that the geometric realisation $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ of $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{CMing}}$ is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} . Then, it holds that

$$\deg N_{\mathcal{X}} = \operatorname{rel.dim} X_{\mathbb{Z}} / \mathbb{Z},$$

where rel.dim $X_{\mathbb{Z}}/\mathbb{Z}$ is the relative dimension of $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ over \mathbb{Z} .

Proof. Fix a prime power $q \in \mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}$. Put $Y = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}$ and take $y \in Y(\mathbb{F}_q)$. When we put $d := \operatorname{rel.dim} X_{\mathbb{Z}}/\mathbb{Z}$, we have $d = \dim(X_{\mathbb{Z}})_y$ for any $y \in Y(\mathbb{F}_q)$, where $(X_{\mathbb{Z}})_y := X_{\mathbb{Z}} \times_Y \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{F}_q$. Here, it holds that

$$#(X_{\mathbb{Z}})_y(\mathbb{F}_q) = O(q^d)$$

by Lang and Weil (cf. Poonen [40, Theorem 7.7.1 (i)]). Since we have $\#X_y(\mathbb{F}_q) = N_{\mathcal{X}}(q)$ by Theorem 2.3.10 and $N_{\mathcal{X}}$ is a polynomial, we have

$$\deg N_{\mathcal{X}} = d = \operatorname{rel.dim} X_{\mathbb{Z}} / \mathbb{Z}$$

Corollary 2.3.13 ([49, Corollary 2.12]). Let \mathcal{X} be a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 scheme and $X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ (resp. $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$) be the geometric realisation of $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ (resp. $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{CRing}}$).
Assume that $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} . Then the counting function of \mathcal{X} is given
explicitly as

$$N_{\mathcal{X}}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{d} \left(\sum_{l=j}^{d} (-1)^{l-j} \binom{l}{j} \# I_l \right) t^j,$$

where $d := \operatorname{rel.dim} X_{\mathbb{Z}}/\mathbb{Z}$, $r_x := \operatorname{rank} \mathcal{O}_{X_{\mathfrak{M}_0},x}^{\times}$ and $I_l := \{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_0} \mid r_x = l\}.$

Proof. By Remark $\fbox{2.3.11}$ and Theorem $\fbox{2.3.12}$, we have

$$\max_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}} r_x = \deg N_{\mathcal{X}} = \operatorname{rel.dim} X_{\mathbb{Z}} / \mathbb{Z} = d.$$

Since $I_l = \emptyset$ for l > d, we have

$$N_{\mathcal{X}}(t) = \sum_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}} (t-1)^{r_x} = \sum_{l=0}^d \# I_l (t-1)^l$$
$$= \sum_{l=0}^d \# I_l \sum_{j=0}^l (-1)^{l-j} \binom{l}{j} t^j = \sum_{j=0}^d \left(\sum_{l=j}^d (-1)^{l-j} \binom{l}{j} \# I_l \right) t^j$$

by Remark **2.3** II.

Chapter 3

Absolute Euler products and \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes

In this chapter, we prove the first main result of this thesis. Before stating the main result, we introduce the absolute zeta function of a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme. Then, we state the main theorem asserting that it has the absolute Euler product and its region of absolute convergence is determined by the relative dimension of the scheme obtained by the torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme.

3.1 The absolute zeta function of a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme

As we mentioned in Subsection \square , Soulé $[\square 6]$ defined the absolute zeta function for a scheme X of finite type over \mathbb{Z} with the condition on rational points as the limit of $Z(X, p^{-s})$ as $p \to 1$. Note that absolute zeta functions for general schemes of finite type over \mathbb{Z} cannot be defined similarly.

Extending this definition, Connes and Consani [8] defined the absolute zeta function $\zeta_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{F}_1}(s)$ for a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme \mathcal{X} as the absolute zeta function for the geometric realisation of $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{CRing}}$.

Definition 3.1.1 (Connes and Consani $[\mathbb{B}, \S 2]$). Let \mathcal{X} be a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme. Note that the counting function $N_{\mathcal{X}} \in \mathbb{Z}[t]$ of \mathcal{X} exists by Theorem 2.3.10. We define the function

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{F}_1}(s) := \zeta_{N_{\mathcal{X}}}^{\lim}(s) = \lim_{p \to 1} (p-1)^{N_{\mathcal{X}}(1)} \exp\left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{N_{\mathcal{X}}(p^m)}{m} p^{-sm}\right)$$

and call it the absolute zeta function for \mathcal{X} .

By this definition, we immediately obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 3.1.2 (Soulé [46, Lemme 1]). Let \mathcal{X} be a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme and $N_{\mathcal{X}}$ be the counting function of \mathcal{X} . Put $N_{\mathcal{X}}(t) = \sum_{k=0}^r a_k t^k$ (cf. Theorem (2.3.10). Then, the absolute zeta function of \mathcal{X} is expressed as

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{F}_1}(s) = \prod_{k=0}^r (s-k)^{-a_k},$$

and can be continued meromorphically to the whole complex plane \mathbb{C} .

In $[\mathbf{S}]$, Connes and Consani gave a finite product representation of the absolute zeta function of a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme \mathcal{X} which runs over the points of the geometric realisation of $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$. Each factor of the product is expressed using the Kurokawa tensor product as defined below.

Definition 3.1.3 (Kurokawa [ZZ], Manin [B6]). For $i \in \{1, ..., r\}$, let Φ_i be a finite subset of \mathbb{C} and $m_i \colon \Phi_i \to \mathbb{Z}$ be a function and put

$$Z_i(s) := \prod_{\rho \in \Phi_i} (s - \rho)^{m_i(\rho)}$$

We define the Kurokawa tensor product by

$$Z_1(s) \otimes \cdots \otimes Z_r(s) := \prod_{(\rho_1, \dots, \rho_r) \in \Phi_1 \times \dots \times \Phi_r} (s - (\rho_1 + \dots + \rho_r))^{m(\rho_1, \dots, \rho_r)},$$

where

$$m(\rho_1, \dots, \rho_r) := \begin{cases} m_1(\rho_1) \cdots m_r(\rho_r) & \text{if } \operatorname{Im}(\rho_i) \ge 0 \text{ for each } i, \\ (-1)^{r-1} m_1(\rho_1) \cdots m_r(\rho_r) & \text{if } \operatorname{Im}(\rho_i) < 0 \text{ for each } i, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Theorem 3.1.4 (Connes and Consani [\boxtimes , Theorem 4.13]). Let \mathcal{X} be a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme. Then we have

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{F}_1}(s) = \prod_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}} \frac{1}{\left(1 - \frac{1}{s}\right)^{\otimes r_x}},$$

where $r_x := \operatorname{rank} \mathcal{O}_{X_{\mathfrak{M}_0},x}^{\times}$ and \otimes is the Kurokawa tensor product.

Using this theorem, we obtain the following absolute Euler product of the absolute zeta function of a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme. This is a formulation of Kurokawa's suggestion (Conjecture $\square \square \square$) using torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes. Moreover, we give an explicit form of $\kappa(n, X)$ in Conjecture $\square \square \square$ using the points of the monoid scheme X associated with the \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme and determine the region of absolute convergence. This is the main theorem of this chapter. **Theorem 3.1.5** ([49, Theorem 3.8]). Let \mathcal{X} be a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme and $N_{\mathcal{X}} \in \mathbb{Z}[t]$ be its counting function. Let $X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ (resp. $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$) be the geometric realisation of $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ (resp. $\mathcal{X}|_{\mathfrak{CMing}}$).

(1) It holds that

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{F}_1}(s) = s^{-N_{\mathcal{X}}(1)} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - s^{-n}\right)^{-\kappa(n, X_{\mathfrak{M}_0})},$$

where

$$\kappa(n, X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}) := \sum_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}} \sum_{j=0}^{r_x} (-1)^{r_x - j} \binom{r_x}{j} \kappa_j(n), \quad \kappa_j(n) := \frac{1}{n} \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) j^m.$$

Here, the map $\mu \colon \mathbb{N} \to \{-1, 0, 1\}$ is the Möbius function, which is defined by

$$\mu(n) := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } n \text{ has a squared prime factor,} \\ (-1)^k & \text{if } n \text{ has } k \text{ distinct prime factors.} \end{cases}$$

(2) If $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} , the region of absolute convergence of this absolute Euler product is $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid |s| > \text{rel.dim } X_{\mathbb{Z}}/\mathbb{Z}\}.$

We give this proof in the next section. In fact, $\kappa(n, X_{\mathfrak{M}_0})$ is given as the image of the counting function of \mathcal{X} with respect to the following homomorphism.

Definition 3.1.6 ([49, Definition 3.9]). For any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we define the homomorphism of \mathbb{Z} -modules

 $M_n \colon \mathbb{Z}[t] \to \mathbb{Z}$

such that $M_n(t^a) := \kappa_a(n)$ for $a \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Note that we show that $\kappa_a(n) \in \mathbb{Z}$ later.

Since we have $\kappa(n, X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}) = M_n(N_{\mathcal{X}})$ by Remark **2.311**, Theorem **3.15** can be represented only by the counting function $N_{\mathcal{X}}$.

Corollary 3.1.7 ([49, Corollary 3.10]). Let \mathcal{X} be a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme and $N_{\mathcal{X}}(t)$ be its counting function. Then, it holds that

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{F}_1}(s) = s^{-N_{\mathcal{X}}(1)} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - s^{-n})^{-M_n(N_{\mathcal{X}})}.$$

Remark 3.1.8. As demonstrated in the proof of Theorem **GL5** in Subsection **G22**, the region of absolute convergence of the above absolute Euler product is $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid |s| > \deg N_{\mathcal{X}}\}$.

3.2 Proof of Theorem 3.1.5

3.2.1 Lemmas

To prove Theorem **B15**, we first prove the core formula of the absolute Euler product representation and its region of absolute convergence.

Lemma 3.2.1 (cf. Kurokawa [30, Exercise 7.1]). Let $a \in \mathbb{Z}$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and

$$\kappa_a(n) := \frac{1}{n} \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) a^m.$$

Then, we have $\kappa_a(n) \in \mathbb{Z}$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $a \in \mathbb{Z}$, and it holds that in $\mathbb{Z}\llbracket u \rrbracket$

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)} = 1 - au.$$
(3.1)

Remark 3.2.2. When a is a variable, the polynomial $\kappa_a(n)$ is called the *necklace* polynomial, which was introduced by Moreau [B8].

Moreover, the inverse of Equation (B1) coincides with the *cyclotomic identity* (cf. Metropolis and Rota [B2]), which is the same as the condition that $\{a^n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is the Euler transform of $\{\kappa_a(n)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ (cf. Sloane and Plouffe [45]).

Proof. First of all, we show $\kappa_a(n) \in \mathbb{Z}$. We prove this in a different way from Kurokawa's proof [**30**, Exercise 7.1], using the following property of the unit group of $\mathbb{Z}/p^{e+1}\mathbb{Z}$:

$$\left(\mathbb{Z}/p^{e+1}\mathbb{Z} \right)^{\times} \cong \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}/(p-1)\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/p^e\mathbb{Z} & \text{if } p \text{ is odd,} \\ \{1\} & \text{if } p = 2 \text{ and } e = 0, \\ \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/2^{e-1}\mathbb{Z} & \text{if } p = 2 \text{ and } e \ge 1, \end{cases}$$

for any $e \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $p \in \mathbb{P}$ (see e.g. Serre [42, Chapter II, Theorem 2]). Since $y^{p^{e+1}} - y^{p^e} = y^{p^e}(y^{p^e(p-1)} - 1)$, we have

$$y^{p^{e+1}} \equiv y^{p^e} \pmod{p^{e+1}} \tag{3.2}$$

for any $y \in \mathbb{Z}$, $e \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $p \in \mathbb{P}$.

Since $\mathbb{Z} = \bigcap_{p \in \mathbb{P}} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$, it suffices to show that $\kappa_a(n) \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ for any $p \in \mathbb{P}$. Fix any a and p. If $p \nmid n$, $\kappa_a(n) \in \mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{n}\right] \subset \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ holds by definition. We assume that $p \mid n$. By Equation (B2), putting $n = p^{\nu}u$ ($\nu = v_p(n), u \in \mathbb{Z}$),

$$\kappa_{a}(n) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) a^{m} = \frac{1}{p^{\nu}u} \sum_{m|p^{\nu}u} \mu\left(\frac{p^{\nu}u}{m}\right) a^{m}$$

$$\stackrel{(*)}{=} \sum_{d|u} \frac{1}{p^{\nu}u} \mu\left(\frac{u}{d}\right) \left(a^{p^{\nu}d} - a^{p^{\nu-1}d}\right)$$

$$\in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)} \qquad \left(\because a^{p^{\nu}d} - a^{p^{\nu-1}d} \equiv 0 \pmod{p^{\nu}\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}}\right).$$

Here, (*) follows by dividing into two cases: $m = p^{\nu-1}d$ and $m = p^{\nu}d$, where $\frac{p^{\nu}u}{m}$ does not have any squared prime factor.

Next, we formally calculate the infinite product representation of 1 - au:

$$\log\left(\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)}\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \kappa_a(n) \log(1-u^n) = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{n\kappa_a(n)}{nk} u^{nk}$$
$$\stackrel{(a)}{=} -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \left(\sum_{n|m} n\kappa_a(n)\right) u^m$$
$$= -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \left(\sum_{n|m} \sum_{l|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{l}\right) a^l\right) u^m$$
$$\stackrel{(b)}{=} -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} a^m u^m = \log(1-au).$$

Here, we put m = nk in (a) and we use the Möbius inversion formula in (b).

The exponent $\kappa_a(n)$ has the following properties.

Proposition 3.2.3 ([49, Proposition 4.4 and Corollary 4.5]). For any $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, it holds that

$$\left|\kappa_a(n) - \frac{a^n}{n}\right| \le \frac{|a|^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor + 1}}{n}.$$

Thus, the values and signs of $\kappa_a(n)$'s are as in Table \square .

$n \setminus a$	\cdots -2	-1	0	1	$2 \cdots$
1	\cdots -2	-1	0	1	$2 \cdots$
2	+ (if $2 n$)	1	0	0	
3	$-$ (if $2 \nmid n$)	0	0	0	+
:		:	÷	:	

Table 3.1: the values and signs of $\kappa_a(n)$'s

Proof. First, we consider the easy cases. When a = 0, we have $\kappa_0(n) = 0$. When a = 1, we have

$$\kappa_1(n) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) = \frac{1}{n} \delta_{1n} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } n = 1, \\ 0 & \text{if } n \ge 2, \end{cases}$$

by a standard property of the Möbius function.

Let a = -1. We have $\kappa_{-1}(1) = -1$ and $\kappa_{-1}(2) = 1$. Hence, we consider the case when $n \ge 3$. Then, we have

$$\kappa_{-1}(n) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) (-1)^m = 0.$$

Indeed, since the number of divisors of n is at most $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + 1$, it holds that $|\kappa_{-1}(n)| < \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{n} < 1$. Thus, we have $\kappa_{-1}(n) = 0$ since $\kappa_{-1}(n) \in \mathbb{Z}$ by Lemma **C21**. Let $|a| \geq 2$. We have $\kappa_a(1) = a$. For $n \geq 2$, we have

$$|n\kappa_a(n) - a^n| \le \sum_{\substack{m|n\\m \ne n}} |a|^m \le \sum_{m=0}^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor} |a|^m = \frac{|a|^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor + 1} - 1}{|a| - 1} < |a|^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor + 1}.$$

Note that this implies the inequality

$$\frac{a^n}{n} - \frac{|a|^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor + 1}}{n} < \kappa_a(n) < \frac{a^n}{n} + \frac{|a|^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor + 1}}{n}.$$

Hence, when $a \leq -2$, it holds that $\kappa_a(n) > 0$ if $2 \mid n$ and $\kappa_a(n) < 0$ if $2 \nmid n$.

Thus, the proposition follows.

Using the above properties of $\kappa_a(n)$, we give the region of absolute convergence of the infinite product in Lemma **B221**, which is the key lemma for Theorem **B125**.

Lemma 3.2.4 ([49, Lemma 4.3]). Let $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $u \in \mathbb{C}$. If $a \geq 2$, then the region of absolute convergence of the infinite product in Lemma 3.2.1

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)}$$

is $\{u \in \mathbb{C} \mid |u| < \frac{1}{a}\}$. If a = 1, then its region of absolute convergence is \mathbb{C} . Proof. When a = 1, $\kappa_1(n) = \delta_{1n}$ and thus the infinite product converges for any

Proof. When a = 1, $\kappa_1(n) = \delta_{1n}$ and thus the infinite product converges for any $u \in \mathbb{C}$. We assume $a \ge 2$ in the following. First, we show that the infinite product converges absolutely at least for $|u| < \frac{1}{a}$. Since

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)} = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 + \left((1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)} - 1 \right) \right),$$

it suffices to show that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |(1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)} - 1|$$

converges for $|u| < \frac{1}{a}$. First of all, we calculate the upper bound of the binomial coefficient $\binom{\kappa_a(n)}{m}$ as follows:

$$\binom{\kappa_a(n)}{m} \leq \frac{\kappa_a(n)^m}{m!} < \frac{\kappa_a(n)^m}{\sqrt{2\pi m} \left(\frac{m}{e}\right)^m} = \frac{\kappa_a(n)^m e^m}{\sqrt{2\pi} m^{m+\frac{1}{2}}} \leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \left(\frac{e\kappa_a(n)}{m}\right)^m$$

Since $\kappa_a(n) \leq \frac{a^n + a^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor + 1}}{n} \leq \frac{2a^n}{n}$ by Proposition 8.2.3, it holds that $\binom{\kappa_a(n)}{m} < \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \left(\frac{e\kappa_a(n)}{m}\right)^m \leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \left(\frac{2ea^n}{nm}\right)^m.$

Putting $|u| = \frac{1}{a} - \varepsilon \left(0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{a}\right)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |(1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)} - 1| &= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{m=1}^{\kappa_a(n)} (-1)^m \binom{\kappa_a(n)}{m} u^{nm} \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{\kappa_a(n)} \binom{\kappa_a(n)}{m} |u|^{nm} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{\kappa_a(n)} \binom{\kappa_a(n)}{m} \left(\frac{1}{a} - \varepsilon\right)^{nm} \\ &< \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{\kappa_a(n)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \left(\frac{2ea^n}{nm}\right)^m \left(\frac{1-\varepsilon a}{a}\right)^{nm} \\ &\leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{\kappa_a(n)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \left(\frac{2e(1-\varepsilon a)^n}{n}\right)^m. \end{split}$$

By setting

$$c_{\varepsilon} := \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon a} > 1, \quad r_n := \frac{2e(1 - \varepsilon a)^n}{n} = \frac{2e}{nc_{\varepsilon}^n},$$

it holds that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |(1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)} - 1| < \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \sum_{m=1}^{\kappa_a(n)} r_n^m = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{r_n^{\kappa_a(n)+1} - r_n}{r_n - 1}$$

We take and fix sufficiently large $N \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfying $c_{\varepsilon}^n > n$ and $r_n < 1$ for any $n \ge N$.

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |(1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)} - 1| &< \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \frac{r_n^{\kappa_a(n)+1} - r_n}{r_n - 1} + \sum_{n=N}^{\infty} \frac{r_n - r_n^{\kappa_a(n)+1}}{1 - r_n} \right) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \frac{r_n^{\kappa_a(n)+1} - r_n}{r_n - 1} + \sum_{n=N}^{\infty} \frac{r_n}{1 - r_N} \right) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \frac{r_n^{\kappa_a(n)+1} - r_n}{r_n - 1} + \frac{1}{1 - r_N} \sum_{n=N}^{\infty} \frac{2e}{n^2} \right) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \frac{r_n^{\kappa_a(n)+1} - r_n}{r_n - 1} + \frac{2e}{1 - r_N} \zeta(2) \right) < \infty. \end{split}$$

Therefore, the series above converges. Thus, the infinite product converges absolutely at least for $|u| < \frac{1}{a}$ when $a \ge 2$.

Next, we show that the infinite product does not converge absolutely for $|u| \ge \frac{1}{a}$ when $a \ge 2$. It is easy to show that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |(1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)}-1|$ diverges when $|u| \ge 1$. Hence, we may assume that $\frac{1}{a} \le |u| < 1$. Firstly, we prove that it diverges when $u = \frac{1}{a}$. It holds that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |(1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)} - 1| = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(1 - \frac{1}{a^n}\right)^{\kappa_a(n)} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\kappa_a(n)}{a^n} \sum_{m=1}^{\kappa_a(n)} (-1)^{m+1} \frac{1}{\kappa_a(n)} \binom{\kappa_a(n)}{m} \frac{1}{a^{n(m-1)}}.$$

For $n \geq 3$, put

$$I_n := \sum_{m=1}^{\kappa_a(n)} (-1)^{m+1} \frac{1}{\kappa_a(n)} \binom{\kappa_a(n)}{m} \frac{1}{a^{n(m-1)}}$$

Then, we have

$$|I_n - 1| = \left| \sum_{m=2}^{\kappa_a(n)} (-1)^{m+1} \frac{\kappa_a(n) - 1}{a^n} \cdots \frac{\kappa_a(n) - m + 1}{a^n} \cdot \frac{1}{m!} \right|$$
$$\leq \sum_{m=2}^{\kappa_a(n)} \left| \frac{\kappa_a(n) - 1}{a^n} \right| \cdots \left| \frac{\kappa_a(n) - m + 1}{a^n} \right| \cdot \frac{1}{m!}.$$

Here, we have

$$\left|\frac{\kappa_a(n)-i}{a^n}\right| \le \frac{\kappa_a(n)}{a^n} \le \frac{1}{n} + \frac{1}{na^{n-\lfloor n/2\rfloor-1}} \le \frac{2}{n}$$

for any $i \in \{1, \ldots, m-1\}$ by Proposition **5.2.3**. Hence, it holds that

$$|I_n - 1| \le \sum_{m=2}^{\kappa_a(n)} \frac{2^{m-1}}{n^{m-1}} \cdot \frac{1}{m!} \le \sum_{m=2}^{\kappa_a(n)} \frac{1}{n^{m-1}} = \frac{1 - n^{1 - \kappa_a(n)}}{n-1} < \frac{1}{n-1} \le \frac{1}{2}$$

for $n \ge 3$. Therefore, we have $I_n \ge \frac{1}{2}$ for $n \ge 3$ and then

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(1 - \frac{1}{a^n} \right)^{\kappa_a(n)} \right) \ge \sum_{n=3}^{\infty} \frac{\kappa_a(n)}{a^n} I_n \ge \sum_{n=3}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2n} \cdot \frac{1}{2} = \infty, \tag{3.3}$$

since for $n \geq 3$

$$\frac{\kappa_a(n)}{a^n} \ge \frac{1}{n} - \frac{1}{na^{n-\lfloor n/2 \rfloor - 1}} \ge \frac{1}{2n}$$

Secondly, we prove that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |(1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)}-1|$ diverges for $\frac{1}{a} \leq |u| < 1$. Let $r = \frac{\operatorname{Arg} u}{2\pi}$ $(0 \leq r < 1)$. Assume that $r \in \mathbb{Q}$. We put $r = \frac{k_1}{k_2}$ $(k_1 \in \mathbb{Z}, k_2 \in \mathbb{N})$. Let

 $N = \{k_2m \mid m \in \mathbb{N}\}$, then it holds that $u^n = |u|^n \ge \frac{1}{a^n}$ for any $n \in N$. Therefore, we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |(1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)} - 1| \ge \sum_{n \in N} \left(1 - (1-|u|^n)^{\kappa_a(n)} \right) \ge \sum_{n \in N} \left(1 - \left(1 - \frac{1}{a^n} \right)^{\kappa_a(n)} \right).$$

In a similar way to Equation (\square) , we have

$$\sum_{n \in N} \left(1 - \left(1 - \frac{1}{a^n} \right)^{\kappa_a(n)} \right) \ge \frac{1}{4} \sum_{n \in N \cap [3,\infty)} \frac{1}{n}.$$

Here, since the natural density of N is $\frac{1}{k_2} > 0$ and coincides with the Dirichlet density of N, the last infinite sum diverges. Thus, the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |(1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)}-1|$ diverges if $r \in \mathbb{Q}$.

Assume that $r \notin \mathbb{Q}$. If $n \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfies $|1 - u^n| \ge 1 + \frac{1}{2a^n}$, it holds that

$$\left| (1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)} - 1 \right| \ge \left| |1-u^n|^{\kappa_a(n)} - 1 \right| \ge \left(1 + \frac{1}{2a^n} \right)^{\kappa_a(n)} - 1$$
$$> \frac{\kappa_a(n)}{2a^n} \stackrel{(*)}{\ge} \frac{1}{2n} \left(1 - \frac{1}{a^{n-\lfloor n/2 \rfloor - 1}} \right) \ge \frac{1}{4n}$$

by applying Proposition **B23** to (*). Hence, for every $N \subset \mathbb{N}$ which consists of $n \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfying $|1 - u^n| \ge 1 + \frac{1}{2a^n}$, we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |(1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)} - 1| \ge \sum_{n \in N} |(1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)} - 1| > \frac{1}{4} \sum_{n \in N} \frac{1}{n}.$$

Here, if the natural density of N is positive, then the last infinite sum diverges and hence the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |(1-u^n)^{\kappa_a(n)}-1|$ diverges. Therefore, it suffices to show that there exists $N \subset \mathbb{N}$ with positive natural density such that $|1-u^n| \geq 1 + \frac{1}{2a^n}$ for any $n \in N$.

As described in Figure **B1**, let $p_n \in \mathbb{C}$ be the intersection of $|z| = |u|^n$ and $|z-1| = 1 + \frac{1}{2a^n}$ whose imaginary part is positive and put $\theta_n := \operatorname{Arg} p_n$. Let $\Theta_n := \{\theta \in \mathbb{R} \mid \theta_n \leq \theta \leq 2\pi - \theta_n\}$. Note that if $\operatorname{Arg}(u^n) \in \Theta_n$, then such an n satisfies that $|1 - u^n| \geq 1 + \frac{1}{2a^n}$. Since $\frac{1}{a} \leq |u| < 1$, we have

$$\cos \theta_n = \frac{|u|^n}{2} - \frac{1}{2a^n |u|^n} - \frac{1}{8a^{2n} |u|^n} \ge \frac{1}{2a^n} - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{8a^n} = \frac{3}{8a^n} - \frac{1}{2} \ge -\frac{1}{2}$$

for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Hence, we have $\theta_n \leq \frac{2}{3}\pi$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, it holds that $\Theta_n \supset \left[\frac{2}{3}\pi, \frac{4}{3}\pi\right] =: \Theta_{\infty}$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $N := \{n \in \mathbb{N} \mid \operatorname{Arg}(u^n) \in \Theta_{\infty}\}$. Here, any $n \in N$ satisfies $|1 - u^n| \geq 1 + \frac{1}{2a^n}$, since $N \subset \{n \in \mathbb{N} \mid \operatorname{Arg}(u^n) \in \Theta_n\}$. Therefore, it suffices to show that the natural density of N is positive. Put $\mathbb{T} := \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$. Let


Figure 3.1: the definition of p_n and θ_n in the complex plane

 $\iota: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{T}$ be the natural isomorphism defined by $\iota(x) := x \mod \mathbb{Z}$ and $R_r: \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$ be the map satisfying that $R_r(x) = \iota(x+r)$. Put $\overline{\Theta}_{\infty} := \iota\left(\left[\frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\right]\right)$. Then, it holds that $N = \{n \in \mathbb{N} \mid R_r^n(0) \in \overline{\Theta}_{\infty}\}$. Since $r \notin \mathbb{Q}$, the continuous map R_r on \mathbb{T} is uniquely ergodic (cf. Einsiedler and Ward [IIS, Example 1.3 and Example 4.11]). Therefore, since $\overline{\Theta}_{\infty}$ is an interval in \mathbb{T} , we have

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \frac{1}{M} \# \{ n \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cap [0, M) \mid R_r^n(x) \in \overline{\Theta}_\infty \} = m_{\mathbb{T}}(\overline{\Theta}_\infty) = \frac{1}{3},$$

where $m_{\mathbb{T}}$ is the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{T} , for every $x \in \mathbb{T}$ by [IIS, Example 4.18 and Lemma 4.17] (also see Einsiedler and Ward [IIS, Example 1.3]). By putting x = 0, we have

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \frac{\#(N \cap [1, M])}{M} = \lim_{M \to \infty} \frac{1}{M} \#\{n \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cap [0, M) \mid R_r^n(0) \in \overline{\Theta}_\infty\} = \frac{1}{3} > 0.$$

Therefore, the natural density of N is positive.

Thus, the infinite product does not converge absolutely for $|u| \ge \frac{1}{a}$.

3.2.2 Proof

First, we derive the infinite product representation as an element of $\mathbb{Z}[\![\frac{1}{s}]\!]$. By Theorem **B14**, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{F}_{1}}(s) &= \prod_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_{0}}} \frac{1}{\left(1 - \frac{1}{s}\right)^{\otimes r_{x}}} = \prod_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_{0}}} \prod_{j=0}^{r_{x}} (s - r_{x} + j)^{(-1)^{j+1}\binom{r_{x}}{j}} \\ &= \prod_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_{0}}} \prod_{j=0}^{r_{x}} s^{(-1)^{j+1}\binom{r_{x}}{j}} \left(1 - \frac{r_{x} - j}{s}\right)^{(-1)^{j+1}\binom{r_{x}}{j}} \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^{\sum_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_{0}}} \sum_{j=0}^{r_{x}} (-1)^{j\binom{r_{x}}{j}}} \prod_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_{0}}} \prod_{j=0}^{r_{x}} \left(1 - \frac{r_{x} - j}{s}\right)^{(-1)^{j+1}\binom{r_{x}}{j}}} \end{aligned}$$

Since the counting function $N_{\mathcal{X}}(t)$ of \mathcal{X} satisfies

$$N_{\mathcal{X}}(t) = \sum_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}} (t-1)^{r_x} \in \mathbb{Z}[t]$$

by Remark **2.3.11**, we have

$$\sum_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}} \sum_{j=0}^{r_x} (-1)^j \binom{r_x}{j} = \sum_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}} (1-1)^{r_x} = N_{\mathcal{X}}(1).$$

By Lemma **B.2.I**, it holds that

$$1 - \frac{r_x - j}{s} = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^n \right)^{\kappa_{r_x - j}(n)}.$$

Hence, it holds that

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{F}_{1}}(s) &= \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^{N_{\mathcal{X}}(1)} \prod_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_{0}}} \prod_{j=0}^{r_{x}} \left(1 - \frac{r_{x} - j}{s}\right)^{(-1)^{j+1}\binom{r_{x}}{j}} \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^{N_{\mathcal{X}}(1)} \prod_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_{0}}} \prod_{j=0}^{r_{x}} \left(\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^{n}\right)^{\kappa_{r_{x}-j}(n)}\right)^{(-1)^{j+1}\binom{r_{x}}{j}} \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^{N_{\mathcal{X}}(1)} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^{n}\right)^{-\sum_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_{0}}} \sum_{j=0}^{r_{x}} (-1)^{j}\binom{r_{x}}{j} \kappa_{r_{x}-j}(n)}. \end{aligned}$$

Put

$$\kappa(n, X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}) := \sum_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}} \sum_{j=0}^{r_x} (-1)^j \binom{r_x}{j} \kappa_{r_x-j}(n) = \sum_{x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}} \sum_{j=0}^{r_x} (-1)^{r_x-j} \binom{r_x}{j} \kappa_j(n).$$

Then, we get the desired infinite product

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{X}/\mathbb{F}_1}(s) = \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^{N_{\mathcal{X}}(1)} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^n\right)^{-\kappa(n, X_{\mathfrak{M}_0})}.$$

Next, we show that the infinite product converges absolutely for $|s| > \text{rel.dim } X_{\mathbb{Z}}/\mathbb{Z}$ if $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} . In the above calculation of the infinite product representation, the point which is relevant to its convergence area is the following equality for which we use Lemma **B-2-1**:

$$1 - \frac{r_x - j}{s} = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^n \right)^{\kappa_{r_x - j}(n)}.$$

Let $|s| > \text{rel.dim } X_{\mathbb{Z}}/\mathbb{Z}$. Since $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} , we have

 $\deg N_{\mathcal{X}} = \operatorname{rel.dim} X_{\mathbb{Z}} / \mathbb{Z}$

by Theorem **2.3.12**. Since

$$|s| > \operatorname{rel.dim} X_{\mathbb{Z}}/\mathbb{Z} = \deg N_{\mathcal{X}} = R_{X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}} \ge r_x \ge r_x - j$$

for any $x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$, we have $\frac{1}{|s|} < \frac{1}{r_x - j}$ when $0 \le j < r_x$. Therefore, when $j \ne r_x$,

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^n \right)^{\kappa_{r_x - j}(n)} \tag{3.4}$$

converges absolutely by Lemma 3.2.4. Also, when $j = r_x$, it converges absolutely since $\kappa_0(n) = 0$. Thus, the infinite product

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^n \right)^{-\kappa(n, X_{\mathfrak{M}_0})}$$
(3.5)

converges absolutely for $|s| > \text{rel.dim } X_{\mathbb{Z}}/\mathbb{Z}$ if $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} .

Lastly, we show that the infinite product (B.5) diverges for $|s| \leq \text{rel.dim } X_{\mathbb{Z}}/\mathbb{Z}$ if $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} . By Theorem 2.3.12, we have $|s| \leq R_{X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}}$. When $x \in X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ and j satisfy $r_x - j = R_{X_{\mathfrak{M}_0}}$, the infinite product (B.4) diverges by Lemma 8.2.4. Thus, the infinite product (B.5) diverges for $|s| \leq \text{rel.dim } X_{\mathbb{Z}}/\mathbb{Z}$.

3.3 Applications of Theorem **3.1.5**

In this section, we see some applications of Theorem $\blacksquare \square \square$ and Corollary $\blacksquare \square \square$ to the cases of \mathbb{A}^r , \mathbb{G}_m^r and toric varieties to obtain the absolute Euler products of the absolute zeta functions for the \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes associated with these cases. In fact, for the cases of \mathbb{A}^r and \mathbb{G}_m^r , our result coincides with Kurokawa's calculations [\blacksquare , Exercise 7.2] in a different method.

3.3.1 Fundamental \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes

Example 3.3.1 ([49, Example 5.1]). Let $r \in \mathbb{N}$. Put $\mathbb{F}_1[t_1, \ldots, t_r] := \mathbb{F}_1[\{t_1^{u_1} \cdots t_r^{u_r} | u_i \in \mathbb{N}_0\}]$ and $\mathbf{A}^r := \operatorname{spec} \mathbb{F}_1[t_1, \ldots, t_r]$. Then, by the extension of the functors $\underline{\mathbf{A}^r} : \mathfrak{M}_0 \to \mathfrak{Set}, \underline{\mathbb{A}^r} : \mathfrak{CRing} \to \mathfrak{Set}$, we obtain the functor $\mathcal{A}^r : \mathfrak{MR} \to \mathfrak{Set}$ satisfying that the geometric realisation of $\mathcal{A}^r|_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ (resp. $\mathcal{A}^r|_{\mathfrak{CRing}}$) is \mathbf{A}^r (resp. \mathbb{A}^r) (see Connes and Consani [8, §4.2] for the extension of the functors). Moreover, \mathcal{A}^r is a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme.

Since $\#\mathbb{A}^r(\mathbb{F}_{p^m}) = p^{mr}$ for any $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $p \in \mathbb{P}$, the counting function of \mathcal{A}^r is $N_{\mathcal{A}^r}(t) = t^r \in \mathbb{Z}[t]$. Hence, we have $\chi_{abs}(\mathbb{A}^r) = N_{\mathcal{A}^r}(1) = 1$ and

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{A}^r/\mathbb{F}_1}(s) = \zeta_{N_{\mathcal{A}^r}}^{\lim}(s) = \frac{1}{s-r}.$$

Since the prime ideals of $\mathbb{F}_1[t_1, \ldots, t_r]$ are of the form

$$\mathfrak{p}_I = \bigcup_{i \in I} t_i \mathbb{F}_1[t_1, \dots, t_r],$$

where $I \subset \{1, \ldots, r\}$ and $\mathfrak{p}_{\emptyset} = (0)$, we have $r_{\mathfrak{p}_I} = r - \# I$ for $\mathfrak{p}_I \in \mathbf{A}^r$. We put

$$\kappa(n, \mathbf{A}^{r}) := \sum_{\mathfrak{p}_{I} \in \mathbf{A}^{r}} \sum_{j=0}^{r_{\mathfrak{p}_{I}}} (-1)^{r_{\mathfrak{p}_{I}}-j} {r_{\mathfrak{p}_{I}} \choose j} \kappa_{j}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^{r} {r_{i} \choose i} \sum_{j=0}^{r-i} (-1)^{r-i-j} {r-i \choose j} \kappa_{j}(n)$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{r} \kappa_{j}(n) \sum_{i=0}^{r-j} (-1)^{r-j-i} {r \choose i} {r-i \choose j}$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{r} {r \choose j} \kappa_{j}(n) \sum_{i=0}^{r-j} (-1)^{r-j-i} {r-j \choose i} = \sum_{j=0}^{r} {r \choose j} \kappa_{j}(n) (1-1)^{r-j}$$

$$= \kappa_{r}(n).$$

By Theorem **BLD**, we obtain the absolute Euler product

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{A}^r/\mathbb{F}_1}(s) = \frac{1}{s} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^n \right)^{-\kappa_r(n)}$$

and this infinite product converges absolutely for $|s| > \text{rel.dim } \mathbb{A}^r / \mathbb{Z} = r$.

Example 3.3.2 ([49, Example 5.2]). Let $r \in \mathbb{N}$. Put $\mathbb{F}_1[t_1^{\pm 1}, \ldots, t_r^{\pm 1}] := \mathbb{F}_1[\{t_1^{u_1} \cdots t_r^{u_r} | u_i \in \mathbb{Z}\}]$ and $\mathbf{G}_m^r := \operatorname{spec} \mathbb{F}_1[t_1^{\pm 1}, \ldots, t_r^{\pm 1}]$. Then, by the extension of the functors $\mathbf{G}_m^r : \mathfrak{M}_0 \to \mathfrak{Set}$, $\mathfrak{G}_m^r : \mathfrak{CRing} \to \mathfrak{Set}$, we obtain the functor $\mathcal{G}_m^r : \mathfrak{MR} \to \mathfrak{Set}$ satisfying that the geometric realisation of $\mathcal{G}_m^r|_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ (resp. $\mathcal{G}_m^r|_{\mathfrak{CRing}}$) is \mathbf{G}_m^r (resp. $\mathfrak{G}_m^r)$. Moreover, \mathcal{G}_m^r is a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme.

Since $\#\mathbb{G}_m^r(\mathbb{F}_{p^m}) = (p^m - 1)^r$ for any $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $p \in \mathbb{P}$, the counting function of \mathcal{G}_m^r is $N_{\mathcal{G}_m^r}(t) = (t-1)^r \in \mathbb{Z}[t]$. Hence, we have $\chi_{abs}(\mathbb{G}_m^r) = N_{\mathcal{G}_m^r}(1) = 0$ and

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{G}_m^r/\mathbb{F}_1}(s) = \zeta_{N_{\mathcal{G}_m^r}}^{\lim}(s) = \prod_{k=0}^r (s-k)^{(-1)^{r-k+1}\binom{r}{k}}.$$

Since $\mathbf{G}_m^r = \{(0)\}$ and $r_{(0)} = r$, we put

$$\kappa(n, \mathbf{G}_m^r) := \sum_{k=0}^r (-1)^{r-k} \binom{r}{k} \kappa_k(n).$$

By Theorem **BID**, we get the absolute Euler product

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{G}_m^r/\mathbb{F}_1}(s) = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^n\right)^{-\sum_{k=0}^r (-1)^{r-k} \binom{r}{k} \kappa_k(n)}$$

and this infinite product converges absolutely for $|s| > \text{rel.dim } \mathbb{G}_m^r / \mathbb{Z} = r$.

3.3.2 Toric varieties

Lastly, we calculate the absolute Euler product of the absolute zeta function for the \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme associated with a toric variety, using their counting functions calculated by Deitmar [II].

First, we review the notation of cones and fans according to Peña and Lorscheid [39, §2.1]. Let N be a *lattice*, i.e. $N \cong \mathbb{Z}^r \subset \mathbb{R}^r$ as additive groups. Fixing this isomorphism, we put $N_{\mathbb{R}} := N \otimes \mathbb{R} \cong \mathbb{R}^r$. An additive semi-group $\sigma \subset \mathbb{R}^r$ is called a *(strongly convex rational polyhedral) cone* if $\sigma \cap (-\sigma) = \{0\}$ and there exists a linearly independent set $\{v_1, \ldots, v_k\} \subset N$ such that $\sigma = v_1\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} + \cdots + v_k\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$, where $\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} := [0, \infty)$. A face τ of a cone σ is a cone of the form $\tau = v_{i_1}\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} + \cdots + v_{i_m}\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ for some $\{i_1, \ldots, i_m\} \subset \{1, \ldots, k\}$. We denote a face τ of σ by $\tau \prec \sigma$. A nonempty set Φ of cones in $N_{\mathbb{R}}$ is called a *fan* if every face of a cone in Φ is also in Φ and $\sigma_1 \cap \sigma_2$ is a face of each σ_1 and σ_2 for any $\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in \Phi$. Also, we call Φ to be *finite* if $|\Phi| < \infty$.

Next, we review the definition of the \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme associated with a cone [\mathbb{B} 9, §2.1]. Let N be a lattice and σ be a cone in $N_{\mathbb{R}}$. Let $N^{\vee} := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(N, \mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}^r$ be the dual of N and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle \colon N^{\vee} \times N \to \mathbb{Z}$ be the natural pairing. We define the dual of σ by $\sigma^{\vee} := \{u \in N^{\vee} \otimes \mathbb{R} \mid \forall v \in \sigma, \langle u, v \rangle \geq 0\}$. Put $A_{\sigma} := \sigma^{\vee} \cap N^{\vee}$. Then, we have the scheme $\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[A_{\sigma}]$ of finite type over \mathbb{Z} and the monoid scheme $\operatorname{spec} A_{\sigma}$. The \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme \mathcal{X}_{σ} associated with the cone σ is defined as the \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme satisfying that the geometric realisation of $\mathcal{X}_{\sigma}|_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ is $X_{\sigma}^{\mathfrak{M}_0} := \operatorname{spec} A_{\sigma}$ and that of $\mathcal{X}_{\sigma}|_{\mathfrak{C}\mathfrak{M}_{\operatorname{ing}}}$ is $X_{\sigma}^{\mathbb{Z}} := \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[A_{\sigma}]$. Since A_{σ} is finitely generated, the \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme \mathcal{X}_{σ} is Noetherian.

Lastly, we review the definition of the \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme associated with a fan [39, §2.1]. Let Φ be a finite fan in $N_{\mathbb{R}}$. An inclusion $\tau \subset \sigma$ of cones induces an open immersions spec $A_{\tau} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{spec} A_{\sigma}$ and $\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[A_{\tau}] \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[A_{\sigma}]$. We define the monoid scheme and the scheme associated with the fan Φ by

$$X_{\Phi}^{\mathfrak{M}_{0}} := \varinjlim_{\sigma \in \Phi} \operatorname{spec} A_{\sigma}, \quad X_{\Phi}^{\mathbb{Z}} := \varinjlim_{\sigma \in \Phi} \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[A_{\sigma}],$$

and we call $(X_{\Phi}^{\mathbb{Z}}, \Phi)$ the *toric variety* of the fan Φ of dimension r. The \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme \mathcal{X}_{Φ} associated with Φ is the \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme satisfying that the geometric realisation of $\mathcal{X}_{\Phi}|_{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ is $X_{\Phi}^{\mathfrak{M}_0}$ and that of $\mathcal{X}_{\Phi}|_{\mathfrak{CMing}}$ is $X_{\Phi}^{\mathbb{Z}}$. Since Φ is finite and spec A_{σ} is Noetherian, \mathcal{X}_{Φ} is Noetherian.

Deitmar calculated the counting functions of the schemes associated with cones and finite fans, which are equal to the counting functions of the \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme associated with them. Hereinafter, let N be a lattice of dimension r, σ be a cone in $N_{\mathbb{R}}$ and Φ be a finite fan in $N_{\mathbb{R}}$. Let \mathcal{X}_{σ} (resp. \mathcal{X}_{Φ}) be the \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme associated with σ (resp. Φ).

Proposition 3.3.3 (Deitmar [II], Proposition 4.3]). In the above setting, the counting functions $N_{\chi_{\sigma}}$ and $N_{\chi_{\Phi}}$ are

$$N_{\mathcal{X}_{\sigma}}(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\dim \sigma} i^{\sigma}_{\dim \sigma-k}(t-1)^{k} = \sum_{j=0}^{\dim \sigma} \left(\sum_{k=j}^{\dim \sigma} (-1)^{k-j} \binom{k}{j} i^{\sigma}_{\dim \sigma-k} \right) t^{j}$$

and

$$N_{\mathcal{X}_{\Phi}}(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{r} i_{r-k}^{\Phi} (t-1)^{k} = \sum_{j=0}^{r} \left(\sum_{k=j}^{r} (-1)^{k-j} \binom{k}{j} i_{r-k}^{\Phi} \right) t^{j},$$

where $i_k^{\sigma} := \#\{\eta \prec \sigma \mid \dim \eta = k\}$ and $i_k^{\Phi} := \#\{\tau \in \Phi \mid \dim \tau = k\}.$

Example 3.3.4 ([49, Example 5.4]). By Proposition 3.3.3, the absolute zeta functions of \mathcal{X}_{σ} and \mathcal{X}_{Φ} are

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{X}_{\sigma}/\mathbb{F}_{1}}(s) = \prod_{j=0}^{\dim \sigma} (s-j)^{\sum_{k=j}^{\dim \sigma} (-1)^{k-j} \binom{k}{j} i_{\dim \sigma-k}^{\sigma}},$$
$$\zeta_{\mathcal{X}_{\Phi}/\mathbb{F}_{1}}(s) = \prod_{j=0}^{r} (s-j)^{\sum_{k=j}^{r} (-1)^{k-j} \binom{k}{j} i_{r-k}^{\Phi}},$$

where i_k^{σ} and i_k^{Φ} are defined in Proposition **533**. Using the homomorphism M_n (Corollary **517**), we can easily obtain the absolute Euler products of those absolute zeta functions. Since $N_{\mathcal{X}_{\sigma}}(1) = 1$ and $N_{\mathcal{X}_{\Phi}}(1) = i_r^{\Phi}$ by Proposition **533**, we have the absolute Euler products

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{X}_{\sigma}/\mathbb{F}_{1}}(s) = \frac{1}{s} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^{n} \right)^{-\sum_{j=0}^{\dim\sigma} \left(\sum_{k=j}^{\dim\sigma} (-1)^{k-j} {k \choose j} i_{\dim\sigma-k}^{\sigma} \right) \kappa_{j}(n)},$$

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{X}_{\Phi}/\mathbb{F}_{1}}(s) = \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^{\#I_{r}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^{n} \right)^{-\sum_{j=0}^{r} \left(\sum_{k=j}^{r} (-1)^{k-j} {k \choose j} i_{r-k}^{\Phi} \right) \kappa_{j}(n)},$$

and $\zeta_{\mathcal{X}_{\sigma}/\mathbb{F}_{1}}(s)$ (resp. $\zeta_{\mathcal{X}_{\Phi}/\mathbb{F}_{1}}(s)$) converges absolutely for $|s| > \dim \sigma$ (resp. |s| > r).

Chapter 4

Analytic properties of absolute zeta functions

In this chapter, we prove the second main result of this thesis. That is, we show three analytic properties of absolute zeta functions: the series expansion, the integral formula, and the absolute Euler product. In this chapter, we take the branch of log s with the branch cut along $\mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]$, and define $s^w := e^{w \log s}$ for $s, w \in \mathbb{C}$.

In the previous chapter, we studied the absolute Euler product of the absolute zeta functions for \mathbb{F}_1 -schemes defined by Connes and Consani and introduced the homomorphism $M_n: \mathbb{Z}[t] \to \mathbb{Z}$ in Definition BIG. This morphism can be easily generalised to the morphism $\mathbb{Z}[t, t^{-1}] \to \mathbb{Z}$. Putting $f(t) := \sum_{j=-d_-}^{d_+} a_j t^j \in \mathbb{Z}[t, t^{-1}]$ $(d_{\pm} \in \mathbb{N}_0)$, we define $\mathcal{D}: \mathbb{Z}[t, t^{-1}] \to \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}_0}$ by $\mathcal{D}(f) := \{\alpha_n(f)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$, where

$$\alpha_n(f) := \left(t \frac{d}{dt} \right)^n f(t) \bigg|_{t=1} = \sum_{j=-d_-}^{d_+} a_j j^n,$$

and the linear map $\mathcal{M} \colon \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}_0} \to \mathbb{Z}^{\mathbb{N}_0}$ by $\mathcal{M}(\alpha)_0 := \alpha_0$ and

$$\mathcal{M}(\alpha)_n := \frac{1}{n} \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \alpha_m \quad (n \in \mathbb{N})$$

for an integer sequence $\alpha = \{\alpha_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$. Then, we define $M_n \colon \mathbb{Z}[t, t^{-1}] \to \mathbb{Z}$ by

$$M_n(f) := (\mathcal{M} \circ \mathcal{D}(f))_n = \sum_{j=-d_-}^{d_+} a_j \kappa_j(n).$$

Thus, we have the following series expression.

Proposition 4.0.1. For $f(t) := \sum_{j=-d_{-}}^{d_{+}} a_{j}t^{j} \in \mathbb{Z}[t, t^{-1}]$, we put

$$\zeta_f(s) := s^{-M_0(f)} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - s^{-n})^{-M_n(f)} \in \mathbb{Q}[\![s^{-1}]\!]$$

Then, it holds that in $\mathbb{Q}[\![s^{-1}]\!]$

$$\frac{\zeta_f'(s)}{\zeta_f(s)} = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\left(t \frac{d}{dt} \right)^{n-1} f(t) \bigg|_{t=1} \right) s^{-n} = -\left(s - t \frac{d}{dt} \right)^{-1} f(t) \bigg|_{t=1}$$

In particular, the left-hand side lies in $\mathbb{Z}[\![s^{-1}]\!]$. Moreover, the series in the middle converges absolutely at least for $|s| > \max\{d_+, d_-\}$.

Proof. Since

$$\frac{d}{ds}\log(1-s^{-n}) = \frac{ns^{-n-1}}{1-s^{-n}} = \frac{n}{s^{n+1}-s},$$

we have

$$\frac{\zeta_f'(s)}{\zeta_f(s)} = -\frac{f(1)}{s} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{nM_n(f)}{s^{n+1} - s} = -\frac{1}{s} \left(f(1) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{nM_n(f)}{s^n - 1} \right)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{s} \left(f(1) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nM_n(f) \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{s^{nm}} \right) = -\frac{1}{s} \left(f(1) + \sum_{N=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{s^N} \sum_{n|N} nM_n(f) \right).$$

Here, it holds that

$$\sum_{n|N} nM_n(f) = \sum_{n|N} \sum_{j=-d_-}^{d_+} a_j n\kappa_j(n) = \sum_{n|N} \sum_{j=-d_-}^{d_+} a_j \sum_{k|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{k}\right) j^k$$
$$= \sum_{j=-d_-}^{d_+} a_j \sum_{n|N} \sum_{k|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{k}\right) j^k \stackrel{(*)}{=} \sum_{j=-d_-}^{d_+} a_j j^N = \left(t\frac{d}{dt}\right)^N f(t) \bigg|_{t=1}$$

by applying the Möbius inversion formula to (*). Therefore, we have

$$\frac{\zeta_f'(s)}{\zeta_f(s)} = -\frac{1}{s} \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} \left(\left(t \frac{d}{dt} \right)^N f(t) \bigg|_{t=1} \right) \frac{1}{s^N} = -\sum_{N=1}^{\infty} \left(\left(t \frac{d}{dt} \right)^{N-1} f(t) \bigg|_{t=1} \right) \frac{1}{s^N}.$$

For $|s| > \max\{d_+, d_-\}$, it holds that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\left(t \frac{d}{dt} \right)^{n-1} f(t) \right|_{t=1} \right) \frac{1}{s^n} \right| &\leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left| \left(\sum_{j=-d_-}^{d_+} a_j j^{n-1} \right) \frac{1}{s^n} \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{j=-d_-}^{d_+} \frac{|a_j|}{|s|} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{j^{n-1}}{|s|^{n-1}} = \sum_{j=-d_-}^{d_+} \frac{|a_j|}{|s|} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{j}{|s|}} < \infty. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, the series converges for $|s| > \max\{d_+, d_-\}$.

In the following sections, we generalise these simple observations to a certain class of analytic functions.

4.1 The class \mathcal{A} of analytic functions

Before stating the main results, we introduce a commutative \mathbb{C} -algebra consisting of analytic functions on $[1, \infty)$ with a nice condition.

Definition 4.1.1. Let d > 0. We define \mathcal{A}_d by the set of analytic functions on $[1, \infty)$ satisfying that there exists C > 0 such that for any $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$

$$|\alpha_n(f)| \le Cd^n$$

where

$$\alpha_n(f) := \left. \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right)^n f(e^x) \right|_{x=0} = \left. \left(t \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \right)^n f(t) \right|_{t=1}$$

for each $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. We define $\mathcal{A} := \bigcup_{d>0} \mathcal{A}_d$.

Remark 4.1.2. The class \mathcal{A} requires that f is defined at t = 1. Therefore, functions with a pole at t = 1 such as the function whose absolute zeta function is Barnes' multiple gamma function are not included in \mathcal{A} .

Example 4.1.3. We easily see that $t^{\rho} \in \mathcal{A}_{|\rho|}$ ($\rho \in \mathbb{C}$). Let $c \in \mathbb{C}$ be a constant. Then, we also see that c, $\log t \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ for any $\varepsilon > 0$.

Proposition 4.1.4. The classes \mathcal{A}_d 's satisfy the following properties:

- If $0 < d_1 < d_2$, then it holds that $\mathcal{A}_{d_1} \subset \mathcal{A}_{d_2}$.
- Let $f \in \mathcal{A}_{d_1}$, $g \in \mathcal{A}_{d_2}$. Then, we have $f + g \in \mathcal{A}_{\max\{d_1, d_2\}}$, $fg \in \mathcal{A}_{d_1+d_2}$.

Therefore, \mathcal{A} is a continuously filtered commutative \mathbb{C} -algebra.

Proof. Let $d_1 < d_2$. For $f \in \mathcal{A}_{d_1}$, there exists C > 0 such that

$$|\alpha_n(f)| \le Cd_1^n < Cd_2^n$$

for any $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Thus, it follows that $f \in \mathcal{A}_{d_2}$.

Let $f \in \mathcal{A}_{d_1}, g \in \mathcal{A}_{d_2}$. Then, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \exists C_1 > 0, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}_0, \quad |\alpha_n(f)| \le C_1 d_1^n, \\ \exists C_2 > 0, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}_0, \quad |\alpha_n(g)| \le C_2 d_2^n. \end{aligned}$$

Since $\alpha_n(\cdot)$ has the linearity $\alpha_n(f+g) = \alpha_n(f) + \alpha_n(g)$ by definition, it holds that

$$|\alpha_n(f+g)| \le C_1 d_1^n + C_2 d_2^n \le (C_1 + C_2) (\max\{d_1, d_2\})^n.$$

Thus, we have $f + g \in \mathcal{A}_{\max\{d_1, d_2\}}$. Since

$$\alpha_n(fg) = \sum_{m=0}^n \binom{n}{m} \alpha_m(f) \alpha_{n-m}(g)$$

by the Leibniz rule, it holds that

$$|\alpha_n(fg)| \le \sum_{m=0}^n \binom{n}{m} \cdot C_1 d_1^m \cdot C_2 d_2^{n-m} = C_1 C_2 (d_1 + d_2)^n$$

by the Leibniz rule. Thus, we have $fg \in \mathcal{A}_{d_1+d_2}$.

Example 4.1.5. For a finite subset Φ of \mathbb{C} , it holds that

$$\sum_{\rho \in \Phi} c_{\rho} t^{\rho} \in \mathcal{A}_{\max_{\rho \in \Phi} |\rho|} \quad (c_{\rho} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}),$$

since $t^{\rho} \in \mathcal{A}_{|\rho|}$ by Example 4.1.3. Moreover, it holds that $t \log t \in \mathcal{A}_{1+\varepsilon}$ for any $\varepsilon > 0$, since $t \in \mathcal{A}_1$ and $\log t \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ by Example 4.1.3.

Example 4.1.6 (cf. Kurokawa [30, Theorem 2.1] [31, §5.2, p. 56]). Let $n_{\pm} \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and put $f_A(t) := \operatorname{Tr}(t^{A_+}) - \operatorname{Tr}(t^{A_-}) + a$, where $A = (A_+, A_-, a) \in M_{n_+}(\mathbb{C}) \times M_{n_-}(\mathbb{C}) \times \mathbb{C}$. Since it holds that

$$f_A(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{n_+} t^{\lambda_j^+} - \sum_{j=1}^{n_-} t^{\lambda_j^-} + a,$$

where $\lambda_1^{\pm}, \ldots, \lambda_{n_{\pm}}^{\pm}$ are eigenvalues of A_{\pm} , we have $f_A \in \mathcal{A}_{\max\{\rho(A_+), \rho(A_-)\}}$, where $\rho(A_{\pm})$ is the spectral radius of A_{\pm} .

Remark 4.1.7 (Manin [36, p. 134]). Set $f_1(t) := (1 - t^{-1})^{-1}$. Then, it holds that $\zeta_{f_1}(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \Gamma(s)$ as in Example [116]. Here, the equality

$$f_1(t) = \frac{1}{1 - t^{-1}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} t^{-n},$$

suggests that f_1 is derived from the trace of a trace class operator whose eigenvalues are all non-negative (or non-positive) integers. This is compatible with Manin's suggestion that $\zeta_{f_1}(s)$ is the zeta function of "the dual infinite dimensional projective space over \mathbb{F}_1 ".

By Example 416, it holds that

$$\zeta_{f_A}(s) = s^{-a} \frac{\det(sI_{n_-} - A_-)}{\det(sI_{n_+} - A_+)} = s^{-f_A(1)} \frac{\det(I_{n_-} - s^{-1}A_-)}{\det(I_{n_+} - s^{-1}A_+)}.$$
(4.1)

In joint work with Y. Hirakawa, we found that some functions which have been classically investigated such as congruent zeta functions and Ihara zeta functions are absolute zeta functions by using this example.

Let X be a smooth projective variety over \mathbb{F}_q . By the Weil conjecture (see e.g. Hartshorne [22, p. 450]), there exist a finite subset $\Phi(X/\mathbb{F}_q)$ of \mathbb{C} and a map $m: \Phi(X/\mathbb{F}_q) \to \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ such that

$$Z(X/\mathbb{F}_q, u) = \prod_{\lambda \in \Phi(X/\mathbb{F}_q)} (1 - \lambda u)^{-m(\lambda)}.$$
(4.2)

Setting

$$A_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}^+ := \bigoplus_{\substack{\lambda \in \Phi(X/\mathbb{F}_q) \\ m(\lambda) > 0}} \bigoplus_{j=1}^{m(\lambda)} (\lambda) \quad \text{and} \quad A_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}^- := \bigoplus_{\substack{\lambda \in \Phi(X/\mathbb{F}_q) \\ m(\lambda) < 0}} \bigoplus_{j=1}^{-m(\lambda)} (\lambda),$$

where \oplus is the direct sum of matrices. By Equation (\blacksquare), we have the following.

Corollary 4.1.8. Under the above notations, the congruent zeta function of X is expressed by an absolute zeta function as follows:

$$Z(X/\mathbb{F}_q, q^{-s}) = q^{\chi_{top}(X)s} \zeta_{f_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}}(q^s)$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \dim X$, where $\chi_{\operatorname{top}}(X)$ is the Euler characteristic of X and

$$f_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}(t) := f_{\left(A_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}^+, A_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}^-, 0\right)}(t) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(t^{A_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}^+}\right) - \operatorname{Tr}\left(t^{A_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}^-}\right) = \sum_{\lambda \in \Phi(X/\mathbb{F}_q)} m(\lambda) t^{\lambda}.$$

Proof. This follows from Equation (4.1), Equation (4.2) and the equality $f_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}(1) = \chi_{top}(X)$, since

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \Phi(X/\mathbb{F}_q)} m(\lambda) = \sum_{i=1}^{2 \dim X} \sum_{\substack{\lambda \in \Phi(X/\mathbb{F}_q) \\ |\lambda| = q^{\frac{i}{2}}}} (-1)^i = \sum_{i=1}^{2 \dim X} (-1)^i b_i = \chi_{\mathrm{top}}(X),$$

where b_i is the *i*th-Betti number of X.

Let G = (V, E) be a finite connected graph without degree-1 vertices. The *Ihara* zeta function of G is defined by

$$Z_G(u) := \prod_{P \in \operatorname{Prim}(G)} \left(1 - u^{l(P)}\right)^{-1},$$

where Prim(G) is the set of primes (equivalent classes of primitive closed paths) in G and l(P) is the length of a path P (see e.g. Terras [47, Definition 2.2]). It is known that the Ihara zeta function has the following two-term determinant formula:

$$Z_G(u) = \det (I - uW_1)^{-1}, \qquad (4.3)$$

where $W_1 \in M_{2|E|}(\mathbb{Z})$ is the edge adjacency matrix of G [4]. Let $\Phi(G)$ be the set of eigenvalues of W_1 and $m(\lambda)$ be the multiplicity of each eigenvalue λ of W_1 . Then, we have the following by Equation (1.1).

Corollary 4.1.9. Under the above notations, the Ihara zeta function of G is expressed by an absolute zeta function as follows:

$$Z_G(u) = u^{-\chi_{top}(G)} \zeta_{f_G}(u^{-1})$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(u^{-1}) > \max_{\lambda \in \Phi(G)} |\lambda|$, where $\chi_{\operatorname{top}}(G) = |V| - |E|$ is the Euler characteristic of G and

$$f_G(t) := f_{(W_1,0,|V|-3|E|)}(t) = \operatorname{Tr}(t^{W_1}) + (|V|-3|E|) = \sum_{\lambda \in \Phi(G)} m(\lambda)t^{\lambda} + (|V|-3|E|).$$

Proof. This follows from Equation (13), Equation (11) and the equality $f_G(1) = \chi_{top}(G)$.

Example 4.1.10. Let $z \in \mathbb{C}$, $a \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}_{<0}$. Then, we put

$$\Phi^{\exp}(z, a, s) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{z^n}{(n-1)! \ (a+n)^s}.$$

This function converges locally uniformly absolutely for each $s \in \mathbb{C}$. Note that it was introduced by Hardy [21] and Boyadzhiev [5], who called it a *polyexponential*. Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and

$$P_k(t) := -t\Phi^{\exp}(-\log t, 0, k+1) = -t\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-\log t)^j}{j! \ j^k}.$$

By [2, p. 589] (the special case of Hoffman's identity [24, Theorem 4.2]), we have

$$-\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{j} \binom{n}{j} \frac{1}{j^{k}} = \sum_{0 < j_{1} \le \dots \le j_{k} \le n} \frac{1}{j_{1} \cdots j_{k}} =: H_{n}^{\star}(\{1\}^{k}),$$

where $H_n^{\star}(s_1, \ldots, s_k)$ is the multiple harmonic star sum. Thus, it holds that

$$P_k(e^x) = -\left(\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^m}{m!}\right) \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-x)^j}{j! \ j^k}\right) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{j+1} x^{m+j}}{m! \ j! \ j^k}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{j+1} x^n}{(n-j)! \ j! \ j^k} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^n}{n!} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{j+1} \binom{n}{j} \frac{1}{j^k} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^n}{n!} H_n^{\star}(\{1\}^k).$$

Since $H_n^{\star}(\{1\}^k) \leq (H_n)^k = O((\log n)^k)$, where $H_n := \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{k}$ is the *n*-th harmonic number, it holds that $P_k \in \mathcal{A}_{1+\varepsilon}$ for any $\varepsilon > 0$.

4.2 Series expansion at the infinity

The absolute zeta function $\zeta_f(s)$ of $f \in \mathcal{A}$ is defined if $\operatorname{Re}(s) \gg 1$ by definition. The following theorem gives the explicit region in which the absolute zeta function is defined. Also, its analytic continuation enables us to discuss whether a functional equation for $\zeta_f(s)$ holds or not. Moreover, this is a generalisation of Proposition 4000. **Theorem 4.2.1.** Let d > 0 and $f \in \mathcal{A}_d$.

(1) For $\operatorname{Re}(s) > d$, the absolute zeta function of f is

$$\zeta_f(s) = s^{-f(1)} \exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_n(f)}{ns^n}\right).$$

In particular, this can be analytically continued to a single-valued holomorphic function on $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid |s| > d\}$. Moreover, we have

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} s^{f(1)} \zeta_f(s) = 1$$

(2) For $\operatorname{Re}(s) > d$, the logarithmic derivative of the absolute zeta function $\zeta_f(s)$ is

$$\frac{\zeta_f'(s)}{\zeta_f(s)} = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_{n-1}(f) s^{-n}.$$

In particular, this can be analytically continued to a single-valued holomorphic function on $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid |s| > d\}$.

Proof. In this proof, we abbreviate $\alpha_n(f)$ to α_n . (1) It holds that

$$f(e^x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_n x^n}{n!}$$

by the definition of α_n . Since $f \in \mathcal{A}_d$, there exists C > 0 such that $|\alpha_n| \leq Cd^n$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. For $\operatorname{Re}(s) > d$ and $\operatorname{Re}(w) > 0$, it holds that

$$\begin{split} \int_0^\infty \left| \sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{\alpha_n x^n}{n!} e^{-sx} x^{w-1} \right| dx &\leq \int_0^\infty \sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{C d^n x^n}{n!} e^{-\operatorname{Re}(s)x} x^{\operatorname{Re}(w)} \frac{dx}{x} \\ &\leq C \int_0^\infty e^{-(\operatorname{Re}(s)-d)x} x^{\operatorname{Re}(w)} \frac{dx}{x} = \frac{C \,\Gamma(\operatorname{Re}(w))}{(\operatorname{Re}(s)-d)^{\operatorname{Re}(w)}} < \infty. \end{split}$$

By Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > d$ and $\operatorname{Re}(w) > 0$

$$Z_f(w,s) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(w)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_n}{n!} \int_0^{\infty} e^{-sx} x^{n+w} \frac{dx}{x} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(w)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_n}{n!} \frac{\Gamma(n+w)}{s^{n+w}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_n(w)_n}{n! \ s^{n+w}},$$

where $(w)_n := w(w+1)\cdots(w+n-1)$ is the Pochhammer symbol. If |s| > d and |w| < 1, it holds that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left| \frac{\alpha_n(w)_n}{n! \ s^{n+w}} \right| \le \frac{Ce^{\operatorname{Im}(w) \arg(s)}}{|s|^{\operatorname{Re}(w)}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{d^n}{|s|^n} \prod_{m=0}^{n-1} \frac{|w+m|}{m+1} < \frac{Ce^{\operatorname{Im}(w) \arg(s)}}{|s|^{\operatorname{Re}(w)}} \cdot \frac{1}{1 - \frac{d}{|s|}} < \infty$$

since |w + m| < m + 1 for each $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Therefore, $Z_f(w, s)$ can be analytically continued to |s| > d, $\{w \mid \operatorname{Re}(w) > 0\} \cup \{w \mid |w| < 1\}$. Then, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial w} Z_f(w,s) = \frac{\partial}{\partial w} \left(\frac{\alpha_0}{s^w} + w \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_n}{s^{n+w}} \prod_{m=1}^{n-1} \frac{w+m}{m+1} \right)$$
$$= -\frac{\alpha_0}{s^w} \log s + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_n}{s^{n+w}} \prod_{m=1}^{n-1} \frac{w+m}{m+1} + w \frac{\partial}{\partial w} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_n}{s^{n+w}} \prod_{m=1}^{n-1} \frac{w+m}{m+1} \right)$$

for |s| > d and |w| < 1. Since

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left| \frac{\alpha_n}{s^{n+w}} \prod_{m=1}^{n-1} \frac{w+m}{m+1} \right| \le \frac{Ce^{\operatorname{Im}(w)\arg(s)}}{|s|^{\operatorname{Re}(w)}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{d^n}{|s|^n} \prod_{m=0}^{n-1} \frac{|w+m|}{m+1} < \infty$$

for |s| > d and |w| < 1, it holds that

$$\left|\frac{\partial}{\partial w}\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\frac{\alpha_n}{s^{n+w}}\prod_{m=1}^{n-1}\frac{w+m}{m+1}\right)\right| < \infty$$

for |s| > d and |w| < 1. Since the derivative of the holomorphic function defined by a convergent series is given by the termwise differentiation and is particularly finite, we have

$$\log \zeta_f(s) = \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial w} Z_f(w, s) \right|_{w=0} = -\alpha_0 \log s + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_n}{n!} s^{-n} (n-1)! = -\alpha_0 \log s + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_n}{n} s^{-n}$$

for |s| > d and |w| < 1. Note that this can be analytically continued to a singlevalued holomorphic function on $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid |s| > d\} \setminus (-\infty, 0]$. Since $\log (s^{f(1)}\zeta_f(s)) = \log \zeta_f(s) + f(1) \log s$, it holds that

$$\log\left(s^{f(1)}\zeta_f(s)\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_n}{n} s^{-n}$$

and it can be analytically continued to $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid |s| > d\}$. Thus, the claim follows. Moreover, the statement $s^{f(1)}\zeta_f(s) \to 1$ $(s \to \infty)$ follows since

$$\left|\log\left(s^{f(1)}\zeta_f(s)\right)\right| = \left|\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_n(f)}{ns^n}\right| \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{Cd^n}{n|s|^n} \le \frac{Cd}{|s|-d} \longrightarrow 0 \quad (s \to \infty).$$

(2) By (1), it holds that

$$\frac{\zeta_f'(s)}{\zeta_f(s)} = \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \log \zeta_f(s) = -\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_n s^{-n-1}$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > d$. Moreover, since

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left| \alpha_{n-1} s^{-n} \right| = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left| \alpha_{n-1} \right| |s|^{-n} \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} C d^{n-1} |s|^{-n} = \frac{C}{d} \frac{d|s|^{-1}}{1 - d|s|^{-1}} = \frac{C}{|s| - d} < \infty$$

for |s| > d, the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_{n-1} s^{-n}$ converges absolutely for |s| > d.

Example 4.2.2. Let Φ be a finite subset of \mathbb{C} and put

$$f_{\Phi}(t) = \sum_{\rho \in \Phi} a_{\rho} t^{\rho} \quad (a_{\rho} \in \mathbb{Z}).$$

Since $f_{\Phi} \in \mathcal{A}_{\max_{\rho \in \Phi} |\rho|}$ by Example 4.1.5, it holds that

$$\frac{\zeta'_{f_{\Phi}}(s)}{\zeta_{f_{\Phi}}(s)} = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{\rho \in \Phi} a_{\rho} \rho^{n-1}\right) s^{-n}$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \max_{\rho \in \Phi} |\rho|$ by Theorem 4.2.1.

In particular, the counting function of an absolute Riemann surface of genus g

$$f_{\alpha}(t) := t - 2\sqrt{t} \sum_{k=1}^{g} \cos(\alpha_k \log t) + 1 = t - \sum_{k=1}^{g} \left(t^{\rho_k} + t^{\overline{\rho_k}} \right) + 1,$$

where $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_g) \in [0, \infty)^g$ and $\rho_k := \frac{1}{2} + \sqrt{-1}\alpha_k$, satisfies that

$$f_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \in \mathcal{A}_{\max\{1, |\rho_1|, \dots, |\rho_g|\}}.$$

By Theorem 4.2.1, we have

$$\zeta_{f_{\alpha}}(s) = \frac{1}{s^{2-2g}} \exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \sum_{k=1}^{g} (\rho_k^n + \overline{\rho_k}^n)\right) \frac{1}{ns^n}\right)$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \max\{1, |\rho_1|, \ldots, |\rho_g|\}$. Note that the Euler characteristic 2 - 2g of a Riemann surface of genus g appears in the exponent of $\frac{1}{s}$.

While the above examples are the series expansion of rational functions, the following functions have not been known as absolute zeta functions.

Example 4.2.3. By Example 4.1.10, it holds that $P_k(t) := -t\Phi^{\exp}(-\log t, 0, k+1) \in \mathcal{A}_{1+\varepsilon}$ for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and $P_k(1) = 0$. By the proof of Theorem 4.2.1, we have

$$\log \zeta_{P_k}(s) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{H_n^{\star}(\{1\}^k)}{ns^n} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{0 < j_1 \le \dots \le j_k \le n} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^n}{j_1 \cdots j_k n} = \sum_{|\boldsymbol{m}| = k+1} \operatorname{Li}_{\boldsymbol{m}} \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$, where $\boldsymbol{m} \in \mathbb{N}^r$ is a multi-index, $|\boldsymbol{m}| := \sum m_i$ is its weight, and

$$\operatorname{Li}_{\boldsymbol{m}}(z) := \sum_{0 < n_1 < \dots < n_r} \frac{z^{n_r}}{n_1^{m_1} \cdots n_r^{m_r}}$$

is the multiple polylogarithm. Therefore, the absolute zeta function of P_k is

$$\zeta_{P_k}(s) = \prod_{|\boldsymbol{m}|=k+1} \exp\left(\operatorname{Li}_{\boldsymbol{m}}\left(\frac{1}{s}\right)\right)$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$. Moreover, it holds that

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_{P_k}^{\prime}(s) &= -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{H_n^{\star}(\{1\}^k)}{s^{n+1}} = -\frac{1}{s} \sum_{0 < j_1 \le \dots \le j_k \le n} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^n}{j_1 \cdots j_k} \\ &= -\frac{1}{s} \sum_{0 < j_1 \le \dots \le j_k} \frac{1}{j_1 \cdots j_k} \sum_{n=j_k}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^n = -\frac{1}{s} \sum_{0 < j_1 \le \dots \le j_k} \frac{1}{j_1 \cdots j_k} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^{j_k}}{1 - \frac{1}{s}} \\ &= -\frac{1}{s \left(1 - \frac{1}{s}\right)} \sum_{0 < j_1 \le \dots \le j_k} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^{j_k}}{j_1 \cdots j_k} = \frac{1}{1 - s} \sum_{|\mathbf{m}| = k} \operatorname{Li}_{\mathbf{m}} \left(\frac{1}{s}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Example 4.2.4. Put $f(t) = t \log t$. By Example 4.1.5, it holds that $f \in \mathcal{A}_{1+\varepsilon}$ for any $\varepsilon > 0$. Since $\alpha_0(f) = f(1) = 0$ and $\alpha_n(f) = n$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, it holds that

$$\zeta_f(s) = \exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n}{ns^n}\right) = \exp\left(\frac{1}{s-1}\right) = \exp\left(\operatorname{Li}_0\left(\frac{1}{s}\right)\right).$$

This corresponds to " $\zeta_{P_{-1}}(s)$ " in Example 4.2.3. In addition, if f(t) = t - 1, then we have $\zeta_f(s) = \frac{s}{s-1} = \exp\left(-\log(1-\frac{1}{s})\right) = \exp\left(\operatorname{Li}_1(\frac{1}{s})\right)$. Thus, this corresponds to " $\zeta_{P_0}(s)$ " in Example 4.2.3.

4.3 Integral formula in the sense of Connes and Consani

Connes and Consani [8] proved the following integral formula of an absolute zeta function $\zeta_f^{\lim}(s)$.

Theorem 4.3.1 (Connes and Consani [8, Lemma 2.1] [9, Lemma 4.10]). Let $f: [1, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function satisfying that $|f(t)| \leq Ct^d$ for some C > 0 and $d \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, it holds that

$$\frac{(\zeta_f^{\lim})'(s)}{\zeta_f^{\lim}(s)} = -\int_1^\infty f(t)t^{-s}\frac{dt}{t} \left(= -\int_0^\infty f(e^x)e^{-sx}dx \right)$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > d$. Connes and Consani [9] called it the integral formula.

Remark 4.3.2. By the definition of $\zeta_f^{\lim}(s)$, it holds that

$$\frac{(\zeta_f^{\lim})'(s)}{\zeta_f^{\lim}(s)} = \lim_{q \to 1} \left(-\frac{\partial}{\partial s} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} f(q^m) \frac{q^{-ms}}{m} \right)$$

if we can interchange differentiation and integration. Note that Connes and Consani treated this as the definition of $\zeta_f^{\lim}(s)$. Thus, it is essential to prove

$$\lim_{q \to 1} \left(-\frac{\partial}{\partial s} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} f(q^m) \frac{q^{-ms}}{m} \right) = \int_1^{\infty} f(t) t^{-s} \frac{dt}{t}$$

in order to prove Theorem 4.3.1.

The following corollary is an analogy of Connes-Consani's integral formula and is the corollary of Theorem 4.2.1.

Corollary 4.3.3. Let d > 0 and $f \in A_d$. Then, it holds that

$$\frac{\zeta_f'(s)}{\zeta_f(s)} = -\int_0^\infty f(e^x)e^{-sx}dx = -\mathcal{L}[f \circ \exp](s)$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > d$, where \mathcal{L} is the Laplace transform.

Proof. Since $f \in \mathcal{A}_d$, there exists C > 0 such that $|\alpha_n(f)| \leq Cd^n$ for $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Since

$$\left| \int_0^\infty \sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{\alpha_n(f)x^n}{n!} e^{-sx} dx \right| \le \int_0^\infty \sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{Cd^n x^n}{n!} e^{-\operatorname{Re}(s)x} dx$$
$$= C \int_0^\infty e^{-(\operatorname{Re}(s)-d)x} dx = \frac{C}{\operatorname{Re}(s)-d} < \infty$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > d$, it holds that

$$\frac{\zeta'_f(s)}{\zeta_f(s)} = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_{n-1}(f) s^{-n} = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_{n-1}(f) \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_0^\infty e^{-sx} x^{n-1} dx$$
$$= -\int_0^\infty e^{-sx} \sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{\alpha_{n-1}(f) x^{n-1}}{(n-1)!} dx = -\int_0^\infty f(e^x) e^{-sx} dx$$

by Theorem 4.2.1 (2) and Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem.

The following proposition compares the assumption of Connes-Consani's integral formula (Theorem 4.3.1) with that of Corollary 4.3.3.

Proposition 4.3.4. Let $f \in C^{\omega}([1,\infty))$. If $f \in \mathcal{A}_d$, then there exists C > 0 such that $|f(t)| \leq Ct^d$.

Proof. Since $f \in \mathcal{A}_d$, there exists C > 0 such that $|\alpha_n(f)| \leq Cd^n$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Then, it holds that

$$|f(e^x)| = \left|\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_n(f)}{n!} x^n\right| \le C \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(dx)^n}{n!} = Ce^{dx}$$

for $x \in [0, \infty)$. Hence, we have $|f(t)| \leq Ct^d$ by substituting $e^x = t$.

Remark 4.3.5. The converse of Proposition 4.3.4 does not hold. For example, let $\frac{1}{2} \leq a < 1$ and $f(t) = \frac{t}{t-a}$. Then, it holds that $|f(t)| \leq \frac{1}{1-a}t^{\varepsilon}$ for any $\varepsilon > 0$. However, the inequality $|\alpha_n(f)| \leq Cd^n$ cannot hold for any C > 0 and d > 0. Indeed, it holds that

$$f(e^x) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} a^m \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-mx)^n}{n!} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-x)^n}{n!} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} a^m m^n = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n \operatorname{Li}_{-n}(a)}{n!} x^n,$$

where $\operatorname{Li}_m(z)$ is the polylogarithm, which is the multiple polylogarithm with r = 1 (cf. Example 4.2.3). Here, the order of $\operatorname{Li}_{-n}(a)$ is

$$\operatorname{Li}_{-n}(a) = \frac{1}{(1-a)^{n+1}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} A(n,k) a^{n-k} \ge \frac{a^n}{(1-a)^{n+1}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} A(n,k) \ge n!,$$

where A(n,k) is the Eulerian number, the number of permutations in \mathfrak{S}_n in which k elements are less than the previous elements. Thus, the absolute value of $\alpha_n(f)$ cannot be bound by Cd^n for any C, d > 0.

By Proposition 4.3.4, we can obtain the relation between an absolute zeta function of Soulé-Connes-Consani's type and that of Kurokawa's type.

Corollary 4.3.6. Let d > 0 and $f \in \mathcal{A}_d$ be a real-valued function. Then, we have

$$\frac{(\zeta_f^{\lim})'(s)}{\zeta_f^{\lim}(s)} = \frac{\zeta_f'(s)}{\zeta_f(s)}$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > d$. In particular, there exists $C \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ such that $\zeta_f^{\lim}(s) = C\zeta_f(s)$.

Proof. By Proposition 4.3.4, we can define $\zeta_f^{\lim}(s)$ for $f \in \mathcal{A}_d$. Therefore, by Theorem 4.3.1 and Corollary 4.3.3, we have

$$\frac{\zeta_f'(s)}{\zeta_f(s)} = -\int_0^\infty f(e^x)e^{-sx}dx = \frac{(\zeta_f^{\lim})'(s)}{\zeta_f^{\lim}(s)}.$$

Moreover, since $\frac{\partial}{\partial s} \log \left(\zeta_f^{\lim}(s) \zeta_f(s)^{-1} \right) = 0$, there exists $C \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ such that $\zeta_f^{\lim}(s) = C \zeta_f(s)$.

By Corollary 4.3.6, we see that $\zeta_f^{\lim}(s)$ and $\zeta_f(s)$ "nearly" coincide with each other at least if $f \in \mathcal{A}$. Hence, Corollary 4.3.3 gives another proof of Connes-Consani's integral formula (Theorem 4.3.1).

We may think that $\zeta_f^{\lim}(s)$ and $\zeta_f(s)$ always coincide with each other if a function f satisfies the conditions of Definition **L11** and Definition **L12**. However, this is not true as in the following example.

Example 4.3.7. Let a > 0 and $f, g \in \mathcal{A}$ be distinct two functions satisfying that $f(e^a) = g(e^a)$. Assume that $\frac{1}{s}f(e^{1/s})$ is not equal to $\int_0^\infty f(e^x)e^{-sx}dx$ for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 0$. We define

$$F(t) := \begin{cases} f(t) & \text{if } 1 \le t \le e^a, \\ g(t) & \text{if } e^a \le t. \end{cases}$$

For example, the case where a = 1, f(t) = -t + 2e and g(t) = t is one of the examples. This continuous function is not included in \mathcal{A} . By Theorem 4.3.1, we have

$$\frac{(\zeta_F^{\lim})'(s)}{\zeta_F^{\lim}(s)} = -\int_0^\infty F(e^x)e^{-sx}dx = -\int_0^a f(e^x)e^{-sx}dx - \int_a^\infty g(e^x)e^{-sx}dx.$$

On the other hand, we calculate $\zeta_F(s)$. It holds that

$$Z_F(w,s) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(w)} \left(\int_0^a \sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{\alpha_n(f)}{n!} e^{-sx} x^{n+w} \frac{dx}{x} + \int_a^\infty \sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{\alpha_n(g)}{n!} e^{-sx} x^{n+w} \frac{dx}{x} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{1}{n!} \left(\frac{\alpha_n(f)}{\Gamma(w)} \int_0^a e^{-sx} x^{n+w} \frac{dx}{x} + \frac{\alpha_n(g)}{\Gamma(w)} \int_a^\infty e^{-sx} x^{n+w} \frac{dx}{x} \right).$$

Here, we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial w} \left(\frac{1}{\Gamma(w)} \int_a^\infty e^{-sx} x^{n+w} \frac{dx}{x} \right) &= -\frac{\Gamma'(w)}{\Gamma(w)^2} \int_a^\infty e^{-sx} x^{n+w} \frac{dx}{x} \\ &+ \frac{1}{\Gamma(w)} \int_a^\infty e^{-sx} x^{n+w-1} \log x \, dx. \end{split}$$

Since $\Gamma(w) = \frac{1}{w} + O(1)$ $(w \to 0)$, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial w} \left(\frac{1}{\Gamma(w)} \int_{a}^{\infty} e^{-sx} x^{n+w} \frac{dx}{x} \right) \Big|_{w=0} = \int_{a}^{\infty} e^{-sx} x^{n} \frac{dx}{x}$$

Thus, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial}{\partial w} \left(\frac{1}{\Gamma(w)} \int_0^a e^{-sx} x^{n+w} \frac{dx}{x} \right) \Big|_{w=0} &= \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial w} \left(s^{-n-w} - \frac{1}{\Gamma(w)} \int_a^\infty e^{-sx} x^{n+w} \frac{dx}{x} \right) \Big|_{w=0} \\ &= -\frac{\log s}{s^n} - \int_a^\infty e^{-sx} x^n \frac{dx}{x}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, it holds that

$$\log \zeta_F(s) = \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial w} Z_F(w, s) \right|_{w=0}$$

= $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left(\alpha_n(f) \left(-\frac{\log s}{s^n} - \int_a^\infty e^{-sx} x^n \frac{dx}{x} \right) + \alpha_n(g) \left(\int_a^\infty e^{-sx} x^n \frac{dx}{x} \right) \right)$
= $-f(e^{1/s}) \log s - \int_a^\infty f(e^x) e^{-sx} \frac{dx}{x} + \int_a^\infty g(e^x) e^{-sx} \frac{dx}{x}.$

By differentiating $\log \zeta_F(s)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{\zeta_F'(s)}{\zeta_F(s)} &= -\frac{1}{s} f(e^{1/s}) + \int_a^\infty f(e^x) e^{-sx} dx - \int_a^\infty g(e^x) e^{-sx} dx \\ &= -\frac{1}{s} f(e^{1/s}) + \int_0^\infty f(e^x) e^{-sx} dx + \frac{(\zeta_F^{\lim})'(s)}{\zeta_F^{\lim}(s)}. \end{split}$$

Since $\frac{1}{s}f(e^{1/s})$ is not equal to $\int_0^\infty f(e^x)e^{-sx}dx$, we have

$$\frac{(\zeta_F^{\lim})'(s)}{\zeta_F^{\lim}(s)} \neq \frac{\zeta_F'(s)}{\zeta_F(s)}$$

This implies that $\zeta_F^{\lim}(s) \neq \zeta_F(s)$. Thus, this is an example of a function which satisfies the conditions of Definition **L11** and Definition **L12** but absolute zeta functions are different.

4.4 Absolute Euler products

According to the introduction of this chapter, each factor of the absolute Euler product of the absolute zeta function of a Laurent polynomial can be described by using the linear map $M_n: \mathbb{Z}[t, t^{-1}] \to \mathbb{Z}$. In this section, we generalise this map and give the absolute Euler product of the absolute zeta function of $f \in \mathcal{A}$.

4.4.1 Absolute Euler product in the case of $f \in A$

Definition 4.4.1. We define the map $\mathcal{M} \colon \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}_0} \to \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}_0}$ by $\mathcal{M}(a)_0 := a_0$ and

$$\mathcal{M}(a)_n := \frac{1}{n} \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) a_m \quad (n \in \mathbb{N})$$

for a sequence $a = \{a_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ of complex numbers. In particular, we put

$$\kappa_{\rho}(n) := \mathcal{M}(\{\rho^n\}_{n=0}^{\infty})_n$$

for $\rho \in \mathbb{C}$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Remark 4.4.2. The map $\mathcal{M} \colon \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}_0} \to \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}_0}$ is a linear map.

Definition 4.4.3. We define M_n by

$$\{M_n(f)\}_{n=0}^{\infty} := \mathcal{M}(\mathcal{D}(f))$$

for $f \in \mathcal{A}$, where $\mathcal{D} \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}_0}$ is defined by $\mathcal{D}(f) := \{\alpha_n(f)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$.

Remark 4.4.4. Since $\mathcal{M} \colon \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}_0} \to \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}_0}$ and $\mathcal{D} \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}_0}$ is linear, the map $M_n \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ is linear.

We can summarise the relationship between a function f, the coefficient $\alpha_n(f)$ of the Taylor series of $f(e^x)$, and the linear map M_n into the following diagram:



Kurokawa's core formula, Lemma **B21**, can be generalised as follows. Note that $\log(1-z) = -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{z^m}{m}$ for any $z \in \mathbb{D} := \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| < 1\}.$

Lemma 4.4.5. It holds that

$$\log(1-\rho u) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \kappa_{\rho}(n) \log (1-u^n) \in \mathbb{Q}\llbracket \rho, u \rrbracket.$$

Moreover, for $\rho \in \mathbb{C}$, the region of absolute convergence of the series in the righthand side is

$$\begin{cases} \left\{ u \in \mathbb{D} \mid |u| < \frac{1}{|\rho|} \right\} & \text{if } \rho \neq 0, 1, \\ \mathbb{C} & \text{if } \rho = 0, \\ \mathbb{D} & \text{if } \rho = 1. \end{cases}$$

Proof. If $\rho = 0$, then both sides become 0. If $\rho = 1$, then both sides become $\log(1-u)$ since $\kappa_1(n) = \delta_{1n}$. We may assume that $\rho \neq 0, 1$. Then, the equality as formal series holds since

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \kappa_{\rho}(n) \log(1-u^{n}) \stackrel{(*)}{=} -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{n\kappa_{\rho}(n)}{nk} u^{nk} \stackrel{(a)}{=} -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \left(\sum_{n|m} n\kappa_{\rho}(n)\right) u^{m}$$
$$= -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \left(\sum_{n|m} \sum_{l|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{l}\right) \rho^{l}\right) u^{m} \stackrel{(b)}{=} -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \rho^{m} u^{m}$$
$$= \log(1-\rho u)$$

by substituting m = nk in (a) and using the Möbius inversion formula in (b). Note that the equality (*) holds for $u \in \mathbb{D}$.

Next, we show that the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \kappa_{\rho}(n) \log(1-u^n)$ converges absolutely for $|u| < \min\left\{\frac{1}{|\rho|}, 1\right\}$. It holds that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\kappa_{\rho}(n) \log (1-u^{n})| \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{d|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{d}\right) \rho^{d} \right| \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{|u|^{nm}}{m} \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{|u|^{nm}}{nm} \sum_{d|n} |\rho|^{d} = \sum_{N=1}^{\infty} \frac{|u|^{N}}{N} \sum_{n|N} \sum_{d|n} |\rho|^{d}.$$

By [II, Theorem 13.12], there exists $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\sum_{d|n} 1 < n^{\frac{1}{2}}$ for each $n \geq n_0$. Hence, there exists C > 0 such that $\sum_{d|n} 1 < C\sqrt{n}$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, it holds that

$$\sum_{n|N} \sum_{d|n} |\rho|^d \le (\max\{|\rho|, 1\})^N \sum_{n|N} \sum_{d|n} 1 < C (\max\{|\rho|, 1\})^N \sum_{n|N} \sqrt{n}$$
$$\le C\sqrt{N} (\max\{|\rho|, 1\})^N \sum_{n|N} 1 < C^2 N (\max\{|\rho|, 1\})^N.$$

Thus, we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\kappa_{\rho}(n) \log (1-u^n)| \le C^2 \sum_{N=1}^{\infty} |u|^N \left(\max\{|\rho|,1\} \right)^N = \frac{C^2 |u| \max\{|\rho|,1\}}{1-|u| \max\{|\rho|,1\}} < \infty$$

since $|u| \max\{|\rho|, 1\} < 1$. Therefore, the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \kappa_{\rho}(n) \log(1-u^n)$ converges absolutely for $|u| < \min\left\{\frac{1}{|\rho|}, 1\right\}$.

Next, we show that the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \kappa_{\rho}(n) \log (1-u^n)$ does not converge absolutely for $|u| \ge \min\left\{\frac{1}{|\rho|}, 1\right\}$. If $|\rho| \le 1$, then the series $\log(1-u^n)$ does not converge absolutely since $|u| \ge 1$. We may assume that $|\rho| > 1$. It is sufficient to show that the series does not converge absolutely for $\frac{1}{|\rho|} \le |u| < 1$. By [II, Theorem 13.12], there exists $n_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\sum_{d|n} 1 < \frac{1}{2} |\rho|^{\frac{n}{2}}$ for $n \ge n_1$. Therefore, it holds that

$$|n\kappa_{\rho}(n)| \ge |\rho|^{n} - \left|\sum_{n \ne d|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{d}\right)\rho^{d}\right| \ge |\rho|^{n} - |\rho|^{\frac{n}{2}} \sum_{n \ne d|n} 1 > |\rho|^{n} - \frac{1}{2}|\rho|^{n} = \frac{|\rho|^{n}}{2}$$

for each $n \ge n_1$. Moreover, since |u| < 1 and $\frac{3}{2}x + \log(1-x) \ge 0$ at least for $0 < x \le \frac{1}{3}$, it holds that

$$|\log(1-u^n)| \ge |u|^n - \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \frac{|u|^{nm}}{m} \ge |u|^n - \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \frac{|u|^m}{m} = 2|u|^n + \log(1-|u|^n) \ge \frac{|u|^n}{2}$$

for $n \ge n_2 := \frac{\log 3}{\log |u|^{-1}}$. Therefore, since $|\rho| |u| \ge 1$, we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\kappa_{\rho}(n) \log (1-u^n)| \ge \sum_{n \ge \max\{n_1, n_2\}} \frac{|\rho|^n}{2n} \cdot \frac{|u|^n}{2} \ge \frac{1}{4} \sum_{n \ge \max\{n_1, n_2\}} \frac{1}{n} = \infty.$$

By Theorem 4.2.1, we obtain the logarithmic version of an absolute Euler product

$$s^{-M_0(f)} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-s^{-n})^{-M_n(f)}.$$

Theorem 4.4.6. Let d > 0 and $f \in A_d$. Then, the following statements hold.

(1) The series

$$S_f(s) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} M_n(f) \log (1 - s^{-n})$$

converges absolutely for $|s| > \max\{d, 1\}$.

(2) It holds that

$$\log \zeta_f(s) = -f(1)\log s - S_f(s)$$

for $|s| > \max\{d, 1\}$.

Proof. (1) Since $|M_n(f)| \leq \frac{1}{n} \sum_{l|n} |\alpha_l(f)| \leq \frac{C}{n} \sum_{l|n} d^l \leq C(\max\{d,1\})^n$, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left| M_n(f) \log \left(1 - s^{-n} \right) \right| &\leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{|M_n(f)|}{m|s|^{nm}} \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{|M_n(f)|}{|s|^{n+m-1}} \\ &\leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(\max\{d,1\})^n}{|s|^n} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{C}{|s|^{m-1}} = \frac{\frac{\max\{d,1\}}{|s|}}{1 - \frac{\max\{d,1\}}{|s|}} \frac{C}{1 - \frac{1}{|s|}} < \infty \end{split}$$

for $|s| > \max\{d, 1\}$. Thus, the series $S_f(s)$ converges absolutely in the region.

(2) By Theorem 4.2.1, it holds that

$$\frac{\zeta_f'(s)}{\zeta_f(s)} = -\sum_{N=1}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_{N-1}(f)}{s^N} = -\frac{1}{s} \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_N(f)}{s^N}$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > d$. Note that the region of absolute convergence of this series is $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid |s| > d\}$. Since it holds that

$$\sum_{n|N} nM_n(f) = \sum_{n|N} \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \alpha_m(f) = \alpha_N(f)$$

for each $N \in \mathbb{N}$ by the Möbius inversion formula, we have

$$\frac{\zeta_f'(s)}{\zeta_f(s)} = -\frac{1}{s} \left(\alpha_0(f) + \sum_{N=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{s^N} \sum_{n|N} nM_n(f) \right) = -\frac{1}{s} \left(\alpha_0(f) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nM_n(f) \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{s^{nm}} \right)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{s} \left(\alpha_0(f) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{nM_n(f)}{s^n - 1} \right) = -\frac{\alpha_0(f)}{s} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{nM_n(f)}{s^{n+1} - s}.$$

Since $\frac{d}{ds} \log(1 - s^{-n}) = \frac{ns^{-n-1}}{1 - s^{-n}} = \frac{n}{s^{n+1} - s}$, we have

$$\frac{\zeta_f'(s)}{\zeta_f(s)} = -\frac{\alpha_0(f)}{s} - \sum_{n=1}^\infty M_n(f) \frac{d}{ds} \log(1-s^{-n})$$
$$= \frac{d}{ds} \left(-\alpha_0(f) \log s - \sum_{n=1}^\infty M_n(f) \log\left(1-s^{-n}\right) \right)$$

for $|s| > \max\{d, 1\}$. Therefore, it holds that

$$\frac{d}{ds}\left(-\log\zeta_f(s) - \alpha_0(f)\log s - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} M_n(f)\log\left(1 - s^{-n}\right)\right) = 0.$$

Then, there exists a constant $C \in \mathbb{C}$ which is independent of s such that

$$\log \zeta_f(s) = -f(1)\log s - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} M_n(f)\log (1 - s^{-n}) + C$$

since $\alpha_0(f) = f(1)$. As $s \to \infty$ in $s \notin \mathbb{D}$, we have

$$C = \lim_{\substack{s \to \infty \\ s \notin \mathbb{D}}} \left(\log \zeta_f(s) + f(1) \log s \right) = \lim_{\substack{s \to \infty \\ s \notin \mathbb{D}}} \log \left(s^{f(1)} \zeta_f(s) \right) = 0$$

by Theorem 421(1).

4.4.2 Examples of absolute Euler products

Example 4.4.7. Let Φ be a finite subset of \mathbb{C} and put $d(\Phi) := \max_{\rho \in \Phi} |\rho|$ and

$$f_{\Phi}(t) = \sum_{\rho \in \Phi} a_{\rho} t^{\rho} \in \mathcal{A}_{d(\Phi)} \quad (a_{\rho} \in \mathbb{Z}).$$

Then, it holds that $M_0(f_{\Phi}) = f_{\Phi}(1) = \sum_{\rho \in \Phi} a_{\rho}$ and

$$M_n(f_\Phi) = \sum_{\rho \in \Phi} a_\rho \kappa_\rho(n)$$

for $n \in \mathbb{N}$. By Theorem 44.6, we have the absolute Euler product

$$\zeta_{f_{\Phi}}(s) = \prod_{\rho \in \Phi} (s-\rho)^{-a_{\rho}} = s^{-\sum_{\rho \in \Phi} a_{\rho}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-s^{-n})^{-\sum_{\rho \in \Phi} a_{\rho}\kappa_{\rho}(n)}$$

for $|s| > \max\{d(\Phi), 1\}$.

Example 4.4.8. Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$. By Example 4.1.10, it holds that

$$P_k(t) := -t\Phi^{\exp}(-\log t, 0, k+1) \in \mathcal{A}_{1+\varepsilon}$$

for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and $M_0(P_k) = P_k(1) = 0$. By Theorem 4.4.6, we have the absolute Euler product

$$\zeta_{P_k}(s) = \prod_{|\boldsymbol{m}|=k+1} \exp\left(\operatorname{Li}_{\boldsymbol{m}}\left(\frac{1}{s}\right)\right) = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-s^{-n})^{-M_n(P_k)}$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$, where

$$M_n(P_k) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) H_m^{\star}(\{1\}^k) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \sum_{0 < j_1 \le \dots \le j_k \le m} \frac{1}{j_1 \cdots j_k}$$

Example 4.4.9. Put $f(t) = t \log t$. By Example 4.15, it holds that $f \in \mathcal{A}_{1+\varepsilon}$ for any $\varepsilon > 0$. Since $f(e^x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{x^n}{(n-1)!}$, it holds that $M_0(f) = f(1) = 0$ and

$$M_n(f) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) m = \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \left(\frac{n}{m}\right)^{-1} = \prod_{\substack{p \in \mathbb{P} \\ p|n}} (1-p^{-1}).$$

Note that this is the "truncated" Euler product. By Theorem 4.4.6, we have the absolute Euler product

$$\zeta_f(s) = \exp\left(\operatorname{Li}_0\left(\frac{1}{s}\right)\right) = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-s^{-n})^{-\prod_{p|n}(1-p^{-1})}.$$

As we mentioned in Subsection $\square \square 2$, the validity of the name "absolute Euler product" has not been explained in previous work. In joint work with Y. Hirakawa, we found one of the reasons why the name is suitable using the Euler products of the congruent zeta function and the Ihara zeta function as follows.

As we mentioned in Subsection $\square \square$, it is well-known that the congruent zeta function of a smooth projective variety X over \mathbb{F}_q has the following Euler product representation for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > \dim X$:

$$Z(X/\mathbb{F}_q, q^{-s}) = \prod_{x \in |X|} \left(1 - \#k(x)^{-s} \right)^{-1} = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^{-sn})^{-\kappa(p,n;X)},$$

where |X| is the set of closed points of X and k(x) is the residue field of $x \in X$ and $\kappa(p, n; X)$ is the number of the closed points of X of degree n. Since $f_{X/\mathbb{F}_q} \in \mathcal{A}$ by Example 4.16, we have

$$Z(X/\mathbb{F}_q, q^{-s}) = q^{\chi_{\text{top}}(X)s} \zeta_{f_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}}(q^s) = q^{(\chi_{\text{top}}(X) - f_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}(1))s} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^{-sn})^{-M_n(f_{X/\mathbb{F}_q})}$$

by Corollary 418 and Theorem 446. Therefore, this absolute Euler product coincides with the Euler product by the following theorem.

Theorem 4.4.10. Let X be a smooth projective variety over \mathbb{F}_q . Under the same notation in corollary 4.1.8, it holds that

$$\chi_{top}(X) = f_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}(1) = n_+ - n_-$$

and

$$\kappa(p,n;X) = M_n(f_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(A_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}^+\right)^n - \operatorname{Tr}\left(A_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}^-\right)^n$$

Proof. The equality $\chi_{top}(X) = f_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}(1)$ follows from the proof of Corollary 4.1.8. We now show that $\kappa(p, n; X) = M_n(f_{X/\mathbb{F}_q})$. By the Lefschetz trace formula, it holds that

$$\alpha_m(f_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}) = \sum_{\lambda \in \Phi(X/\mathbb{F}_q)} m(\lambda)\lambda^m = \#X(\mathbb{F}_{q^m})$$

for any $m \in \mathbb{N}$. By the Möbius inversion formula, it holds that

$$nM_n(f_{X/\mathbb{F}_q}) = \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \#X(\mathbb{F}_{q^m}) = \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \sum_{l|m} l\kappa(l,n;X)$$
$$= \sum_{l|n} l\kappa(l,n;X) \sum_{\frac{m}{l}|\frac{n}{l}} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) = n\kappa(p,n;X)$$

for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

As we mentioned in Section \square , the Ihara zeta function of a finite connected graph G without degree 1 is defined as the infinite product running over primes in G, which corresponds to prime numbers in an Euler product. Hence, we may regard this infinite product as one of the Euler products. This product can be expressed by

$$Z_G(u) := \prod_{P \in \operatorname{Prim}(G)} \left(1 - u^{l(P)} \right)^{-1} = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - u^{-n})^{-\kappa(n;G)},$$

where Prim(G) is the set of primes in G, the integer l(P) is the length of a path Pand the integer $\kappa(n;G)$ is the number of primes in G of length n. Since $f_G \in \mathcal{A}$ by Example 416, we have

$$Z_G(u) = u^{-\chi(G)}\zeta_{f_G}(u^{-1}) = u^{-\chi(G) + f_G(1)} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - u^{-s_n})^{-M_n(f_G)}$$

by Corollary **4.1.8** and Theorem **4.4.6**. Therefore, this absolute Euler product coincides with the above Euler product by the following theorem.

Theorem 4.4.11. Let G be a finite connected graph without degree-1 vertices. Under the same notation in corollary 4.1.9, it holds that

$$\chi(G) = f_G(1) = |V| - |E|$$

and

$$\kappa(n;G) = M_n(f_G) = \operatorname{Tr}(W_1)^n$$

Proof. The equality $\chi(G) = f_G(1)$ follows from the proof of corollary 419. We now show that $\kappa(n; G) = M_n(f_G)$. It suffices to show that

$$\operatorname{Tr}(W_1)^m = \sum_{l|m} l\kappa(l;G)$$

due to the similar calculation in the proof of theorem 4.4.10. Let N_m be the number of closed paths of length m without backtracking or tails in G (cf. Terras [42, Definition 4.2]). Then, we have

$$\sum_{l|m} l\kappa(l;G) = N_m = \operatorname{Tr}(W_1)^m$$

since it holds that $N_m = \text{Tr}(W_1)^m$ (see e.g. Terras [47, p. 30]).

By the above examples, the absolute Euler products of the congruent zeta function and the Ihara zeta function coincide with their respective Euler products. Therefore, it is reasonable to call the infinite product the "absolute Euler product" or the \mathbb{F}_1 -theoretic Euler product from these points of view.

4.4.3 Region of absolute convergence of a certain absolute Euler product

Let $f \in \mathcal{A}$ and put

$$d(f) := \inf\{d > 0 \mid f \in \mathcal{A}_d\}.$$

In Theorem 446, the series

$$S_f(s) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} M_n(f) \log (1 - s^{-n})$$

converges absolutely at least for $|s| > \max\{d(f), 1\}$. We want to extend the region where $S_f(s)$ converges absolutely as wide as possible. Thus, we wonder if the region $|s| > \max\{d(f), 1\}$ is best possible or not.

According to [49, Corollary 3.10] (Corollary 3.17), if f is a polynomial, it holds that $d(f) = \deg f$ and the region of absolute convergence of $S_f(s)$ is $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid |s| > \deg f\}$. Like this case, we want to obtain the region of absolute convergence even in the case of $f \in \mathcal{A}$ and describe it by using information of f. The following theorem is an answer to this problem.

Theorem 4.4.12. Let Φ be a nonempty finite subset of \mathbb{C} and put $d(\Phi) := \max_{\rho \in \Phi} |\rho|$. Set $\lambda = \lambda_{\Phi} := \max \{ d(\Phi), 1 \}$ and

$$f_{\Phi}(t) := \sum_{\rho \in \Phi} c_{\rho} t^{\rho} \in \mathcal{A}_{d(\Phi)} \quad (c_{\rho} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}).$$

Put $\Phi_{\max} := \{\rho \in \Phi \mid |\rho| = \lambda\} =: \{\rho_1, \dots, \rho_l\}$ and $\theta_k := \frac{\operatorname{Arg} \rho_k}{2\pi}$. Assume the following technical conditions by sorting the order of ρ_1, \dots, ρ_l appropriately:

- (1) There exists $0 \leq r \leq l$ such that $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_r \in \mathbb{Q}$ and $\theta_{r+1}, \ldots, \theta_l \notin \mathbb{Q}$.
- (2) There exists $0 \le h \le \frac{l-r}{2}$ such that $\theta_{l-h+1} = -\theta_{l-2h+1}, \ldots, \theta_l = -\theta_{l-h}$.
- (3) $1, \theta_{r+1}, \ldots, \theta_{l-h}$ are linearly independent over \mathbb{Q} .
- (4) $c_{\rho_{l-h+1}}, \ldots, c_{\rho_l} \in \mathbb{R}.$

Then, the region of absolute convergence of $S_{f_{\Phi}}(s)$ is $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid |s| > \lambda_{\Phi}\}$.

$$\overbrace{\theta_1,\ldots,\theta_r}^{\in\mathbb{Q}}, \underbrace{\theta_{r+1},\ldots,\theta_{l-2h+1},\ldots,\theta_{l-h}}_{\& \ 1 \ \text{are linearly independent over } \mathbb{Q}} \xrightarrow{\notin\mathbb{Q}}, \underbrace{\theta_{l-h+1}}_{=-\theta_{l-2h+1}},\ldots, \underbrace{\theta_{l}}_{=-\theta_{l-h}}$$

Figure 4.1: The conditions (1) to (3) of Theorem 4.4.12

Remark 4.4.13. The integer r is the number of θ_j 's which are rational. The integer h is the number of θ_j 's whose opposite signs exist in $\{\theta_{r+1}, \ldots, \theta_l\}$. If r = l, then all $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_l$ are rational. If r = 0, then all $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_l$ are irrational. If h = 0, then the conditions (2) and (4) are omitted.

Remark 4.4.14. We can treat the counting function of an absolute Riemann surface in this theorem. In regarding its absolute zeta function as "the finite version of the Riemann zeta function" as we mentioned in Example [15], the real numbers $1, \operatorname{Im} \rho_1, \ldots, \operatorname{Im} \rho_l$ are expected to be linearly independent over \mathbb{Q} , which is called the Grand Simplicity Hypothesis (see e.g. Rubinstein and Sarnak [41], p. 176]). However, the claim that $1, \operatorname{Im} \rho_1, \ldots, \operatorname{Im} \rho_l$ are linearly independent over \mathbb{Q} is not equivalent to the condition that $2\pi, \operatorname{Arg} \rho_1, \ldots, \operatorname{Arg} \rho_l$ are linearly independent over \mathbb{Q} . Indeed, if $\rho = re^{\frac{2\pi\sqrt{-1}}{6}} \in \Phi_{\max}$, then $\operatorname{Arg} \rho = \frac{\pi}{3}$ and $\operatorname{Im} \rho = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}$.

The following lemma is essential to prove Theorem 4.4.12. We prove this lemma in Subsection 4.4.4.

Lemma 4.4.15. Put $e(\theta) := e^{2\pi\sqrt{-1}\theta}$. Let $l \ge 1$, $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_l \in \mathbb{R}$ and $c_1, \ldots, c_l \in \mathbb{C}$. Assume the following technical conditions which are the same as those in Theorem 4.4.12:

- (1) There exists $0 \leq r \leq l$ such that $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_r \in \mathbb{Q}$ and $\theta_{r+1}, \ldots, \theta_l \notin \mathbb{Q}$.
- (2) There exists $0 \le h \le \frac{l-r}{2}$ such that $\theta_{l-h+1} = -\theta_{l-2h+1}, \ldots, \theta_l = -\theta_{l-h}$.
- (3) $1, \theta_{r+1}, \ldots, \theta_{l-h}$ are linearly independent over \mathbb{Q} .
- (4) $c_{l-h+1}, \ldots, c_l \in \mathbb{R}.$

Then, if $(c_1, \ldots, c_l) \neq (0, \ldots, 0)$, then there exists $N \subset \mathbb{N}$ whose natural density is positive such that

$$\liminf_{n \in N} \left| \sum_{j=1}^{l} c_j e(n\theta_j) \right| > 0.$$

Remark 4.4.16. The condition (3) is an essential assumption. For example, we consider the case when l = 2, r = 0, h = 0, and $c_1 = -c_2 \neq 0$. If θ_1 and θ_2 satisfy that $1 + \theta_1 - \theta_2 = 0$, then $c_1 e(n\theta_1) + c_2 e(n\theta_2) = (c_1 + c_2)e(n\theta_1) = 0$. Thus, this is a counterexample of Lemma 4.4.15 without the condition (3).

Admitting the above key lemma, we prove Theorem 4.4.12.

Proof of Theorem 4.4.12. By Theorem 4.4.6, the series $S_{f_{\Phi}}(s)$ converges absolutely for $|s| > \lambda$. Now, we show that $S_{f_{\Phi}}(s)$ does not converge absolutely for $|s| \leq \lambda$. If $\lambda = 1$, that is, $|\rho| \leq 1$ for each $\rho \in \Phi$, then the series $\log(1 - s^{-n})$ does not converge absolutely for $|s| \leq \lambda = 1$. Thus, we may assume that $\lambda > 1$. It holds that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left| M_n(f_{\Phi}) \log \left(1 - s^{-n} \right) \right| = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{\rho \in \Phi} c_{\rho} \frac{n \kappa_{\rho}(n)}{\lambda^n} \right| \left| \frac{\lambda^n}{n} \log \left(1 - s^{-n} \right) \right|.$$

Since $\lambda > 1$, the set $\Phi_{\max} = \{\rho \in \Phi \mid |\rho| = \lambda\}$ is not empty. It holds that

$$\begin{split} &\left|\sum_{\rho\in\Phi}c_{\rho}\frac{n\kappa_{\rho}(n)}{\lambda^{n}}\right|\\ \geq \left|\sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}}c_{\rho}\left(\frac{\rho}{\lambda}\right)^{n}\right| - \left|\sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}}c_{\rho}\sum_{n\neq m|n}\frac{\mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right)\rho^{m}}{\lambda^{n}}\right| - \left|\sum_{\rho\in\Phi\setminus\Phi_{\max}}c_{\rho}\sum_{m|n}\frac{\mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right)\rho^{m}}{\lambda^{n}}\right|\\ \geq \left|\sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}}c_{\rho}e^{\sqrt{-1}n\arg\rho}\right| - \sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}}|c_{\rho}|\sum_{n\neq m|n}\frac{|\rho|^{m}}{\lambda^{n}} - \sum_{\rho\in\Phi\setminus\Phi_{\max}}|c_{\rho}|\sum_{m|n}\frac{|\rho|^{m}}{\lambda^{n}}.\end{split}$$

Here, we put

$$R_n := \sum_{\rho \in \Phi_{\max}} |c_{\rho}| \sum_{n \neq m|n} \frac{|\rho|^m}{\lambda^n} + \sum_{\rho \in \Phi \setminus \Phi_{\max}} |c_{\rho}| \sum_{m|n} \frac{|\rho|^m}{\lambda^n}.$$

By Lemma 4.4.15, there exists $N \subset \mathbb{N}$ whose natural density is positive such that

$$\liminf_{n \in N} \left| \sum_{\rho \in \Phi_{\max}} c_{\rho} e^{\sqrt{-1}n \arg \rho} \right| > 0.$$

Therefore, there exist M > 0, $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for each $n \in N \cap [n_0, \infty)$

$$\left|\sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}}c_{\rho}e^{\sqrt{-1}n\arg\rho}\right|>M.$$

Since $R_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, there exists $n_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $R_n < \frac{1}{2}M$ for each $n \ge n_1$. Hence, it holds that

$$\left|\sum_{\rho \in \Phi} c_{\rho} \frac{n\kappa_{\rho}(n)}{\lambda^{n}}\right| > \frac{1}{2}M$$

for each $n \in N \cap [\max\{n_0, n_1\}, \infty)$. Thus, we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left| M_n(f_{\Phi}) \log \left(1 - s^{-n} \right) \right| \ge \frac{1}{2} M \sum_{n \in N \cap [\max\{n_0, n_1\}, \infty)} \left| \frac{\lambda^n}{n} \log \left(1 - s^{-n} \right) \right| = \infty$$

by the similar argument of Lemma 44.5.

Example 4.4.17. Let $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_g) \in [0, \infty)^g$. Then, the counting function $f_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}$ of an absolute Riemann surface of genus g (cf. Example $\square \square$) coincides with

$$f_{\Phi}(t) = \sum_{\rho \in \Phi} a_{\rho} t^{\rho} = t - \sum_{k=1}^{g} \left(t^{\rho_k} + t^{\overline{\rho_k}} \right) + 1,$$

where $\rho_k := \frac{1}{2} + \sqrt{-1}\alpha_k$, $\Phi := \{0, 1, \rho_1, \dots, \rho_g, \overline{\rho_1}, \dots, \overline{\rho_g}\}$ and $a_0 = a_1 = 1$, $a_\rho = -1$ for $\rho \in \Phi \setminus \{0, 1\}$. By Example 44.7, it holds that

$$\zeta_{f_{\alpha}}(s) = s^{-(2-2g)} \left(1 - \frac{1}{s}\right)^{-1} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - s^{-n}\right)^{\sum_{k=1}^{g} \left(\kappa_{\rho_{k}}(n) + \kappa_{\overline{\rho_{k}}}(n)\right)}$$

for $|s| > \max\{d(\Phi), 1\}$.

Put $\theta_k := \frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Arg} \rho_k$ $(1 \le k \le 2g)$. If necessary, we sort the order of ρ_1, \ldots, ρ_g so that $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_r \in \mathbb{Q}$ and $\theta_{r+1}, \ldots, \theta_g \notin \mathbb{Q}$ for some $0 \le r \le g$. Put $\rho'_1 := 0, \rho'_2 := 1$, $\rho'_{k+2} := \rho_k$ $(1 \le k \le r), \ \rho'_{k+r+2} := \overline{\rho_k}$ $(1 \le k \le r), \ \rho'_{k+2r+2} := \rho_{k+r}$ $(1 \le k \le g - r), \ \alpha d \ \theta'_k := \frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Arg} \rho'_k$ $(1 \le k \le 2g + 2).$ Then, it holds that $\theta'_{k+g+r+2} = -\theta'_{k+2r+2}$ $(1 \le k \le g - r)$. By Theorem 44.12, if $1, \theta'_{2r+3}, \ldots, \theta'_{g+r+2}$ are linearly independent over \mathbb{Q} , then the region of absolute convergence of $S_{f_{\alpha}}(s)$ is $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid |s| > d(\Phi)\}$, where $d(\Phi) := \max\{1, |\rho_1|, \ldots, |\rho_g|\}$.

4.4.4 Proof of the key lemma

We use the following lemma to prove Lemma 44.15. Hereinafter, we put $\mathbb{T} := \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ and identify the interval $\left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right]$ with \mathbb{T} under the natural bijection $\varphi : \left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right] \to \mathbb{T}$. We define $\varphi_l : \left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right]^l \to \mathbb{T}^l$ by $\varphi_l(x) := (\varphi(x_1), \ldots, \varphi(x_l))$. Let $\iota : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{T}$ be the natural surjection and put $\psi := \varphi^{-1} \circ \iota$.

Lemma 4.4.18. Let $g := (\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_l) \in \mathbb{R}^l$ and define $R_g : \mathbb{T}^l \to \mathbb{T}^l$ by $R_g(x) := x + g$. Fix $0 < \delta < \frac{1}{2}$ and put $V_{\delta} := \{x \in \mathbb{T}^l \mid |\varphi_l^{-1}(x)| < \delta\}$. For $x \in \mathbb{T}^l$, put $N_{V_{\delta}}^g(x) := \{n \in \mathbb{N} \mid R_g^n(x) \in V_{\delta}\}$. If $1, \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_l$ are linearly independent over \mathbb{Q} , then it holds that

$$d(N^g_{V_{\delta}}(x)) = v_l \delta^l$$

for any $x \in \mathbb{T}^l$, where $d(N_{V_{\delta}}^g(x))$ is the natural density of $N_{V_{\delta}}^g(x)$ and $v_l := \frac{\pi^{\frac{l}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{l}{2}+1)}$.

Proof of Lemma 4.4.18. Fix $x_0 \in \mathbb{T}^l$. It holds that

$$d(N_{V_{\delta}}^{g}(x_{0})) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{1}{m} \#\{n \mid 1 \le n \le m, \ \mathbf{1}_{V_{\delta}}(R_{g}^{n}(x_{0})) = 1\}$$
$$= \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{1}{m} \sum_{n=1}^{m} \mathbf{1}_{V_{\delta}}(R_{g}^{n}(x_{0})),$$

where $\mathbf{1}_{V_{\delta}}$ is the indicator function of V_{δ} . Hereinafter, we show that

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{1}{m} \sum_{n=1}^m \mathbf{1}_{V_\delta}(R_g^n(x_0)) = v_l \delta^l$$

in a similar way to [IIS, Lemma 4.17]. For $0 < \eta < \delta$, we define the continuous function f_{η}^{\pm} : $\left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right]^{l} \rightarrow [0, 1]$ by

$$f_{\eta}^{-}(x) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } |x| \leq \delta - \eta, \\ \frac{\delta - |x|}{\eta} & \text{if } \delta - \eta \leq |x| \leq \delta, \\ 0 & \text{if } |x| \geq \delta, \end{cases}, \quad f_{\eta}^{+}(x) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } |x| \leq \delta, \\ \frac{(\delta + \eta) - |x|}{\eta} & \text{if } \delta \leq |x| \leq \delta + \eta, \\ 0 & \text{if } |x| \geq \delta + \eta. \end{cases}$$

Note that $f_{\eta}^{-}(\varphi_l^{-1}(x)) \leq \mathbf{1}_{V_{\delta}}(x) \leq f_{\eta}^{+}(\varphi_l^{-1}(x))$. Hence, it holds that

$$\frac{1}{m}\sum_{n=1}^{m}f_{\eta}^{-}(\varphi_{l}^{-1}(R_{g}^{n}(x))) \leq \frac{1}{m}\sum_{n=1}^{m}\mathbf{1}_{V_{\delta}}(R_{g}^{n}(x)) \leq \frac{1}{m}\sum_{n=1}^{m}f_{\eta}^{+}(\varphi_{l}^{-1}(R_{g}^{n}(x)))$$

for any $x \in \mathbb{T}^l$. Now, since $1, \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_l$ are linearly independent over \mathbb{Q} by the assumption, the irrational rotation R_g is uniquely ergodic according to Einsiedler and Ward [LS, Corollary 4.15]. Therefore, by [LS, Theorem 4.10 (3)], it holds that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{\eta}^{\pm}(\varphi_{l}^{-1}(R_{g}^{j}(x_{0}))) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^{l}} f_{\eta}^{\pm}(\varphi_{l}^{-1}(x)) dx = \int_{\left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right]^{l}} f_{\eta}^{\pm}(x) dx.$$

We have

$$\int_{|x| \le M} dx = \int_0^M r^{l-1} dr \cdot \int_0^\pi \sin^{l-2} \alpha_1 d\alpha_1 \cdot \dots \cdot \int_0^\pi \sin \alpha_{l-2} d\alpha_{l-2} \cdot \int_0^{2\pi} d\alpha_{l-1}$$
$$= \frac{M^l}{l} \cdot \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{l-1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{l}{2}\right)} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{l-2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{l-1}{2}\right)} \cdot \dots \cdot \frac{\Gamma(1)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{2}\right)} \left(\sqrt{\pi}\right)^{l-2} \cdot 2\pi = \frac{M^l}{l} \cdot \frac{2\pi^{\frac{l}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{l}{2}\right)} = v_l M^l$$

for any $M \in (0, \infty)$ by converting to polar coordinates. In a similar calculation, we have

$$\int_{|x| \le M} |x| dx = \frac{M^{l+1}}{l+1} \cdot lv_l$$

for any $M \in (0, \infty)$. Therefore, it holds that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right]^{l}} f_{\eta}^{-}(x) dx &= \int_{|x| \le \delta} f_{\eta}^{-}(x) dx \\ &= \int_{|x| \le \delta - \eta} dx + \frac{\delta}{\eta} \int_{\delta - \eta \le |x| \le \delta} dx - \frac{1}{\eta} \int_{\delta - \eta \le |x| \le \delta} |x| dx \\ &= v_{l} (\delta - \eta)^{l} + \frac{\delta}{\eta} \left(v_{l} \delta^{l} - v_{l} (\delta - \eta)^{l} \right) - \frac{1}{\eta} \frac{\delta^{l+1} - (\delta - \eta)^{l+1}}{l+1} \cdot l v_{l} \\ &= \frac{v_{l}}{\eta} \left(\delta^{l+1} - (\delta - \eta)^{l+1} \right) \left(1 - \frac{l}{l+1} \right) = v_{l} \delta^{l} + O(\eta). \end{split}$$

Similarly, we obtain

$$\int_{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)^{l}} f_{\eta}^{+}(x) dx = \frac{v_{l}}{\eta} \left((\delta + \eta)^{l+1} - \delta^{l+1} \right) \left(1 - \frac{l}{l+1} \right) = v_{l} \delta^{l} + O(\eta).$$

Therefore, it holds that

$$v_{l}\delta^{l} + O(\eta) = \int_{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right]^{l}} f_{\eta}^{-}(x)dx \leq \liminf_{m \to \infty} \frac{1}{m} \sum_{n=1}^{m} \mathbf{1}_{V_{\delta}}(R_{g}^{n}(x_{0}))$$
$$\leq \limsup_{m \to \infty} \frac{1}{m} \sum_{n=1}^{m} \mathbf{1}_{V_{\delta}}(R_{g}^{n}(x_{0})) \leq \int_{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right]^{l}} f_{\eta}^{+}(x)dx = v_{l}\delta^{l} + O(\eta).$$

As $\eta \to +0$, we have

$$\liminf_{m \to \infty} \frac{1}{m} \sum_{n=1}^m \mathbf{1}_{V_{\delta}}(R_g^n(x_0)) = \limsup_{m \to \infty} \frac{1}{m} \sum_{n=1}^m \mathbf{1}_{V_{\delta}}(R_g^n(x_0)) = v_l \delta^l.$$

Thus, we have $d(N_{V_{\delta}}^g) = v_l \delta^l$.

Now, we show Lemma 4415, which is the key to prove Theorem 4412.

Proof of Lemma 4.4.15. Put

$$S_n := \sum_{j=1}^l c_j e(n\theta_j).$$

We may assume that all $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_l$ are distinct and $\theta_j \in (-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}]$ for all $j \in \{1, \ldots, l\}$.

Assume that r = l, i.e. all $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_l$ are rational. Put $\overline{\text{Den}}\left(\frac{a}{b}\right) := b \in \mathbb{N}$ for an irreducible fraction $\frac{a}{b} \in \mathbb{Q}$ and $m = \text{gcd}\left(\text{Den}(\theta_1), \ldots, \text{Den}(\theta_l)\right)$. Putting $N_k := \{n \in \mathbb{N} \mid n \equiv k \mod m\}$ for $k \in \{0, \ldots, m-1\}$, it holds that

$$S_n = \sum_{j=1}^l c_j e(k\theta_j)$$

for each $k \in \{0, \ldots, m-1\}$ and $n \in N_k$. We show that $c_1 = \cdots = c_l = 0$ by induction, assuming that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{l} c_j e(k\theta_j) = 0$$

for all $k \in \{0, \ldots, m-1\}$. If l = 1, then we have $c_1 = 0$. Let $l \ge 2$. Since

$$e(\theta_l) \sum_{j=1}^{l} c_j e(k\theta_j) = 0, \quad \sum_{j=1}^{l} c_j e((1+k)\theta_j) = 0$$

for each $k \in \{0, \ldots, m-1\}$, the subtraction of both equations leads to the equality

$$\sum_{j=1}^{l-1} c_j \left(e(\theta_l) - e(\theta_j) \right) e(k\theta_j) = 0.$$

Since k is arbitrary, by the hypothesis of induction, it holds that

$$c_j \left(e(\theta_l) - e(\theta_j) \right) = 0$$

for $j \in \{1, \ldots, l-1\}$. Since $\theta_l \neq \theta_j$ and $\theta_j \in (-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}]$ for all $j \in \{1, \ldots, l-1\}$, we have $c_1 = \cdots = c_{l-1} = 0$. Thus, we have $c_l = 0$ since $c_l e(k\theta_l) = 0$ for each $k \in \{0, \ldots, m-1\}$.

Assume that $0 \leq r \leq l-1$. Put $m := \text{gcd}(\text{Den}(\theta_1), \dots, \text{Den}(\theta_r))$ and $x_j := \frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Arg} c_j$ for $j \in \{r+1, \dots, l-2h\}$. For $n \in m\mathbb{N}$, put n = mk for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, we have

$$|S_n| = \left| \sum_{j=1}^r c_j + \sum_{j=r+1}^{l-2h} c_j e(km\theta_j) + \sum_{j=l-2h+1}^{l-h} (c_j e(km\theta_j) + c_{j+h} e(-km\theta_j)) \right|$$
$$= \left| \sum_{j=1}^r c_j + \sum_{j=r+1}^{l-2h} |c_j| e(km\theta_j + x_j) + \sum_{j=l-2h+1}^{l-h} (c_j e(km\theta_j) + c_{j+h} e(-km\theta_j)) \right|.$$

Put $c_0 := \sum_{j=1}^r c_j$, $\theta'_j := \psi(m\theta_j)$ for $j \in \{r+1, \ldots, l-h\}$ and $g' := (\theta'_{r+1}, \ldots, \theta'_{l-h})$. Then, it is sufficient to show that if there exists $k_0 \in \{0, r+1, r+2, \ldots, l\}$ such that $c_{k_0} \neq 0$, then there exists a set $N \subset \mathbb{N}$ whose natural density is positive such that

$$\liminf_{n \in mN} |S_n| = \liminf_{k \in N} |S'_k|$$

:=
$$\liminf_{k \in N} \left| c_0 + \sum_{j=r+1}^{l-2h} |c_j| e(k\theta'_j + x_j) + \sum_{j=l-2h+1}^{l-h} \left(c_j e(k\theta'_j) + c_{j+h} e(-k\theta'_j) \right) \right| > 0.$$

Note that this includes the case when r = 0 by putting $c_0 = 0$.

If $c_0 = 0$ and $k_0 \in \{r + 1, ..., l - 2h\}$, then we may assume that $k_0 = r + 1$ by sorting the order of the labels. Since $c_{l-h+1}, ..., c_l \in \mathbb{R}$ by the assumption, we have

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(c_{j}e(k\theta_{j}')+c_{j+h}e(-k\theta_{j}')\right)$$

=
$$\operatorname{Re}\left((c_{j}+c_{j+h})e(k\theta_{j}')-c_{j+h}\left(e(k\theta_{j}')-e(-k\theta_{j}')\right)\right)$$

=
$$|c_{j}+c_{j+h}|\cos 2\pi(k\theta_{j}'+x_{j})+2|c_{j+h}|\sin \arg c_{j+h}\sin 2\pi k\theta_{j}'$$

=
$$|c_{j}+c_{j+h}|\cos 2\pi(k\theta_{j}'+x_{j}),$$

where $x_j := \frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Arg}(c_j + c_{j+h})$ for $j \in \{l - 2h + 1, \dots, l - h\}$. Hence, it holds that

$$|S'_k| \ge \left|\sum_{j=r+1}^{l-2h} |c_j| \cos 2\pi (k\theta'_j + x_j) + \sum_{j=l-2h+1}^{l-h} |c_j + c_{j+h}| \cos 2\pi (k\theta'_j + x_j)\right|.$$

Put $x := (\iota(x_{r+1}), \iota(x_{r+2} - \frac{1}{4}), \ldots, \iota(x_{l-h} - \frac{1}{4})) \in \mathbb{T}^{l-h-r}$. Since $1, \theta'_{r+1}, \ldots, \theta'_{l-h}$ are linearly independent over \mathbb{Q} by the assumption, the natural density of $N_{V_{\delta}}^{g'}(x)$ is positive for any $\delta > 0$ by Lemma 4.4.18. Therefore, we have $|R_{g'}^k(x)| < \delta$ for each $k \in N_{V_{\delta}}^{g'}(x)$. Since

$$\left|\psi\left(k\theta_{r+1}'+x_{r+1}\right)\right| < \delta, \quad \left|\psi\left(k\theta_{j}'+x_{j}-\frac{1}{4}\right)\right| < \delta \quad (j \in \{r+1,\ldots,l-h\})$$

for each $k \in N_{V_{\delta}}^{g'}(x)$, it holds that

 $|\cos 2\pi (k\theta'_{r+1} + x_{r+1})| > \cos \delta, \quad |\cos 2\pi (k\theta'_j + x_j)| = \left|\sin 2\pi \left(k\theta'_j + x_j - \frac{1}{4}\right)\right| < \sin \delta$ for each $j \in \{r+1, \dots, l-h\}$. Since $|c_{r+1}| = |c_{k_0}| > 0$, it holds that for a sufficiently

small $\delta > 0$ and any $k \in N_{V_{\delta}}^{g'}(x)$,

$$|S'_{k}| \ge |c_{r+1}| \left| \cos 2\pi (k\theta'_{r+1} + x_{r+1}) \right| - \sum_{j=r+2}^{l-2h} |c_{j}| \left| \cos 2\pi (k\theta'_{j} + x_{j}) \right| - \sum_{j=l-2h+1}^{l-h} |c_{j} + c_{j+h}| \left| \cos 2\pi k (k\theta'_{j} + x_{j}) \right| > |c_{r+1}| \cos \delta - \left(\sum_{j=r+2}^{l-2h} |c_{j}| + \sum_{j=l-2h+1}^{l-h} |c_{j} + c_{j+h}| \right) \sin \delta > 0.$$

Therefore, when $c_0 = 0$ and $k_0 \in \{r + 1, \dots, l - 2h\}$, we have

$$\liminf_{k\in N^{g'}_{V_\delta}(x)}|S'_k|>0$$

If $c_1 = 0$ and $k_0 \in \{l - 2h + 1, \ldots, l - h\}$, then we may assume that $k_0 = l - h$ by sorting the order of the labels, i.e. $c_{l-h} \neq 0$. Assume that $c_{l-h} \neq -c_l$. Then, we can show the desired inequality by a similar argument to the case when $k_0 \in \{r + 1, \ldots, l - 2h\}$ by taking $x \in \mathbb{T}^{l-h-r}$ satisfying that $|\psi(k\theta'_j + x_j - \frac{1}{4})| < \delta$ for $j \in \{r + 1, \ldots, l - h - 1\}$ and $|\psi(k\theta'_{l-h} + x_{l-h})| < \delta$. Assume that $c_{l-h} = -c_l$. Note that $c_{l-h} - c_l \neq 0$ since $c_{l-h} \neq 0$. Since $c_{l-h+1}, \ldots, c_l \in \mathbb{R}$ by the assumption, we have

$$\operatorname{Im} \left(c_{j}e(k\theta'_{j}) + c_{j+h}e(-k\theta'_{j}) \right) \\
= \operatorname{Im} \left((c_{j} - c_{j+h})e(k\theta'_{j}) + c_{j+h} \left(e(k\theta'_{j}) + e(-k\theta'_{j}) \right) \right) \\
= |c_{j} - c_{j+h}| \sin 2\pi (k\theta'_{j} + x'_{j}) + 2|c_{j+h}| \sin \arg c_{j+h} \cos 2\pi k\theta'_{j} \\
= |c_{j} - c_{j+h}| \sin 2\pi (k\theta'_{j} + x'_{j}),$$

where $x'_j := \frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Arg}(c_j - c_{j+h})$ for $j \in \{l - 2h + 1, \dots, l - h\}$. Hence, it holds that

$$|S'_k| \ge \left| \sum_{j=r+1}^{l-2h} |c_j| \sin 2\pi (k\theta'_j + x_j) + \sum_{j=l-2h+1}^{l-h} |c_j - c_{j+h}| \sin 2\pi (k\theta'_j + x'_j) \right|.$$

Put $x := (\iota(x_{r+1}), \ldots, \iota(x_{l-2h}), \iota(x'_{l-2h+1}), \ldots, \iota(x'_{l-h-1}), \iota(x_{l-h} - \frac{1}{4})) \in \mathbb{T}^{l-h-r}$. Then, the natural density of $N_{V_{\delta}}^{g'}(x)$ is positive for any $\delta > 0$ by Lemma 4.4.18. Hence, we have $|R_{g'}^n(x)| < \delta$ for any $n \in N_{V_{\delta}}^{g'}(x)$. Since

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi\left(k\theta'_{i}+x_{i}\right)| &< \delta, \quad |\psi\left(k\theta'_{j}+x'_{j}\right)| < \delta \end{aligned}$$
for $i \in \{r+1,\ldots,l-2h\}, \ j \in \{l-2h+1,\ldots,l-h-1\}$ and
$$\left|\psi\left(k\theta'_{l-h}+x'_{l-h}-\frac{1}{4}\right)\right| < \delta, \end{aligned}$$

it holds that

$$\begin{aligned} |\sin 2\pi (k\theta'_{i} + x_{i})| &< \sin \delta \qquad (i \in \{r+1, \dots, l-2h\}), \\ |\sin 2\pi (k\theta'_{j} + x'_{j})| &< \sin \delta \qquad (j \in \{l-2h+1, \dots, l-h-1\}), \\ |\sin 2\pi (k\theta'_{l-h} + x'_{l-h})| &= \left|\cos 2\pi \left(k\theta'_{l-h} + x'_{l-h} - \frac{1}{4}\right)\right| &> \cos \delta. \end{aligned}$$

Since $c_{l-h} - c_l \neq 0$, it holds that for a sufficiently small $\delta > 0$ and any $n \in N_{V_{\delta}}^{g'}(x)$,

$$|S'_k| > |c_{l-h} - c_l| \cos \delta - \left(\sum_{j=r+1}^{l-2h} c_j - \sum_{j=l-2h+2}^{l-h-1} |c_j - c_{j+h}|\right) \sin \delta > 0.$$
Therefore, when $c_0 = 0$ and $k_0 \in \{l - 2h + 1, \dots, l - h\}$, we have

$$\liminf_{n \in N_{V_s}^{g'}(x)} |S'_k| > 0$$

Assume that $c_0 \neq 0$. If $\operatorname{Re}(c_0) \neq 0$, then we have

$$|S'_k| \ge \left| \operatorname{Re}(c_0) + \sum_{j=r+1}^{l-2h} |c_j| \cos 2\pi (k\theta'_j + x_j) + \sum_{j=l-2h+1}^{l-h} |c_j + c_{j+h}| \cos 2\pi (k\theta'_j + x_j) \right|,$$

where $x_j := \frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Arg}(c_j + c_{j+h})$ for $j \in \{l - 2h + 1, \dots, l - h\}$. By taking $x := (\iota(x_2 - \frac{1}{4}), \dots, \iota(x_{l-h} - \frac{1}{4})) \in \mathbb{T}^{l-h-r}$ satisfying that

$$\left|\psi\left(k\theta_j'+x_j-\frac{1}{4}\right)\right|<\delta$$

for $j \in \{r+1, \ldots, l-h\}$, we can show the desired inequality by a similar argument to the case when $c_0 = 0$ and $k_0 \in \{r+1, \ldots, l-2h\}$.

If $\text{Im}(c_0) \neq 0$, then we have

$$|S'_k| \ge \left| \operatorname{Im}(c_0) + \sum_{j=r+1}^{l-2h} c_j \sin 2\pi (k\theta'_j + x_j) + \sum_{j=l-2h+1}^{l-h} |c_j - c_{j+h}| \sin 2\pi (k\theta'_j + x'_j) \right|,$$

where $x'_{j} := \frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{Arg}(c_{j} - c_{j+h})$ for $j \in \{l - 2h + 1, \dots, l - h\}$. By taking $x := (x_{2}, \dots, x_{l-2h}, x'_{l-2h+1}, \dots, x'_{l-h}) \in \mathbb{T}^{l-h-1}$ satisfying that

$$|\psi\left(k\theta_{i}'+x_{i}\right)| < \delta, \quad |\psi\left(k\theta_{j}'+x_{j}\right)| < \delta$$

for $i \in \{r+1, \ldots, l-2h\}$, $j \in \{l-2h+1, \ldots, l-h\}$, we can show the desired inequality by a similar argument to the case when $c_0 = 0$ and $k_0 \in \{r+1, \ldots, l-2h\}$. \Box

Chapter 5

Ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials

In this chapter, we prove the third main result of this thesis. First, we introduce ceiling polynomials and give another interpretation of the result of Deitmar, Koyama and Kurokawa [II], Theorem 2.1]. Then, we give some examples of the ceiling and floor polynomials of specific schemes over $\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]$, where S is a subset of P. Next, we extend ceiling and floor polynomials to ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials and determine the ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials of an elliptic curve defined over \mathbb{Q} , which leads to the pair of provisional definitions of its absolute zeta function.

Let S be a subset of \mathbb{P} . In what follows, we denote the set of prime powers p^m with $p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus S$ and $m \in \mathbb{N}$ by $\mathbb{P}_S^{\mathbb{N}}$.

5.1 Ceiling and floor polynomials

Let X be a monoid scheme of finite type. As we explained in Subsection $\square 2 \exists$, Deitmar, Koyama and Kurokawa $[\square 4]$ identified the absolute zeta function of the continuous function $N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}$ with the absolute zeta function of the polynomial $\mathfrak{C}_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}$. In this section, we introduce the ceiling and floor polynomials of a scheme of finite type over $\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]$. After that, we characterise the polynomial $\mathfrak{C}_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}$ as the ceiling polynomial of $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$.

5.1.1 Ceiling/Floor polynomials

Lemma 5.1.1 ([**23**, Lemma 2.4]). Let \mathcal{P} be an infinite subset of \mathbb{N} and $\mathbf{A} = (A_n)_{n \in \mathcal{P}}$ be a sequence in \mathbb{Z} . Then, there exists at most one polynomial $f(t) \in \mathbb{R}[t]$ satisfying the following conditions:

- (1) The inequality $f(n) \ge A_n$ (resp. $f(n) \le A_n$) holds for every $n \in \mathcal{P}$.
- (2) There exist infinitely many $n \in \mathcal{P}$ such that $f(n) = A_n$.

Proof. Suppose that $f, g \in \mathbb{R}[t]$ satisfy both of the conditions. Then, since f - g is a polynomial, we have the following three possibilities:

- There exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that f(n) g(n) > 0 for every n > N.
- There exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that f(n) g(n) < 0 for every n > N.
- f(n) g(n) = 0 for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, i.e. f = g in $\mathbb{R}[t]$.

In the first case, since g (resp. f) satisfies the first condition, the inequality $f(n) > g(n) \ge A_n$ (resp. $A_n \ge f(n) > g(n)$) holds for every n > N, which contradicts that f (resp. g) satisfies the second condition. By changing the roles of f and g, we see that the second case is also impossible. Thus, we obtain the conclusion. \Box

Definition 5.1.2 ([23, Definition 2.5]). When the polynomial f in Lemma **bulk** exists, we call the unique polynomial f the *ceiling* (resp. *floor*) *polynomial* of A.

Definition 5.1.3 ([**23**, Definition 2.6]). Let S be a proper subset of \mathbb{P} and \mathcal{X} be a scheme of finite type over $\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]$. We call the ceiling (resp. floor) polynomial of $(\#\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_q))_{q\in\mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}_S}$ the *ceiling* (resp. *floor*) *polynomial* of \mathcal{X} and denote it by $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{X}}$ (resp. $\mathfrak{F}_{\mathcal{X}}$).

According to Propositions \mathbb{Z} and \mathbb{Z} and \mathbb{Z} we obtain the ceiling (resp. floor) polynomial of the $\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]$ -lift of a monoid scheme of finite type.

Theorem 5.1.4 ([23, Theorem 2.7]). Let X be a monoid scheme of finite type and S be a finite subset of \mathbb{P} . Set $\mathcal{X} := X_{\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]}$,

$$e_{x,j,S} := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } 2 \mid t_{x,j} \text{ and } 2 \in S, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases} \quad and \quad T_{x,S} := \prod_{j=1}^{l_x} 2^{e_{x,j,S}}.$$

Then, it holds that

$$\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{X}}(t) = \sum_{x \in X} T_x(t-1)^{r_x} \in \mathbb{Z}[t] \quad and \quad \mathfrak{F}_{\mathcal{X}}(t) = \sum_{x \in X} T_{x,S}(t-1)^{r_x} \in \mathbb{Z}[t].$$

In particular, $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{X}}$ is independent of S. Moreover, it holds that

$$\zeta_{\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{X}}}(s) = \prod_{k=0}^{R_{X}} (s-k)^{\sum_{x \in X} T_{x}(-1)^{r_{x}-k+1} \binom{r_{x}}{k}},$$

$$\zeta_{\mathfrak{F}_{\mathcal{X}}}(s) = \prod_{k=0}^{R_{X}} (s-k)^{\sum_{x \in X} T_{x,S}(-1)^{r_{x}-k+1} \binom{r_{x}}{k}}.$$

Proof. First, we consider the polynomial $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{X}}$. The first condition in Lemma **bulk** follows from the inequality $gcd(n-1, t_{x,j}) \leq t_{x,j}$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We can check the second condition by applying Dirichlet's theorem on arithmetic progressions to the

prime numbers p such that $p \equiv 1 \pmod{T_X}$. Thus, the polynomial $\sum_{x \in X} T_x (t-1)^{r_x}$ coincides with $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{X}}$.

Next, we consider the polynomial $\mathfrak{F}_{\mathcal{X}}$. Let T'_X be the odd integer satisfying $T_X = 2^e T'_X$ for some $e \in \mathbb{N}_0$. The first condition follows from the inequality $gcd(q - 1, t_{x,j}) \geq 2^{e_{x,j,S}}$ for any $x \in X$, $j \in \{1, \ldots, l_x\}$ and $q \in \mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}_S$. The second condition in the case where $2 \notin S$ follows from the fact that $2^{\varphi(T'_X)k+1} - 1 \equiv 1 \pmod{T'_X}$ for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, where φ is Euler's totient function. In the case where $2 \in S$, we see that there are infinitely many $p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus S$ such that $p \equiv 2 \pmod{T'_X}$ and $p \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$ by combining Dirichlet's theorem on arithmetic progression and the Chinese remainder theorem. We denote the set of such p's by P. For $p \in P$, it holds that $gcd(p - 1, T_X) = 2 \pmod{1}$ when T_X is even (resp. odd), and hence $gcd(p - 1, t_{x,j}) = 2^{e_{x,j,S}}$ for any $x \in X$ and $j \in \{1, \ldots, l_x\}$. Thus, the second condition follows.

The equality on the absolute zeta function follows from Example \square and the calculation of $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{X}}$ and $\mathfrak{F}_{\mathcal{X}}$.

Remark 5.1.5 ([23, Remark 2.8]). Let $X = (X, \mathcal{O}_X)$ be a monoid scheme of finite type. Then,

$$\sum_{x \in X} T_x(t-1)^{r_x} \in \mathbb{Z}[t] \quad \left(\text{resp. } \sum_{x \in X} (t-1)^{r_x} \in \mathbb{Z}[t] \right)$$

is the ceiling (resp. floor) polynomial of $(\#X(\mathbb{F}_{1^{n-1}}))_{n\in\mathbb{N}\cap[2,\infty)}$ by Proposition 2.2.10 and a similar argument of the proof of Theorem 5.1.4. In fact, the floor polynomial of $(\#X(\mathbb{F}_{1^{n-1}}))_{n\in\mathbb{N}\cap[2,\infty)}$ coincides with the polynomial N(x) introduced by Deitmar in [II2, Theorem 1] since it satisfies the condition therein and such a polynomial is unique.

Theorem **5.1.4** shows that $\zeta_{\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{X}}}(s)$ coincides with $\zeta_{N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}}(s)$ in Theorem **1.2.6**, which Deitmar, Koyama and Kurokawa obtained in **[14]** by using the Fourier expansion. Thus, $\zeta_{N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}}(s)$ is an invariant of $X_{\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]}$ independent of S, and hence it is an invariant of its generic fiber $X_{\mathbb{Q}}$ (cf. Example **5.2.7**).

5.1.2 Other examples of ceiling/floor polynomials

We give some examples of the ceiling (resp. floor) polynomials of other specific schemes over $\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]$, especially those of relative dimension 1.

Theorem 5.1.6 ([23, Theorem 2.9]). Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $\mathcal{A}_n := \mathbb{A}^1_{\mathbb{Z}} \setminus \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ and S be a finite subset of \mathbb{P} . Set $n_1 := \min\{n, \min(\mathbb{P} \setminus S)\}$. Then, it holds that

 $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}_{n,\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]}}(t) = t - n_1 \quad and \quad \mathfrak{F}_{\mathcal{A}_{n,\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]}}(t) = t - n.$

Proof. This follows from the fact that

$$#\mathcal{A}_{n,\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]}(\mathbb{F}_q) = q - #(\mathbb{F}_p \cap \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}) = q - \min\{p, n\}$$

for each $q = p^m \in \mathbb{P}_S^{\mathbb{N}}$.

Let $n \ge 2$. Replacing $\{0, 1, \ldots, n-1\}$ with $\{0\} \cup \mu_{n-1}$, where μ_{n-1} is the set of the (n-1)-th roots of unity, we obtain the following result.

Theorem 5.1.7 ([23, Theorem 2.10]). Let $n \in \mathbb{N} \cap [2, \infty)$, $\mathcal{G}_n := \mathbb{A}^1_{\mathbb{Z}} \setminus (\{0\} \cup \mu_{n-1}) = \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{Z}} \setminus \mu_{n-1}$ and S be a finite subset of \mathbb{P} . Set

$$n_2 := \begin{cases} 3 & if \ 2 \nmid n \ and \ 2 \in S, \\ 2 & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

Then, it holds that

$$\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{G}_{n,\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]}}(t) = t - n_2 \quad and \quad \mathfrak{F}_{\mathcal{G}_{n,\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]}}(t) = t - n_2$$

Proof. This follows from Theorem **b14** and the fact that μ_{n-1} is the Z-lift of spec $\mathbb{F}_{1^{n-1}}$.

We give another example of ceiling (resp. floor) polynomials. Let \mathcal{C}^{Δ} be the Pell conic of discriminant $\Delta \neq 0$, defined as an affine curve over \mathbb{Z} defined by

$$\begin{cases} x^2 - \frac{\Delta}{4}y^2 = 1 & \text{if } \Delta \equiv 0 \mod 4, \\ x^2 + xy + \frac{1 - \Delta}{4}y^2 = 1 & \text{if } \Delta \equiv 1 \mod 4. \end{cases}$$

Then, the number of the \mathbb{F}_q -rational points of \mathcal{C}^{Δ} is given as follows.

Theorem 5.1.8 ([23, Theorem 2.11]). Let $q = p^m \in \mathbb{P}^{\mathbb{N}}$. Then,

$$#\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q) = \begin{cases} q - \left(\frac{\Delta}{p}\right)^m & \text{if } p \neq 2, \ p \nmid \Delta, \\ 2q & \text{if } p \neq 2, \ p \mid \Delta, \\ q - (-1)^{\frac{\Delta^2 - 1}{8}m} & \text{if } p = 2, \ 2 \nmid \Delta, \\ q & \text{if } p = 2, \ 2 \mid \Delta, \end{cases}$$

where $\left(\frac{\Delta}{p}\right)$ is the Legendre symbol. Moreover, let S_{Δ} be the set of prime numbers dividing Δ . For any finite subset S of \mathbb{P} , it holds that

$$\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}_{\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]}}(t) = \begin{cases} 2t & \text{if } S_{\Delta} \setminus \{2\} \not\subset S, \\ t+1 & \text{if } \Delta \text{ is not a square and } S_{\Delta} \setminus \{2\} \subset S, \\ t-1 & \text{if } \Delta \text{ is a square and } S_{\Delta} \subset S, \\ t & \text{if } \Delta \text{ is an even square, } S_{\Delta} \setminus \{2\} \subset S \text{ and } 2 \notin S, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\mathfrak{F}_{\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}_{\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]}}(t) = t - 1.$$

Proof. Assume that $p \neq 2$ and $p \nmid \Delta$. If $\Delta \mod p \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times 2}$, then we have $\#\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q) =$ q-1 since it holds that

$$\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q) \cong \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}; (x, y) \mapsto x + \frac{\sqrt{\Delta}}{2}y.$$

If $\Delta \mod p \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{F}_q^{\times 2}$, then it holds that

$$\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q) \cong \operatorname{Ker}\left(N_{\mathbb{F}_{q^2}/\mathbb{F}_q} \colon \mathbb{F}_{q^2}^{\times} \to \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}\right); (x, y) \mapsto x + \frac{\sqrt{\Delta}}{2}y$$

and the norm map $N_{\mathbb{F}_{q^2}/\mathbb{F}_q}$ is surjective. Therefore, we have $\#\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q) = \#\mathbb{F}_{q^2}^{\times}/\#\mathbb{F}_q^{\times} =$ q+1. Thus, it holds that $\#\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q) = q - \left(\frac{\Delta}{p}\right)^m$ if $p \neq 2$ and $p \nmid \Delta$.

Assume that $p \neq 2$ and $p \mid \Delta$. Then,

$$#\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q) = #\{(x, y) \in \mathbb{F}_q \times \mathbb{F}_q \mid x^2 \equiv 4 \pmod{p}\} = 2q.$$

Assume that p = 2 and $p \nmid \Delta$. If $\Delta \equiv 1 \pmod{8}$, then we have $\# \mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q) = q - 1$ since

$$\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q) \cong \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}; (x, y) \mapsto x$$

If $\Delta \equiv 5 \pmod{8}$ and *m* is even, then we have $\#\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q) = q-1$ since

$$\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q) \cong \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}; (x, y) \mapsto x + \zeta_3 y,$$

where $\zeta_3 \in \mathbb{F}_q$ denotes a primitive third root of unity. If $\Delta \equiv 5 \pmod{8}$ and m is odd, then we have $\#\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q) = q+1$ since

$$\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q) \cong \operatorname{Ker} N_{\mathbb{F}_{q^2}/\mathbb{F}_q}; (x, y) \mapsto x + \zeta_3 y,$$

where $\zeta_3 \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2}$ denotes a primitive third root of unity.

Assume p = 2 and $p \mid \Delta$, then

$$#\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q) = #\{(x, y) \in \mathbb{F}_q \times \mathbb{F}_q \mid x^2 \equiv 1 \pmod{2}\} = q.$$

The statements on the ceiling and floor polynomials of $\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}_{\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]}$ follow from the above calculation of $\#\mathcal{C}^{\Delta}(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

Next, it is natural to study the ceiling (resp. floor) polynomial of a curve \mathcal{C} of positive genus defined over $\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]$. According to Theorem **518**, one can expect that the ceiling polynomial crucially depends on the bad reductions of \mathcal{C} and becomes simpler if \mathcal{C} is smooth over $\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]$. However, the following result shows that the ceiling polynomial does not exist even for an elliptic curve defined over $\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]$ whenever S is finite.

Proposition 5.1.9 ([23, Proposition 2.12]). Let S be a finite subset of \mathbb{P} and \mathcal{E} be an elliptic curve defined over $\mathbb{Z}[S^{-1}]$. Then, there exists no ceiling or floor polynomial of \mathcal{E} .

Proof. By Hasse's theorem, it holds that

$$#\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_p) < p+1+2\sqrt{p}$$

for every $p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus S$. On the other hand, the Sato-Tate conjecture $[\mathfrak{B}, \mathbb{Z}]$ implies that for any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist prime numbers $p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus S$ such that

$$#\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_p) > p + 1 + 2\sqrt{p}(1-\varepsilon).$$

These facts imply that there exists no ceiling polynomial $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{E}}$ of \mathcal{E} . Indeed, if such a polynomial $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{E}}$ exists, then the Sato-Tate conjecture and the first condition in Lemma first polynomial that

$$\forall \alpha > 0, \exists N_0 \in \mathbb{N} \text{ s.t. } \forall p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus S \ (p > N_0 \Rightarrow \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{E}}(p) > p + \alpha).$$

However, since $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{E}}$ is a polynomial, the above estimate is equivalent to the following formula:

$$\exists \delta > 0 \text{ s.t. } \exists N_1 \in \mathbb{N} \text{ s.t. } \forall p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus S \ (p > N_1 \Rightarrow \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{E}}(p) > (1+\delta)p).$$

Since the inequality $(1 + \delta)p > p + 1 + 2\sqrt{p}$ holds for each $p \gg 1$, Hasse's theorem implies that

$$\exists N_2 \in \mathbb{N} \text{ s.t. } \forall p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus S \ (p > N_2 \Rightarrow \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{E}}(p) > \# \mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_p)),$$

which contradicts the second condition in Lemma 511.

The non-existence of the floor polynomial $\mathfrak{F}_{\mathcal{E}}$ of \mathcal{E} follows from a similar argument.

5.2 Ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials

In this section, we introduce ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomials by replacing the polynomial condition in Lemma $\begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$ by means of Puiseux polynomials. Then, after introducing the ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomial of a separated scheme of finite type over \mathbb{Q} , we identify the ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomial of an elliptic curve over \mathbb{Q} as the Puiseux polynomial $t + 2t^{1/2} + 1$ (resp. $t - 2t^{1/2} + 1$).

5.2.1 Ceiling/Floor Puiseux polynomials

We begin with the definition of the ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomial of a general integer sequence.

Definition 5.2.1 ([23, Definition 3.1]). Let R be a commutative ring. We define $R[t^{1/\infty}]$ as the residue ring of the polynomial ring $R[t_n | n \in \mathbb{N}]$ in countably many indeterminates t_n by the ideal I generated modulo $t_{mn}^m - t_n$ for all $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$, and set $t^{1/n} := t_n \mod I$. We call an element of $R[t^{1/\infty}]$ a Puiseux polynomial with coefficients in R.

Suppose that $R = \mathbb{R}$ (or its subring). Then, each Puiseux polynomial in $\mathbb{R}[t^{1/\infty}]$ defines a continuous function on $(0, \infty)$ to \mathbb{R} . In what follows, we identify each Puiseux polynomial with this function. Similarly to Lemma **511**, we show the uniqueness of a certain Puiseux polynomial.

Lemma 5.2.2 ([23, Lemma 3.2]). Let \mathcal{P} be an infinite subset of \mathbb{N} and $\mathbf{A} = (A_n)_{n \in \mathcal{P}}$ be a sequence in \mathbb{Z} . Then, there exists at most one Puiseux polynomial $f(t) \in \mathbb{R}[t^{1/\infty}]$ satisfying the following conditions:

- (1) The inequality $f(n) \ge A_n$ (resp. $f(n) \le A_n$) holds for every $n \in \mathcal{P}$.
- (2) There exist infinitely many $n \in \mathcal{P}$ such that the equality $\lfloor f(n) \rfloor = A_n$ (resp. $\lceil f(n) \rceil = A_n$) holds.
- (3) $f(1) \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Proof. Suppose that $f, g \in \mathbb{R}[t^{1/\infty}]$ satisfy both of the conditions. Then, since f - g is a Puiseux polynomial, it is a polynomial of $t^{1/m}$ for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Hence, we have the following three possibilities:

- There exists some $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $f(n) g(n) \ge 1$ for every n > N.
- There exists some $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $f(n) g(n) \leq -1$ for every n > N.
- f g is a constant in the open interval (-1, 1).

In the first case, since g (resp. f) satisfies the first condition, the inequality $f(n) \ge g(n) + 1 \ge A_n + 1$ (resp. $g(n) \le f(n) - 1 \le A_n - 1$) holds for every n > N, which contradicts that f (resp. g) satisfies the second condition. By changing the roles of f and g, we see that the second case is also impossible. In the third case, it holds that f = g since f(1) - g(1) = 0 by the third condition. Thus, we obtain the conclusion.

Definition 5.2.3 ([23, Definition 3.3]). When the Puiseux polynomial f in Lemma 5.2.2 exists, we call the unique Puiseux polynomial f the *ceiling* (resp. *floor*) *Puiseux* polynomial of A.

If there exists a polynomial with integral coefficients satisfying the conditions in Lemma **5.1.1**, then it satisfies the conditions in Lemma **5.2.2**. In this sense, the Puiseux polynomial in Lemma **5.2.2** is a generalisation of the polynomials with integral coefficients in Lemma **5.1.1**, which contain polynomials having been studied in the context of absolute zeta functions (e.g. Soulé[**46**], Deitmar [**12**], Deitmar, Koyama and Kurokawa [**14**]).

As we mentioned after Theorem **DIN**, we can expect a simpler ceiling Puiseux polynomial if the information on pathological prime numbers is excluded. Hence, it is fair to define a ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomial of an algebraic variety over \mathbb{Q} (and more generally a separated scheme of finite type over \mathbb{Q}) as follows.

Definition 5.2.4 ([**Z3**, Definition 3.4]). Let X be a separated scheme of finite type over \mathbb{Q} . Assume that there exists a Puiseux polynomial f satisfying the following condition: for any separated scheme \mathcal{X} of finite type over \mathbb{Z} satisfying that $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong X$, there exists a finite subset $S_{\mathcal{X}}$ of \mathbb{P} such that for any finite subset S of \mathbb{P} containing $S_{\mathcal{X}}$, the Puiseux polynomial f is the ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomial of $(\#\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_q))_{q\in\mathbb{P}_S^{\mathbb{N}}}$. Then, we call f the ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomial of X and denote it by \mathfrak{C}_X (resp. \mathfrak{F}_X).

The following facts are useful for verification of the uniqueness of the ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials of X and their practical calculation.

Theorem 5.2.5 (cf. Serre [43, Theorems 4.12 and 4.13]). Let \mathcal{X} be a separated scheme of finite type over \mathbb{Z} and l be a prime number. Then, there exists a finite subset Σ of \mathbb{P} (independent of l) such that for every $p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus (\Sigma \cup \{l\})$ and every $m \in \mathbb{N}$, the following equality holds:

$$#\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_{p^m}) = \sum_{i=0}^{2\dim \mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}}} (-1)^i \operatorname{Tr}(\sigma_p^{-m} \mid H_c^i(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)),$$

where σ_p is the p-th power Frobenius automorphism in $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{F}_p}/\mathbb{F}_p)$, which acts on $H^i_c(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)$ via the specialization map $H^i_c(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}_p}}, \mathbb{Q}_l) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^i_c(\mathcal{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \mathbb{Q}_l)$.

Corollary 5.2.6 ([23, Corollary 3.6]). Let \mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y} be separated schemes of finite type over \mathbb{Z} such that $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong \mathcal{Y}_{\mathbb{Q}}$. Then, there exists a finite subset Σ' of \mathbb{P} such that the following equality holds for every $q \in \mathbb{P}_{\Sigma'}^{\mathbb{N}}$:

$$#\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_q) = #\mathcal{Y}(\mathbb{F}_q).$$

In particular, in the setting of Definition 5.2.4, if f is the ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomial of $(\#\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_q))_{q\in\mathbb{P}_S^{\mathbb{N}}}$ for some \mathcal{X} and for some $S_{\mathcal{X}}$ with an arbitrary $S \supset S_{\mathcal{X}}$, then it coincides with the ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomial of X.

According to this corollary, it is sufficient to verify the condition in Definition 5.2.4 not for all \mathcal{X} but for a single \mathcal{X} . Moreover, the ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials for such an \mathcal{X} are unique respectively if they exist. Using this fact, we obtain the ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials for the generic fibres of specific schemes which appeared in Subsection 5.1.2 as follows.

Example 5.2.7 ([23, Example 3.7]). Let X be a monoid scheme of finite type such that $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is separated. Thus, it holds that

$$\mathfrak{C}_{X_{\mathbb{Q}}}(t) = \sum_{x \in X} T_x(t-1)^{r_x} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{F}_{X_{\mathbb{Q}}}(t) = \sum_{x \in X} T_{x,\{2\}}(t-1)^{r_x}$$

by Theorem **514** and Corollary **526**. Indeed, it is sufficient to take $\mathcal{X} = X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $S_{\mathcal{X}} = \{2\}$. In particular, it holds that $\mathfrak{C}_{X_{\mathbb{Q}}} = \mathfrak{F}_{X_{\mathbb{Q}}}$ if and only if the torsion subgroup of $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}^{\times}$ is 2-torsion for all $x \in X$.

Example 5.2.8 ([23, Example 3.8]). Put $X = \mathcal{A}_{n,\mathbb{Q}}$. By Theorem **5.16** and Corollary **5.26**, it holds that

$$\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}_{n,\mathbb{Q}}}(t) = \mathfrak{F}_{\mathcal{A}_{n,\mathbb{Q}}}(t) = t - n.$$

Indeed, it suffices to take $\mathcal{X} = \mathcal{A}_n$ and $S_{\mathcal{X}}$ as the set of prime numbers less than n.

Example 5.2.9 ([23, Example 3.9]). Put $X = \mathcal{G}_{n,\mathbb{Q}}$. By Theorem **5.17** and Corollary **5.26**, it holds that

$$\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{G}_{n,\mathbb{Q}}}(t) = t - 2$$
 and $\mathfrak{F}_{\mathcal{G}_{n,\mathbb{Q}}}(t) = t - n.$

Indeed, it is sufficient to take $\mathcal{X} = \mathcal{G}_n$ and $S_{\mathcal{X}} = \{2\}$. In particular, it holds that $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{G}_{n,\mathbb{Q}}} = \mathfrak{F}_{\mathcal{G}_{n,\mathbb{Q}}}$ if and only if n = 2.

Example 5.2.10 ([23, Example 3.10]). Put $X = \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\Delta}$. By Theorem **51.8** and Corollary **5.2.6**, it holds that

 $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\Delta}}(t) = \begin{cases} t-1 & \text{if } \Delta \text{ is a square,} \\ t+1 & \text{if } \Delta \text{ is not a square,} \end{cases} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{F}_{\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\Delta}}(t) = t-1.$

Indeed, it is sufficient to take $\mathcal{X} = \mathcal{C}^{\Delta}$ and $S_{\mathcal{X}}$ as the set of prime numbers dividing 2Δ . In particular, it holds that $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\Delta}} = \mathfrak{F}_{\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\Delta}}$ if and only if Δ is square, which is equivalent to $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\Delta} \cong \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{Q}}$. Note that even if Δ is not a square, the scalar extension (base change) $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\Delta} \otimes \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{\Delta})$ can be identified with the $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{\Delta})$ -lift of the monoid scheme $\mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{F}_1}$.

5.2.2 Ceiling/Floor Puiseux polynomial of a projective curve and its maximal/minimal reduction

Let C be a smooth proper curve over \mathbb{Q} which is geometrically irreducible of genus g > 0. Then, by the spreading out principle (see Poonen [40, Theorem 3.2.1]), there exist a finite subset S_C of \mathbb{P} and a smooth proper scheme C of finite type over $\mathbb{Z}[S_C^{-1}]$ such that $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong C$.

For $q = p^m \in \mathbb{P}_{S_C}^{\mathbb{N}}$, the Hasse-Weil bound (see Serre [43, §4.7.2.2]) implies that

$$q - 2g\sqrt{q} + 1 \le \#\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{F}_q) \le q + 2g\sqrt{q} + 1.$$

The closed fiber $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ of \mathcal{C} is called \mathbb{F}_q -maximal (resp. \mathbb{F}_q -minimal) if $\#\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{F}_q)$ attains the Hasse-Weil upper (resp. lower) bound, i.e.

$$#\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{F}_q) = q + 2g\sqrt{q} + 1 \quad (\text{resp. } #\mathcal{C}(\mathbb{F}_q) = q - 2g\sqrt{q} + 1).$$

In view of the ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomial, we are interested in the distribution of the prime powers q for which $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ is \mathbb{F}_q -maximal (resp. \mathbb{F}_q -minimal). By the definition of the ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomial of C, we obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 5.2.11 ([23, Proposition 3.11]). Assume that there exist infinitely many prime numbers $p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus S_C$ for which $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ is \mathbb{F}_{p^m} -maximal (resp. \mathbb{F}_{p^m} -minimal) for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, it holds that

$$\mathfrak{C}_C(t) = t + 2gt^{1/2} + 1$$
 (resp. $\mathfrak{F}_C(t) = t - 2gt^{1/2} + 1$).

5.2.3 Ceiling/Floor Puiseux polynomial of an elliptic curve

Let E be an elliptic curve defined over \mathbb{Q} . Like Subsection **5.2.2**, there exist a finite subset S_E of \mathbb{P} and an elliptic curve \mathcal{E} over $\mathbb{Z}[S_E^{-1}]$ such that $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong E$. Then, the following fact is known concerning a supersingular elliptic curve.

Lemma 5.2.12 (see e.g. Silverman [44, p. 155]). Suppose that $p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus (S_E \cup \{2, 3\})$. Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ is supersingular, i.e. $\#\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_p) = p + 1$.
- (2) $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ is $\mathbb{F}_{p^{4k-2}}$ -maximal and $\mathbb{F}_{p^{4k}}$ -minimal for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, i.e. $\#\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_{p^{4k-2}}) = p^{4k-2} + 2p^{2k-1} + 1$ and $\#\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_{p^{4k}}) = p^{4k} 2p^{2k} + 1$.
- (3) $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ is \mathbb{F}_{p^2} -maximal.
- (4) It holds that

$$Z(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, T) := \exp\left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{\#\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_{p^m})}{m} T^m\right) = \frac{1+pT^2}{(1-T)(1-pT)}$$

Proof. Let α be an eigenvalue of the *p*-th power Frobenius endomorphism on the Tate module of *E*. Then, it holds that

$$#\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_{p^m}) = 1 - \left(\alpha^m + \frac{p^m}{\alpha^m}\right) + p^m \tag{5.1}$$

for any $m \in \mathbb{N}$ (see e.g. Silverman [44], Theorem 2.3.1]). In particular, by specialising it to m = 1, the equivalence (1) $\Leftrightarrow \alpha^2 = -p$ follows. The equation $\alpha^2 = -p$ is equivalent to (2) and (3), respectively. Moreover, the equivalence (1) \Leftrightarrow (4) follows since

$$Z(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{F}_p}, T) = \exp\left(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \left(\alpha^m + \frac{p^m}{\alpha^m}\right) + p^m\right) \frac{T^m}{m}\right)$$
$$= \frac{(1 - \alpha T)(1 - \frac{p}{\alpha}T)}{(1 - T)(1 - pT)} = \frac{1 + (\#\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_p) - p - 1)T + pT^2}{(1 - T)(1 - pT)}.$$

r		

Proposition **5.2.11** and Lemma **5.2.12** (1) \Leftrightarrow (2) lead us to the natural question whether there exist infinitely many prime numbers p such that $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ is supersingular. The answer is known to be affirmative due to Elkies as follows.

Theorem 5.2.13 (Elkies [II]). Let E be an elliptic curve over \mathbb{Q} . Then, there exist infinitely many prime numbers at which E has good supersingular reduction.

Remark 5.2.14 ([23, Remark 3.14]). In fact, Elkies [20] obtained a similar result for every elliptic curve over an arbitrary number field F (of finite degree) which has at least one field embedding $F \subset \mathbb{R}$.

As the consequence of Theorem **5.2.13** and Lemma **5.2.12** (1) \Leftrightarrow (2), we see that there exist infinitely many prime numbers $p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus S_E$ for each of which $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ is \mathbb{F}_{p^m} -maximal for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, we can determine the ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomial of an elliptic curve defined over \mathbb{Q} as follows.

Corollary 5.2.15 ([23, Corollary 3.15]). Let E be any elliptic curve over \mathbb{Q} . Then, it holds that

$$\mathfrak{C}_E(t) = t + 2t^{1/2} + 1$$
 and $\mathfrak{F}_E(t) = t - 2t^{1/2} + 1.$

Moreover, the absolute zeta functions of \mathfrak{C}_E and \mathfrak{F}_E are

$$\zeta_{\mathfrak{C}_{E}}(s) = \frac{1}{s\left(s - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{2}(s - 1)}$$
 and $\zeta_{\mathfrak{F}_{E}}(s) = \frac{\left(s - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{2}}{s(s - 1)}.$

Remark 5.2.16 ([23, Remark 1.7]). According to Corollary 5.2.15, it holds that

$$\zeta_{\mathfrak{C}_E}(s) = \left(\frac{1}{s\left(s-\frac{1}{2}\right)}\right)^{\widetilde{\otimes}2} \quad \text{and} \quad \zeta_{\mathfrak{F}_E}(s) = \left(\frac{s}{s-\frac{1}{2}}\right)^{\widetilde{\otimes}2},$$

where $\widetilde{\otimes}$ denotes the tensor product that we replace $m(\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_r)$ to $-m(\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_r)$ in the definition of the Kurokawa tensor product in Definition $\Box \Box$. These are compatible with the factorizations $\mathfrak{C}_E(t) = (t^{1/2} + 1)^2$ and $\mathfrak{F}_E(t) = (t^{1/2} - 1)^2$.

Remark 5.2.17 ([23, Remark 3.16]). If X is a monoid scheme of finite type whose \mathbb{Z} -lift is a smooth projective variety, then Deitmar, Koyama and Kurokawa deduced the equality

$$#X(\mathbb{F}_1) = N_{X_{\mathbb{Z}}}(1) = \chi_{\mathrm{top}}(X_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{C}))$$

from the Weil conjecture for $X_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ (cf. the proof of [12], Theorem 2.1]). In fact, we could formally obtain the similar equality

"#
$$\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_1)$$
" = 0 = $\chi_{top}(\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{C}))$

if we substituted m = 0 in Equation (**b**1) in the proof of Lemma **b**212, which is the consequence of the Weil conjecture for $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{F}_p}$. Moreover, the Puiseux polynomial \mathfrak{F}_E satisfies that

$$\mathfrak{F}_E(1) = \chi_{\mathrm{top}}(E(\mathbb{C})) = \chi_{\mathrm{top}}(S^1 \times S^1).$$

These observations are all consistent with the philosophy we mentioned in Remark $\square \square \blacksquare$. On the other hand, the Puiseux polynomial \mathfrak{C}_E is not consistent with it. In this view, it is fair to say that $\zeta_{\mathfrak{F}_E}$ is better than $\zeta_{\mathfrak{C}_E}$.

Remark 5.2.18 ([23, Remark 3.17]). According to Charles [5], for any pair of elliptic curves E_1 , E_2 over a number filed K, there are infinitely many prime ideals of Kat which the reductions of E_1 and E_2 are geometrically isogenous. Corollary 5.2.15 might suggest that "the reductions modulo 1" of all elliptic curves over K are "geometrically isogenous over \mathbb{F}_1 " in some sense. On the other hand, if $K = \mathbb{Q}$, then Corollary 5.2.15 shows that both \mathfrak{C}_E and \mathfrak{F}_E are determined purely in terms of the Betti numbers of the topological 2-dimensional torus $S^1 \times S^1$. In particular, they are independent of the isogeny class of E. This might even suggest that all elliptic curves over \mathbb{Q} are "isogenous over \mathbb{F}_1 " at least in view of Tate's isogeny theorem over \mathbb{F}_p (see e.g. Silverman [44, III.7.7]).

Appendix A

Ceiling/Floor Puiseux polynomial of an elliptic curve in the case of $\mathcal{P} = \mathbb{P} \setminus S$

Let S be a finite subset of \mathbb{P} . In this appendix, we discuss the ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials of the sequence $(\#\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_p))_{p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus S}$ instead of $(\#\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_q))_{q \in \mathbb{P}_S^{\mathbb{N}}}$ in Section 5.2. As a result, in the case of elliptic curves defined over \mathbb{Q} with complex multiplication, we obtain the same Puiseux polynomial as its ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomial.

Definition A.0.1 ([23, Definition A.1]). Let X be a separated scheme of finite type over \mathbb{Q} . Assume that there exists a Puiseux polynomial f satisfying the following condition: for any separated scheme \mathcal{X} of finite type over \mathbb{Z} satisfying that $\mathcal{X}_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong X$, there exists a finite subset $S_{\mathcal{X}}$ of \mathbb{P} such that for any finite subset S of \mathbb{P} containing $S_{\mathcal{X}}$, the Puiseux polynomial f is the ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomial of $(\#\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_p))_{p\in\mathbb{P}\setminus S}$. Then, we call f the prime ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomial of X and denote it by \mathfrak{C}'_X (resp. \mathfrak{F}'_X).

Remark A.0.2 ([23, Remark A.2]). Comparing it with Definition 5.2.4, the first condition in Lemma 5.2.2 gets weaker and the second one gets stronger for $\boldsymbol{A} = (\#\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_p))_{p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus S}$ than for $\boldsymbol{A} = (\#\mathcal{X}(\mathbb{F}_q))_{q \in \mathbb{P}_c^{\mathbb{N}}}$.

Let E be an elliptic curve defined over \mathbb{Q} . As mentioned in Subsection 5.2.3, there exist a finite subset S_E of \mathbb{P} and an elliptic curve \mathcal{E} over $\mathbb{Z}[S_E^{-1}]$ such that $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong E$. Then, for $p \in \mathbb{P} \setminus S_E$, the Hasse bound implies that

$$p+1 - 2\sqrt{p} < \#\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_p) < p+1 + 2\sqrt{p}.$$

Then, p is called a *champion* (resp. *trailing*) prime if the equality

$$#\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_p) = p + 1 + \lfloor 2\sqrt{p} \rfloor$$
 (resp. $#\mathcal{E}(\mathbb{F}_p) = p + 1 - \lceil 2\sqrt{p} \rceil$)

holds (cf. James and Pollack [25]). Let π_E^+ (resp. π_E^-) be the set of champion (resp. trailing) prime numbers for E and $\pi_E^{\pm}(x) := \pi_E^{\pm} \cap (0, x]$ for every $x \in (0, \infty)$. Then, the following is obvious:

Proposition A.0.3 (cf. Proposition **5.211**). Assume that $\#\pi_E^{\pm} = \infty$, then it holds that $\mathfrak{C}'_E = \mathfrak{C}_E$ and $\mathfrak{F}'_E = \mathfrak{F}_E$.

For a CM elliptic curve over \mathbb{Q} , the following fact on $\pi_E^{\pm}(x)$ is known.

Theorem A.0.4 (James and Pollack [25, Theorem 1]). Suppose that E has complex multiplication over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. Then, the following asymptotic relation holds:

$$\pi_E^{\pm}(x) \sim \frac{2}{3\pi} \cdot \frac{x^{3/4}}{\log x} \quad (x \to \infty).$$

In particular, it holds that $\#\pi_E^{\pm} = \infty$.

According to Theorem A.0.4, the prime ceiling (resp. floor) Puiseux polynomial of a CM elliptic curve coincides with the Puiseux polynomial in Proposition A.0.3. On the other hand, for an elliptic curve defined over \mathbb{Q} without complex multiplication, it is conjectured in [26, Conjecture 2.3] that

$$\pi_E^{\pm}(x) \sim c_E \cdot \frac{x^{1/4}}{\log x} \quad (x \to \infty),$$

where $c_E \in (0, \infty)$ is a constant. Currently, the above estimate of $\pi_E^{\pm}(x)$ in the case where E is a non-CM elliptic curve is verified only under some assumptions such as the Generalised Riemann Hypothesis (cf. David, Gafni, Malik, Prabhu and Turnage-Butterbaugh [III]).

Appendix B

Another proofs of Lemma 4.4.5 and Theorem 4.4.12

In this chapter, we give another proof of Lemma 445 using ergodic theory. Moreover, we show another version of Theorem 4412 whose conditions are simpler.

B.1 Another proof of Lemma 4.4.5

Lemma B.1.1 (Lemma 445). It holds that

$$\log(1-\rho u) = S_{t^{\rho}}(u) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \kappa_{\rho}(n) \log\left(1-u^{n}\right) \in \mathbb{Q}\llbracket\rho, u\rrbracket$$

Moreover, for $\rho \in \mathbb{C}$, the region of absolute convergence of the series in the righthand side is

$$\begin{cases} \left\{ u \in \mathbb{D} \mid |u| < \frac{1}{|\rho|} \right\} & \text{if } \rho \neq 0, 1, \\ \mathbb{C} & \text{if } \rho = 0, \\ \mathbb{D} & \text{if } \rho = 1. \end{cases}$$

Another proof of Lemma 4.4.5. We assume that $\rho \neq 0, 1$. We show that the series $S_{t^{\rho}}(u)$ does not converge absolutely for $|u| \geq \min\{\frac{1}{|\rho|}, 1\}$. If $|u| \geq 1$, then $S_{t^{\rho}}(u)$ does not converge absolutely. Hence, we may assume that $|\rho| > 1$ and it is sufficient to prove that $S_{t^{\rho}}(u)$ does not converge absolutely for $\frac{1}{|\rho|} \leq |u| < 1$.

Now, we show that $S_{t^{\rho}}(u)$ does not converges absolutely for $\frac{1}{|\rho|} \leq |u| < 1$. Assume that $\frac{\operatorname{Arg} u}{2\pi} \in \mathbb{Q}$. Then, we put $\frac{\operatorname{Arg} u}{2\pi} = \frac{k_1}{k_2}$ $(k_1, k_2 \in \mathbb{Z}, k_2 \neq 0)$ and $N_{\text{rat}} := \{k_2m \mid m \in \mathbb{N}\}$. Then, since $u^n \in [\frac{1}{|\rho|}, 1)$ for any $n \in N_{\text{rat}}$, it holds that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\kappa_{\rho}(n) \log (1-u^n)| \ge \sum_{n \in N_{\text{rat}}} |\kappa_{\rho}(n) \log (1-u^n)| = \sum_{n \in N_{\text{rat}}} |\kappa_{\rho}(n)| \log \frac{1}{1-u^n}$$

Put $N_{\rho} := \left\{ n \in \mathbb{N} \mid n \ge \max\left\{ \frac{5}{\log |\rho|} \log \frac{2}{|\rho|-1}, 3 \right\} \right\}$. Since $\frac{n}{5} < n - \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor - 1$ for each $n \in N_{\rho}$, we have

$$\sum_{n \neq d|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{d}\right) \rho^d \left| \le \sum_{n \neq d|n} |\rho|^d \le \sum_{d=1}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor} |\rho|^d = \frac{|\rho|^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + 1} - |\rho|}{|\rho| - 1} < \frac{|\rho|^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + 1}}{|\rho| - 1} < \frac{|\rho|^n}{2}.$$

Thus, for any $n \in N_{\rho}$, it holds that

$$|n\kappa_{\rho}(n)| \ge |\rho|^n - \left|\sum_{n \ne d|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{d}\right)\rho^d\right| > |\rho|^n - \frac{|\rho|^n}{2} = \frac{|\rho|^n}{2}$$

Since $(1 - \frac{1}{x})^{-x} > e$ for any x > 1 and the natural density of N_{rat} is equal to $\frac{1}{k_2} > 0$, it holds that

$$\sum_{n \in N_{\text{rat}}} |\kappa_{\rho}(n)| \log \frac{1}{1 - u^n} \ge \sum_{n \in N_{\text{rat}}} |\kappa_{\rho}(n)| \log \frac{1}{1 - |\rho|^{-n}} > \sum_{n \in N_{\text{rat}} \cap N_{\rho}} \frac{|\rho|^n}{2n} \log \frac{1}{1 - |\rho|^{-n}} = \sum_{n \in N_{\text{rat}} \cap N_{\rho}} \frac{1}{2n} \log \left(1 - \frac{1}{|\rho|^n}\right)^{-|\rho|^n} > \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n \in N_{\text{rat}} \cap N_{\rho}} \frac{1}{n} = \infty.$$

Assume that $\frac{\operatorname{Arg} u}{2\pi} \notin \mathbb{Q}$. We put $\varphi_n := \operatorname{Arcsin} |u|^n$, $\psi_n := \operatorname{Arcsin} \frac{1}{2|\rho|^n}$,

$$\begin{aligned} \theta_n^{\pm} &:= \operatorname{Arccos}\left(\frac{1}{2|u|^n} \left(\left(\sqrt{1 - \frac{1}{4|\rho|^{2n}}} \pm \sqrt{|u|^{2n} - \frac{1}{4|\rho|^{2n}}}\right)^2 - |u|^{2n} - 1 \right) \right) \\ &= \operatorname{Arccos}\left(-\frac{1}{4(|u||\rho|^2)^n} \pm \sqrt{\left(1 - \frac{1}{4|\rho|^{2n}}\right) \left(1 - \frac{1}{4(|u||\rho|)^{2n}}\right)} \right), \end{aligned}$$

and $\Theta_n := [\theta_n^+, \theta_n^-] \cup [2\pi - \theta_n^-, 2\pi - \theta_n^+]$ as described in Figure B1. Note that



Figure B.1: The definitions of φ_n , ψ_n , θ_n^{\pm} in the complex plane

 $|\operatorname{Arg}(1-u^n)| \leq \varphi_n$ when $n \in \Theta_n$. Since θ_n^+ is strictly monotonically decreasing and $\theta_n^- > \frac{\pi}{2}$ by a simple calculation, we have $\theta_n^+ \leq \frac{\pi}{3}$ and $\theta_n^- \geq \frac{\pi}{2}$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Putting $\Theta := \left[\frac{\pi}{3}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right]$, we have $\Theta_n \supset \Theta$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Since $|\operatorname{Arg}(1-u^n)| \geq \psi_n \geq \frac{1}{2|\rho|^n}$ for n satisfying that $\operatorname{Arg} u^n \in \Theta \subset \Theta_n$,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\kappa_{\rho}(n) \log (1-u^{n})| \ge \sum_{n \in N_{\rho}} |\kappa_{\rho}(n)| |\log (1-u^{n})| > \sum_{n \in N_{\rho}} \frac{|\rho|^{n}}{2n} |\operatorname{Arg}(1-u^{n})| \\ \ge \sum_{n \in N_{\rho} \cap N} \frac{|\rho|^{n}}{2n} |\operatorname{Arg}(1-u^{n})| \ge \sum_{n \in N_{\rho} \cap N} \frac{|\rho|^{n}}{2n} \frac{1}{2|\rho|^{n}} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{n \in N_{\rho} \cap N} \frac{1}{n}$$

where $N := \{n \in \mathbb{N} \mid \operatorname{Arg} u^n \in \Theta\}$. Therefore, it is sufficient to prove that the natural density of N is positive.

Put $\theta := \frac{\operatorname{Arg} u}{2\pi}$ and $\mathbb{T} := \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$. Let $\iota : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{T}$ be the natural isomorphism defined by $\iota(x) := x \mod \mathbb{Z}$ and $R_{\theta} : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$ be the map satisfying that $R_{\theta}(x) = \iota(x + \theta)$. Put $\overline{\Theta} := \iota\left(\left[\frac{1}{6}, \frac{1}{4}\right]\right)$. Then, we have the equality $N = \{n \in \mathbb{N} \mid R_{\theta}^n(0) \in \overline{\Theta}\}$. Since $\theta \notin \mathbb{Q}$, the continuous function R_{θ} on \mathbb{T} is uniquely ergodic [IIS, Example 1.3 and Example 4.11]. Since $\overline{\Theta}$ is an interval in \mathbb{T} , for any $x \in \mathbb{T}$

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \frac{1}{M} \# \{ n \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cap [0, M) \mid R^n_{\theta}(x) \in \overline{\Theta} \} = m_{\mathbb{T}}(\overline{\Theta}) = \frac{1}{12},$$

where $m_{\mathbb{T}}$ is a Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{T} [II3, Example 4.18 and Lemma 4.17] (also see Einsiedler and Ward [II3, Example 1.3]). Substituting x = 0 gives the inequality

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \frac{\#(N \cap [1, M])}{M} = \lim_{M \to \infty} \frac{1}{M} \#\{n \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cap [0, M) \mid R_\theta^n(0) \in \overline{\Theta}_\infty\} = \frac{1}{12} > 0.$$

Thus, the natural density of N is positive.

B.2 Another version of Theorem 4.4.12

While the conditions in Theorem 4412 are so complicated, the conditions in the following similar theorem are simpler. Note that, however, Theorem B.2.1 cannot treat the counting function of an absolute Riemann surface, since it violates the second condition.

Theorem B.2.1. Let Φ be a nonempty finite subset of \mathbb{C} and put $d(\Phi) := \max_{\rho \in \Phi} |\rho|$. Set $\lambda = \lambda_{\Phi} := \max \{ d(\Phi), 1 \}$ and

$$f_{\Phi}(t) := \sum_{\rho \in \Phi} c_{\rho} t^{\rho} \in \mathcal{A}_{d(\Phi)} \quad (c_{\rho} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}).$$

Put $\Phi_{\max} := \{\rho \in \Phi \mid |\rho| = \lambda\} =: \{\rho_1, \dots, \rho_l\}$ and $\theta_k := \frac{\operatorname{Arg} \rho_k}{2\pi}$. Assume the following technical conditions:

(1) It holds that

$$\sum_{\rho \in \Phi_{\max}} c_{\rho} \neq 0,$$

(2) $1, \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_l$ are linearly independent over \mathbb{Q} .

Then, the region of absolute convergence of $S_{f_{\Phi}}(s)$ is $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid |s| > \lambda_{\Phi}\}$.

Proof. We use the same notations in Section 1.4. By Theorem 1.4.6, the series $S_{f_{\Phi}}(s)$ converges absolutely for $|s| > \lambda$. Now, we show that $S_{f_{\Phi}}(s)$ does not converge absolutely for $|s| \leq \lambda$. If $\lambda = 1$, that is, $|\rho| \leq 1$ for each $\rho \in \Phi$, then the series $\log(1 - s^{-n})$ does not converge absolutely for $|s| \leq \lambda = 1$. Thus, we may assume that $\lambda > 1$. It holds that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left| M_n(f) \log \left(1 - s^{-n} \right) \right| = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{\rho \in \Phi} c_\rho \frac{\kappa_\rho(n)}{\kappa_\lambda(n)} \right| \left| \kappa_\lambda(n) \log \left(1 - s^{-n} \right) \right|$$

Put $M := \frac{1}{2} \left| \sum_{\rho \in \Phi_{\max}} c_{\rho} \right|$ and fix $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{2}$ satisfying that

$$\varepsilon < \frac{2M}{4\#\Phi_{\max}\max|c_{\rho}| + M}$$

By the assumption, it holds that M > 0. Set

$$N_{\varepsilon} := \left\{ n \in \mathbb{N} \mid \forall \rho \in \Phi_{\max}, \ \left| e^{\sqrt{-\ln \arg \rho}} - 1 \right| < \varepsilon \right\},$$
$$N_{\lambda} := \left\{ n \in \mathbb{N} \mid (\log \lambda)^{-1} \log \frac{2}{\varepsilon(\lambda - 1)} < n - \left\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \right\rfloor - 1 \right\}.$$

Since

$$\kappa_{\rho}(n) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \lambda^{m} e^{\sqrt{-1}m \arg \rho} = \kappa_{\lambda}(n) + \frac{1}{n} \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \lambda^{m} \left(e^{\sqrt{-1}m \arg \rho} - 1\right),$$

putting $R_n := \sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \lambda^m \left(e^{\sqrt{-1}m \arg \rho} - 1\right)$, we have

$$\left|\sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}} c_{\rho} \frac{\kappa_{\rho}(n)}{\kappa_{\lambda}(n)}\right| = \left|\sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}} c_{\rho} + \sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}} \frac{c_{\rho}R_{n}}{n\kappa_{\lambda}(n)}\right| \ge \left|\left|\sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}} c_{\rho}\right| - \left|\sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}} \frac{c_{\rho}R_{n}}{n\kappa_{\lambda}(n)}\right|\right|$$

Then, it holds that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|R_n|}{\lambda^n} &\leq \frac{1}{\lambda^n} \sum_{m|n} \lambda^m \left| e^{\sqrt{-1}m \arg \rho} - 1 \right| = \left| e^{\sqrt{-1}n \arg \rho} - 1 \right| + \frac{1}{\lambda^n} \sum_{n \neq m|n} \lambda^m \left| e^{\sqrt{-1}m \arg \rho} - 1 \right| \\ &< \varepsilon + \frac{2}{\lambda^n} \sum_{m=1}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor} \lambda^m = \varepsilon + \frac{2\left(\lambda^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + 1} - \lambda\right)}{\lambda^n (\lambda - 1)} = \varepsilon + \frac{2}{\lambda^{n - \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor - 1} (\lambda - 1)} \end{aligned}$$

for each $n \in N_{\varepsilon}$. Moreover, since

$$\frac{2}{\lambda^{n-\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor -1}(\lambda-1)} < \varepsilon$$

for $n \in N_{\lambda}$, we have $|R_n| < 2\varepsilon \lambda^n$ for each $n \in N_{\varepsilon} \cap N_{\lambda}$. Since

$$n\kappa_{\lambda}(n) > \lambda^n - \frac{\lambda^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor} + 1}{\lambda - 1} > \left(1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right)\lambda^n$$

for any $n \in N_{\lambda}$, it holds that

$$\left|\sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}}\frac{c_{\rho}R_{n}}{n\kappa_{\lambda}(n)}\right| \leq \sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}}\left|\frac{c_{\rho}R_{n}}{n\kappa_{\lambda}(n)}\right| < \sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}}\frac{2\varepsilon\lambda^{n}|c_{\rho}|}{\left(1-\frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right)\lambda^{n}} = \sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}}\frac{4\varepsilon|c_{\rho}|}{2-\varepsilon}$$
$$< \sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}}\frac{M|c_{\rho}|}{\#\Phi_{\max}\max|c_{\rho}|} = \frac{M}{\#\Phi_{\max}}\sum_{\rho\in\Phi_{\max}}\frac{|c_{\rho}|}{\max|c_{\rho}|} \leq M$$

for each $n \in N_{\varepsilon} \cap N_{\lambda}$. Therefore, the desired inequality

$$\left|\sum_{\rho \in \Phi_{\max}} c_{\rho} \frac{\kappa_{\rho}(n)}{\kappa_{\lambda}(n)}\right| \ge \left|\sum_{\rho \in \Phi_{\max}} c_{\rho}\right| - \left|\sum_{\rho \in \Phi_{\max}} \frac{c_{\rho} R_{n}}{n \kappa_{\lambda}(n)}\right| \ge 2M - M = M$$

follows for any $n \in N_{\varepsilon} \cap N_{\lambda}$.

Since

$$\frac{1}{\lambda^n} \left| \sum_{n \neq m \mid n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \lambda^m \right| \le \frac{1}{\lambda^n} \cdot \frac{\lambda^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + 1} - 1}{\lambda - 1} < \frac{1}{\lambda^{n - \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor - 1} (\lambda - 1)} < \frac{1}{\lambda - 1},$$

it holds that

$$\left| \frac{\kappa_{\rho}(n)}{\kappa_{\lambda}(n)} \right| = \left| \frac{\sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \rho^{m}}{\sum_{m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \lambda^{m}} \right| \le \frac{\frac{1}{\lambda^{n}} \sum_{m|n} |\rho|^{m}}{\left| 1 + \frac{1}{\lambda^{n}} \sum_{n \neq m|n} \mu\left(\frac{n}{m}\right) \lambda^{m} \right|}$$
$$\le \frac{\frac{|\rho|}{|\rho| - 1} \left(\frac{|\rho|}{\lambda}\right)^{n}}{1 - \frac{1}{\lambda - 1}} \longrightarrow 0 \quad (n \to \infty)$$

for $\rho \in \Phi \setminus \Phi_{\max}$. Hence, for each $\rho \in \Phi \setminus \Phi_{\max}$, there exists $n_{\rho} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that,

$$\left|\frac{\kappa_{\rho}(n)}{\kappa_{\lambda}(n)}\right| < \frac{M}{\#\Phi|c_{\rho}|}$$

for each $n \ge n_{\rho}$. For any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, if $n \ge \max\{n_{\rho} \mid \rho \in \Phi \setminus \Phi_{\max}\}$, then it holds that

$$\left|\sum_{\rho\in\Phi\setminus\Phi_{\max}}c_{\rho}\frac{\kappa_{\rho}(n)}{\kappa_{\lambda}(n)}\right| \leq \sum_{\rho\in\Phi\setminus\Phi_{\max}}|c_{\rho}|\left|\frac{\kappa_{\rho}(n)}{\kappa_{\lambda}(n)}\right| < \sum_{\rho\in\Phi\setminus\Phi_{\max}}\frac{M}{\#\Phi} = \frac{(\#\Phi - \#\Phi_{\max})M}{\#\Phi}.$$

Therefore, by putting $N := \{ n \in N_{\varepsilon} \cap N_{\lambda} \mid n \ge \max\{n_{\rho} \mid \rho \in \Phi \setminus \Phi_{\max} \} \}$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \sum_{\rho \in \Phi} c_{\rho} \frac{\kappa_{\rho}(n)}{\kappa_{\lambda}(n)} \right| &= \left| \sum_{\rho \in \Phi_{\max}} c_{\rho} \frac{\kappa_{\rho}(n)}{\kappa_{\lambda}(n)} + \sum_{\rho \in \Phi \setminus \Phi_{\max}} c_{\rho} \frac{\kappa_{\rho}(n)}{\kappa_{\lambda}(n)} \right| \\ &\geq \left| \sum_{\rho \in \Phi_{\max}} c_{\rho} \frac{\kappa_{\rho}(n)}{\kappa_{\lambda}(n)} \right| - \left| \sum_{\rho \in \Phi \setminus \Phi_{\max}} c_{\rho} \frac{\kappa_{\rho}(n)}{\kappa_{\lambda}(n)} \right| \\ &> M - \frac{(\#\Phi - \#\Phi_{\max})M}{\#\Phi} = \frac{\#\Phi_{\max}}{\#\Phi}M \end{aligned}$$

for any $n \in N$. Therefore, it holds that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left| M_n(f) \log \left(1 - s^{-n} \right) \right| > \frac{\# \Phi_{\max}}{\# \Phi} M \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \left| \kappa_\lambda(n) \log \left(1 - s^{-n} \right) \right|.$$

Set $\delta = \frac{\varepsilon}{2\pi}$ and $g = (\theta_1, \dots, \theta_l)$. Let V_{δ} and $N_{V_{\delta}}^g(x)$ be the sets in Lemma 4.4.18. Then, we have $N_{V_{\delta}}^g(0) \subset N_{\varepsilon}$. Indeed, if $n \in N_{V_{\delta}}^g(0)$, then it holds that

$$\sum_{\rho \in \Phi_{\max}} \left(\frac{\operatorname{Arg} \rho^n}{2\pi} \right)^2 < \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{2\pi} \right)^2$$

by taking the arguments of any $\rho \in \Phi_{\max}$ in $-\pi < \operatorname{Arg} \rho \leq \pi$. Then, since we have $|\operatorname{Arg} \rho^n| < \varepsilon$ for each $\rho \in \Phi_{\max}$, it holds that

$$\left|e^{\sqrt{-1}n\operatorname{Arg}\rho}-1\right|<\sqrt{2-2\cos\varepsilon}<\varepsilon$$

for any $\rho \in \Phi_{\max}$. Thus, if $n \in N_{V_{\delta}}^{g}(0)$, then $n \in N_{\varepsilon}$.

Since the natural density of $N_{V_{\delta}}^{g}(0) \subset N_{\varepsilon}$ is positive by Lemma 4418, the natural density of $N' := N_{V_{\delta}}^{g}(0) \cap N$ is positive. By Lemma 44.5, the series $\sum_{n \in N'} |\kappa_{\lambda}(n) \log (1 - s^{-n})|$ diverges for $|s| \leq \lambda$. Therefore, the series $S_{f_{\Phi}}(s)$ does not converges absolutely for $|s| \leq \lambda$.

Acknowledgement

Firstly, the author would like to express his sincere gratitude to his supervisor, Professor Kenichi Bannai, for his constant support, encouragement, and invaluable advice throughout his research. The author also wishes to thank Professors Takeshi Katsura, Masato Kurihara, and Taka-aki Tanaka for carefully reviewing the manuscript of this thesis and providing many helpful comments.

Moreover, the author appreciates all members of the Bannai Laboratory, both past and present. In particular, he would like to thank Emiko Minato and Maki Morimoto for providing a great environment for research, and Professor Shuji Yamamoto, Professor Kei Hagihara, Professor Tatsuya Oshita, Kazuki Yamada, Hohto Bekki, Yoshinori Kanamura, and Shun Ishii for their helpful discussions. The author is very grateful to Yoshinosuke Hirakawa for having been interested in his research and having a series of meaningful discussions, which led to the results contained in this thesis.

Lastly, the author is deeply grateful to his family for their constant support, both practical and emotional, which has enabled him to focus on and carry on his research.

This research was supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Numbers JP21K13779, JP22J10658, and JP22KJ2684.

Bibliography

- T. M. Apostol, Introduction to analytic number theory, Undergraduate texts in mathematics, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1976.
- [2] S.-J. Bang, J. E. Dawson, A. N. 't Woord, O. P. Lossers, and V. Hernandez, Problems and Solutions: Solutions: A Reciprocal Summation Identity: 10490, Amer. Math. Monthly 106 (1999), no. 6, 588–590.
- [3] T. Barnet-Lamb, D. Geraghty, M. Harris, and R. Taylor, A family of Calabi-Yau varieties and potential automorphy II, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 47 (2011), no. 1, 29–98.
- [4] H. Bass, The Ihara-Selberg zeta function of a tree lattice, Internat. J. Math. 3 (1992), no. 6, 717-797.
- [5] K. N. Boyadzhiev, *Polyexponentials*, arXiv:0710.1332 [math.NA] (2007).
- [6] F. Charles, Exceptional isogenies between reductions of pairs of elliptic curves, Duke Math. J. 167 (2018), no. 11, 2039–2072.
- [7] L. Clozel, M. Harris, and R. Taylor, Automorphy for some l-adic lifts of automorphic mod l Galois representations, Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 108 (2008), 1–181.
- [8] A. Connes and C. Consani, Schemes over \mathbb{F}_1 and zeta functions, Compos. Math. 146 (2010), no. 6, 1383–1415.
- [9] _____, Characteristic 1, entropy and the absolute point, Noncommutative geometry, arithmetic, and related topics, 2011, pp. 75–139.
- [10] C. David, A. Gafni, A. Malik, N. Prabhu, and C. Turnage-Butterbaugh, Extremal primes for elliptic curves without complex multiplication, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 148 (2020), no. 3, 929–943.
- [11] A. Deitmar, Schemes over F₁, Number fields and function fields—two parallel worlds, 2005, pp. 87–100.
- [12] _____, Remarks on zeta functions and K-theory over \mathbf{F}_1 , Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci. 82 (2006), no. 8, 141–146.
- [13] _____, F₁-schemes and toric varieties, Beiträge Algebra Geom. 49 (2008), no. 2, 517–525.
- [14] A. Deitmar, S. Koyama, and N. Kurokawa, Counting and zeta functions over F₁, Abh. Math. Semin. Univ. Hambg. 85 (2015), no. 1, 59–71.
- [15] P. Deligne, La conjecture de Weil. I, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 43 (1974), 273–307.
- [16] C. Deninger, On the Γ -factors attached to motives, Invent. Math. 104 (1991), no. 2, 245–261.
- [17] _____, Local L-factors of motives and regularized determinants, Invent. Math. 107 (1992), no. 1, 135–150.

- [18] M. Einsiedler and T. Ward, Ergodic theory with a view towards number theory, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 259, Springer-Verlag London, 2011.
- [19] N. D. Elkies, The existence of infinitely many supersingular primes for every elliptic curve over Q, Invent. Math. 89 (1987), no. 3, 561–567.
- [20] _____, Supersingular primes for elliptic curves over real number fields, Compositio Math. 72 (1989), no. 2, 165–172.
- [21] G. H. Hardy, On the Zeroes of Certain Classes of Integral Taylor Series. Part II.—On The Integral Function ∑[∞]_{n=0} xⁿ/(n+a)^sn! and Other Similar Functions, Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society s2-2 (1905), no. 1, 401-431, available at https://londmathsoc. onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1112/plms/s2-2.1.401.
- [22] R. Hartshorne, Algebraic Geometry, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 52, Springer, New York, 1977.
- [23] Y. Hirakawa and T. Tomita, Absolute zeta functions and ceiling and floor Puiseux polynomials, To appear in Int. J. Number Theory (2024).
- [24] M. E. Hoffman, Quasi-symmetric functions and mod p multiple harmonic sums, Kyushu Journal of Mathematics 69 (2015), no. 2, 345–366.
- [25] K. James and P. Pollack, Extremal primes for elliptic curves with complex multiplication, J. Number Theory 172 (2017), 383–391.
- [26] K. James, B. Tran, M.-T. Trinh, P. Wertheimer, and D. Zantout, *Extremal primes for elliptic curves*, J. Number Theory 164 (2016), 282–298.
- [27] N. Kurokawa, Multiple Zeta Functions: An Example, Adv. Stud. Pure Math. 21 (1992), 219– 226.
- [28] _____, Zeta functions over \mathbf{F}_1 , Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci. **81** (2005), no. 10, 180–184.
- [29] _____, Zettai Sugaku Genron (Elements of Absolute Mathematics), Gendai Sugakusha, 2016 (Japanese).
- [30] _____, Zettai Zeta Kansu-ron (Theory of Absolute Zeta Functions), Iwanami Shoten, 2016 (Japanese).
- [31] _____, Zeta Shinka-ron (Evolution Theory of Zeta), Gendai Sugakusha, 2021 (Japanese).
- [32] N. Kurokawa and S. Koyama, Taju Sankaku Kansu-ron Kougi (Lectures on Multiple Sine Functions), First edition, Nippon Hyoron Sha, 2010 (Japanese).
- [33] _____, Zettai Sugaku (Absolute Mathematics), Nippon Hyoron Sha, 2010 (Japanese).
- [34] N. Kurokawa and H. Ochiai, Dualities for absolute zeta functions and multiple gamma functions, Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci. 89 (2013), no. 7, 75–79.
- [35] N. Kurokawa, H. Ochiai, and M. Wakayama, Absolute derivations and zeta functions, Doc. Math. Extra Vol.: Kazuya Kato's fiftieth birthday (2003), 565–584.
- [36] Y. Manin, Lectures on zeta functions and motives (according to Deninger and Kurokawa), Astérisque 228 (1995), 121–163.
- [37] N. Metropolis and G.-C. Rota, *The cyclotomic identity*, Combinatorics and algebra (Boulder, Colo., 1983), 1984, pp. 19–27.
- [38] C. Moreau, Sur les permutations circulaires distinctes, Nouv. Ann. Math. 2e série, 11 (1872), 309–314.

- [39] J. L. Peña and O. Lorscheid, Mapping \mathbb{F}_1 -land: An overview of geometries over the field with one element, Noncommutative geometry, arithmetic, and related topics, 2011, pp. 241–265.
- [40] B. Poonen, Rational points on varieties, Graduate studies in mathematics, vol. 186, American Mathematical Society, 2017.
- [41] M. Rubinstein and P. Sarnak, Chebyshev's bias, Experiment. Math. 3 (1994), no. 3, 173–197.
- [42] J.-P. Serre, A Course in Arithmetic, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 7, Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1973.
- [43] _____, Lectures on $N_X(p)$, Chapman & Hall/CRC Res. Notes Math., vol. 11, CRC Press, Boca Raton, Fla, 2012.
- [44] J. H. Silverman, The Arithmetic of Elliptic Curves, 2nd ed., Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 106, Springer, Dordrecht, 2009.
- [45] N. J. A. Sloane and S. Plouffe, The encyclopedia of Integer Sequences, Academic Press, San Diego, 1995.
- [46] C. Soulé, Les Variétés sur le Corps à un Élément, Mosc. Math. J. 4 (2004), no. 1, 217–244.
- [47] A. Terras, Zeta functions of graphs: a stroll through the garden, Cambridge studies in advanced mathematics, vol. 128, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2011.
- [48] J. Tits, Sur les analogues algébriques des groupes semi-simples complexes, Colloque d'algèbre supérieure, tenu à Bruxelles du 19 au 22 décembre 1956, 1957, pp. 261–289.
- [49] T. Tomita, The absolute Euler product representation of the absolute zeta function for a torsion free Noetherian \mathbb{F}_1 -scheme, J. Number Theory **238** (2022), 197–220.
- [50] H. von Koch, Sur la distribution des nombres premiers, Acta Math. 24 (1901), no. 1, 159–182.